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I	write	to	report	on	the	Cape	Peninsula	University	of	Technology	(CPUT)	financial	
results	for	the	fiscal	year	2014.	

2014 commenced with a new Vice-Chancellor at the helm.  Dr Prinsloo Azwithevhelwi 
Nevhutalu took over as Vice-Chancellor effective from the 1 January 2014, as Prof Vuyisa 
Mazwi-Tanga retired on the 31 December 2013.  The year was marked by a number of 
important interventions in an effort of making sure that our university is properly governed 
in line with governance best practice.  Pursuant to that desire, we completed a number of 
forensic investigations giving those who are alleged to have conducted themselves with 
impropriety an opportunity to clear their names through an independent and fair process.  All 
these processes are at the stage of finalisation and a report will be considered by council 
through the office of the Vice-Chancellor.

In November 2014, Council elected new members to serve for a term of four years.  
The details of the members constituting council are detailed in the Registrar’s report. These 
elections included the election of the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson.  Mr Mbulelo 
Bikwani was re-elected as the Chairperson with Mrs Ruth Benjamin-Swales as the Deputy 
Chairperson.  

The financial report is pointing to a continuous positive and sustainable direction 
and during the past four years (2011–2014) the university undertook a focused review 
of its budgeting process, operational CAPEX and cash flow requirements.  This process 
continuously produced sterling results with an overall surplus of R161 million for the fiscal 
year 2014. However, there is still room for improvement around certain systems and controls. 
These improvements are a matter of urgency, if we want to effectively account for our 
finances. This result is against a resolve and determination to generate a surplus of at least 
R50m year on year on recurrent operations in order for the institution to be able to take care 
of its operational and other needs.

Other areas of improvement include an increase in state appropriations, subsidies and 
grants, tuition fees, private gifts and grants, and a decrease in net loss as far as student 
residences are concerned.  The decrease in the net loss in student residences comes as a 
result of the implementation of the Residences turnaround strategy.

It is also fitting to report that the university is in a process of attending to the state of its 
properties, particularly residences. Council has set aside in excess of R50 million during 2014 
and 2015 to renovate and fix student residences.  These residences must be to a standard 
that will make all of us proud and ensure that the student has a memorable experience at their 
alma mater, giving the term its true meaning of a ‘nurturing mother’.  Furthermore, the Council 
took a decision to strengthen investment on student experience and has finally acquired the 
Cape Suites Hotel as part of the student accommodation portfolio.  

The objective of working towards a student-centered institution is still an exciting and 
compelling vision.  To that end, Council confirmed its 2012 decision that only students who 
attained a 65% pass mark will be eligible to be elected to the Student Representative Council 
(SRC).  We have seen the quality of student leadership since the implementation of this 
resolution and believe it is time to review and increase the pass mark to 70%.  This is meant 
to ensure that CPUT produces student leaders who are academically achieving and move on 
to become outstanding leaders in society.

Student support is still a pressure point that requires strategic intervention to prevent 
student unrest.  This will require the university leadership to be intentional in its engagement 
with student leadership on matters of mutual interest. Management and the institution’s 

REPORT FROM THE CHAIRPERSON OF COUNCIL

This report summarises 
the activities of the various 
faculties/departments and 
provides an overview of the 
financial results for fiscal year 
2014.

Let us look at the key strategic
areas:

1. Teaching and Learning, 
refer to the Senate Report 
on pages 34 to 45

2. Research Excellence, refer 
to the Senate Report on 
pages 34 to 45

3. Fiscal Discipline, refer 
to the Annual Financial 
Review on pages 48 to 51

4. Responsiveness and 
Community Engagement, 
refer to the Senate Report 
on pages 34 to 45

5. Institutional Development, 
refer to the Performance 
Assessment Report on 
pages 11 to 13 and the 
Senate Report on pages 

 34 to 45
6. Marketing and 

Advancement 
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stakeholders are committed to act in the best interests of the university and ensure that those 
individuals who put self-interest above that of the university’s are isolated.

We thank all stakeholders, students, unions, staff, Senate, Institutional Forum and 
Convocation. SIYABULELA, DANKIE, THANK YOU for the responsible manner in which you 
contributed to the future of the university.  Council is confident that these relationships will 
be strengthened with time under the leadership and management of the Vice-Chancellor, 
Dr Nevhutalu.  It is in the insitution’s best interest to make sure that these relationships take 
priority and are nurtured.    

In conclusion, we’d like to acknowledge and credit the contribution of the Council 
whose term has come to an end on 31 August.  Their hard work has produced a university 
leadership that was tested and tried, and a university that is built to last. These councilors 
prioritised the university interests in all circumstances. I also want to pass my gratitude to 
the Deputy Chairperson, Mr Sipho Mbatha, who was always there to support the university’s 
journey to GREATNESS.  

The new Council has equally taken over the leadership of the journey towards greatness.  
The manner in which they have carried out their responsibilities in the few meetings we have 
had, is an indication of the new fearless leadership the university has gained.     

It would be remiss of us not to extend Council’s appreciation to Dr Nevhutalu for his 
unwavering commitment to getting things done.  He came during CPUT’s busiest period, in 
terms of university activities, and took over where Prof Mazwi-Tanga left off.  The singleness of 
purpose is encouraging and has Council’s support.

The Registrar, as Secretary to Council, and his team played a significant role in 
reconstituting the Council, assisting with induction and navigating the onboarding of the new 
Council members. We would like to extend our appreciation to them.    

It is always a pleasure to submit this report. We thank you. 

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council

The financial report is pointing to a continuous 
positive and sustainable direction and during the 
past four years the university undertook a focused 
review of its budgeting process, operational CAPEX 
and cash flow requirements.  
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2014 MEETING DATES FOR COUNCIL AND COUNCIL COMMITTEES

COMMITTEES TIME Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

COUNCIL BREAKAWAY 9:00 31 1 20 5 28

ADVANCEmENT, mARKETING 
AND COmmUNICATIONS 12:00 7 25 1 3

HUmAN RESOURCES 14:00 7 25 1 3 3

PHYSICAL PLANNING 11:00 14 9 8 10

FINANCE 14:00 14 9 8 10 7

mEmBERSHIP 9:00 14 9 15 10

AUDIT AND RISK OVERSIGHT 14:00 30 21 16 15 17

REmUNERATION 12:00 30 7

JOINT AUDIT AND FINANCE 14:00 6

EXECUTIVE COmmITTEE 14:00 7 30 29 7

COUNCIL 9:00 29 21 30 6 29
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LIST OF COUNCIL MEMBERS INCLUDING MEETING ATTENDANCE
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Council member Council Committees EXCO members

mr m Bikwani Ex-officio Council Chairperson 2 2 2 2 3

mr S mbatha Dispute Management and Resolution/ 
Membership/ Audit and  Risk Oversight, 
Physical Planning

Council Deputy Chairperson 2 2 1 1 3 2 3 1 1 3

ms F Allie Advancement, Marketing &
Communications/ HR/ Membership

Chairperson: AmC 2 2 1 1 2 2 2 2

mr C Dugmore Physical Planning/ Membership Chairperson: Physical Planning 1 2 1 0 0 1 0

mr G Ferry Audit and Risk Oversight/ Membership Chairperson: AROC 1 2 2 2 3 3 1 1 2

ms N Hlophe Remuneration/ Human Resources/ 
Membership

Chairperson: Remuneration 2 2 2 2 0 2 2

mr m magida Human Resources/ Remuneration Chairperson: HR 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 1

ms SmB Nyakale Finance/ Remuneration Chairperson: Finance 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 0 0

ms R Benjamin-
Swales

Finance/ Audit and Risk Oversight 2 1 2 2 1 1

Prof J Cronjé Advancement, Marketing and 
Communications

1 1 1 2

ms N 
Dhevcharran

Audit and Risk Oversight 2 1 1 2 1

mr Z Fihlani Finance 2 1 0 2

Prof D Gihwala 2 0 1

Dr G Kruss Senate 0 0 2

Adv N Leach Physical Planning 0 2 1 1

Cllr X Limberg Student Services Council 2 2 2 2

mr m Lumka Audit and Risk oversight / AMC 2 2 2 3 1 1

mr A madella Human Resources 0 0 1 2

ms A Pinn Human Resources 1 2 2

mr L manise Finance 2 2 2 2 1

mr m mbatha Finance/ Physical Planning SRC 2 2 2 2 2 1 1

ms N mhlakaza Membership 1 2 1 0

mr R mulder Physical Planning/ Advancement, 
Marketing and Communications

2 2 1 2 1

mr T mudaly Finance 0 0 0 2 0 1

mr Z mvalo Human Resources 1 0 0 2

Dr P Nevhutalu Ex-officio for all committees except AROC 
and Remuneration

Vice-Chancellor 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1

Dr NS Nhlapo Advancement, Marketing and 
Communications

2 2 2 2

ms J Nhlapo Remuneration 2 0 2 2

mr mB Ngqentsu Institutional Forum, Human Resources 1 2 2 2

mr C Roos Membership 2 2 2

Prof A Staak 2 2 2

mr P Tshielande Human Resources SRC 1 2 2 1

Adv S Van Wyk Human Resources 1 0 0 1
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Council member Council Committees EXCO members

mr m Bikwani Ex-officio Council Chairperson 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1

ms R Benjamin-
Swales

Audit and Risk Oversight/
Membership/ Search and Selection for 
Senior Appointments

Council Deputy 
Chairperson/
Chairperson: Audit 
and Risk Oversight

1 1 1 1 1 1 1

mr C Blair Remuneration Chairperson: 
Remuneration

1 1 1 0 0 1

mr K Patel Finance Chairperson: Finance 1 1 0 0 1 1 1

mr m magida Human Resources/ Remuneration Chairperson: Human 
Resources

1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1

ms X Limberg Student Services Committee/ Physical 
Planning

Chairperson: Student 
Services Committee

1 1 0 0 0 1 1

ms Gita Goven Physical Planning/ IT Governance Chairperson: Physical 
Planning

1 1 1 0 1 1 1

ms N 
Dhevcharran

IT Governance/ Audit and Risk Oversight Chairperson: IT 
Governance

0 1 0 1 1 1 1

mr C Abner Student Services Committee 1 1 1 1 1

Prof H Ballard Human Resources/ Physical Planning 1 1 1 0 1 1 1

ms U Deglon Human Resources/ Social and Ethics/ 
Honorary Degree Award

1 1 1 0 0 0 0 1

mr Z Fihlani Finance 0 1 0 0 1 1

mr B Hadebe Human Resources/ Physical Planning/
Student Services 

1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1

Dr J Karlsson IT Governance 0 1 0 1 1

mr C Kruger Physical Planning/ Student Services 1 0 1 1 1

Judge T masipa Remuneration/ membership 1 1 1 1 1 0

mr m mbatha Finance/ Search and Selection SRC 1 1 0 1 0

mr T molaolwa Finance/ Honorary Degree 1 1 1 1 1 0 1

Dr A Nevhutalu Ex-officio for all committees except AROC 
and Remuneration

Vice-Chancellor 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1

mr mB Ngqentsu Human Resources 0 1 0 0 1 1

Dr NS Nhlapo Social & Ethics 1 1 0 1 1

ms N Nojozi Finance/ Human Resources/ membership/
IT Governance

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1

Prof S Pather IT Governance 1 1 1 1

ms A Pinn Human Resources 1 1 1 1 1 1

mr C Roos membership/ Remuneration 1 1 0 1 1 1

ms m Sadeck Finance 1 1 1 1 1 0

Prof  A Staak Student Services 1 0 1 1 1

mr P Tshilande Physical Planning SRC 1 1 1 1 1

Prof J Volmink Finance/ Honorary Degree Award 0 1 0 0 1 1 1

Prof C Winberg EXCO / IT Governance 1 1 1 1 1

mr K manavhela Finance SRC 1 1 1

mr  L mhlontlo SRC 1 1
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MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
New Council constituted in terms of Section 18 of the CPUT Statute on 5 September 2014

JANUARY TO DECEMBER  2014

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI MR N NTSABABA

Registrar

ExECUTIvE MANAGEMENT – 3 MEMBERS

Dr P Nevhutalu
Vice-Chancellor

Dr NS Nhlapo
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research, Technology 
Innovation and Partnerships   

Prof AP Staak
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and Learning  

CITY OF CAPE TOWN APPOINTEE

Councillor x Limberg Term expired – August 2014
 Term started – September 2014

DONOR REPRESENTATIvE

Mr M Magida Term expired – August 2014
 Term started – September 2014

PROvINCIAL GOvERNMENT APPOINTEE

Mr C Roos Term expired – August 2014 
 Term started – September 2014

SENATE

Prof D Gihwala Term expired – August 2014
Prof J Cronje Term expired – August 2014
Prof S Pather Term started – September 2014
Prof C Winberg Term started – September 

ExECUTIvE MANAGEMENT IN ATTENDANCE

Mr N Ntsababa
Registrar and Secretary of Council

Prof L Fourie
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Knowledge, Information 
and Technology Services
(appointed 1 July 2014)

Mr vW van der Linde
Executive Director: Finance 
(suspended June 2014)

Dr D Tromp
Acting Executive Director: Finance 
(appointed July 2014)

Ms C Motale
Dean: Student Services 
(on study leave since 1 October 2014)

Adv L Harper
Acting Dean: Student Services
(appointed 1 October 2014)

APPOINTED BY MINISTER

Dr G Kruss  Ministerial Appointment  Term expired – August 2014
Mr M Lumka  Ministerial Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Mr Z Mvalo Ministerial Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms N Mhlakaza Ministerial Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Mr MB Ngqentsu Ministerial Appointment Term expired – August 2014   
  reappointed – September 2014
Prof J volmink Ministerial Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Dr J Karlsson Ministerial Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Ms N Nojozi Ministerial Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Mr C Kruger Ministerial Appointment Appointed – September 2014

COUNCIL APPOINTEES

Mr S Mbatha Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms F Allie Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms J Nhlapo Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms D Nyalunga Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Mr G Ferry Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms N Hlophe Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Mr C Dugmore Community Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Mr A Madella Community Appointment Term expired – August 2014
Ms N Dhevcharran Community Appointment Term expired – August 2014   
  reappointed – September 2014
Mr M Bikwani  Council Appointment  Term expired – August 2014  
  reappointed – September 2014
Mr Z Fihlani Council Appointment Term expired – August 2014  
  reappointed – September 2014
Ms G Goven  Council Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Judge T Masipa Council Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Mr K Patel Council Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Mr C Blair Council Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Ms U Deglon Council Appointment Appointed – September 2014
Ms R Benjamin-Swales Council Appointment Appointed – 1 January 2014

2014ACADEMIC EMPLOYEES

Adv N Leach Term expired – August 2014
Adv S van Wyk Term expired – August 2014
Ms M Sadeck Term started – September 2014
Prof H Ballard Term started – September 2014   
   

NON-ACADEMIC EMPLOYEES

Mr L Manise Term expired – August 2014
Ms A Pinn Term expired – August 2014 
 Term started – September 2014
Mr C Abner Term started – September 2014

SRC

Mr M Mbatha Term expired – October 2014
Mr P Tshilande Term expired – October 2014
Mr K Manavhela Term started – November 2014
Mr L Mhlontlo Term started – November 2014

CONvOCATION

Mr R Mulder Term expired – August 2014
Mr Tv Molaolwa Term started – September 2014
Mr B Hadebe Term started – September 2014
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CPUT began 2014 with a new vice-Chancellor at the helm, a shadow period with 
the outgoing vice-Chancellor, Prof vuyisa Mazwi-Tanga, for the last three months of 
2013.

In December 2013 and January 2014 the management team developed a set of short-
term goals, based on the University’s Vision 2020 strategic plan, to guide the institution. 
These goals are set out in the Short-Term Plan 2014 – 2015. The degree to which we have 
managed to attain the 2014 targets is indicated in the Performance Assessment below. 
The start of the year was marked by student unrest related to financial aid issues, but it was 
successfully contained.

A competent management team was built as a key priority. Council approved a number 
of new positions to address some gaps in the team. Among these was a new Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor post for Knowledge, Information and Technology Services (KITS), to which 
Prof Louis Fourie was appointed in mid-year. His brief was to stabilise the Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) environment and to put CPUT on track to a smarter 
technological future.

A number of administrative challenges were identified and addressed. While administrative 
systems are now working well, there is still room for improvement. 

We identified, after a quick external audit, that CPUT needed to build a new financial 
system. Dr Doeke Tromp, and more recently Mr Marius Scheepers, were brought in as 
consultants. Their efforts will result in a more streamlined and robust system in future.
The issue of student debt is an ongoing problem, which will have to be addressed in the 
interests of sustainability. We will engage with Council on the best way forward.

The strengthening of academic management was a key focus area. Too many issues were 
referred to Senate or Senex for resolution that should have been dealt with at a Department 
or Faculty level. Academic departments were asked to meet monthly to address some of 
the academic issues. From the minutes of these meetings, it is clear that they are beginning 
to function effectively and there is an improvement in the Senate and Senex agendas.

To continue to consolidate the academic leadership, management has submitted a proposal 
to create 100 new Professor posts and 100 Associate Professor posts over the next five 
years. Council supports the proposal in principle, pending submission of a financial model.
The success rate of our students is a concern, as it is for all South African universities. 
A focus on the first-year experience was designed to improve the success rates. A pilot 
project was undertaken in 2014, with full implementation from 2015.

The development of stakeholder engagement at CPUT is in its infancy, but it will begin to 
gain traction from 2015. During 2014, the focus was on the revitalisation of the Alumni 
Association, along with a fund-raising campaign. 

We envisage a targeted approach with local industry, in relation to our core competencies, 
e.g. Clothing and Textiles. The University will engage with businesses locally and nationally 
to leverage programmes and resources that they can provide.

Meetings were held during 2014 with principals of the Western Cape TVET (formerly FET) 
Colleges and with principals of the University’s main feeder schools, to better understand 
their challenges and to find areas of common interest. This initiative will continue in 2015.

VICE-CHANCELLOR’S REPORT ON MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION

A key priority was to build 

a competent management 

team. Council approved a 

number of new positions to 

address some gaps in the 

team. Among these was a new 

Deputy Vice-Chancellor post 

for Knowledge, Information 

and Technology Services 

(KITS), to which Prof Louis 

Fourie was appointed in 

mid-year. His brief was to 

stabilise the Information and 

Communication Technology 

(ICT) environment and to put 

CPUT on track to a smarter 

technological future.
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Our students are our key stakeholders: they spend three to five years of their formative 
life at CPUT under our tutelage. Management considers student life and governance an 
important area for strategic intervention, to ensure a vibrant CPUT student experience. 
Aspects for attention include: student life and governance, sports development, residences, 
recreation, and student services.

Taking this initiative forward will require benchmarking with other institutions and a proper 
understanding of our students. CPUT participated in SASSE (the South African Survey of 
Student Engagement) towards the end of 2014 and management will consider the results of 
the survey during 2015.

CPUT’s staff are another key stakeholder group. During 2014, management undertook a 
Climate and Culture survey to gauge the morale of staff. Participation rates were lower than 
expected, but important messages have emerged. Everyone feels that the University is not 
doing enough, in all respects; it can do better. CPUT is trying to become a great University, 
but it is not there yet.

Efforts will be made to deepen the conversation around culture, to come up with solutions 
that will promote the development of a distinctive CPUT culture.

A performance management system for senior staff (grades 1 – 4) was introduced during 
2014. Reviews concluded that the senior staff have internalised performance management 
as a management tool. The system will be rolled out to grades 5 – 18 during 2015, with 
appropriate resourcing and training.

The management of risk is being more widely accepted within the University. The 
previous risk register was reviewed during 2014 and a new register was developed, 
taking into account the changing context and new emerging risks. Risk management 
is now a responsibility of line management, with each Deputy vice-Chancellor, Dean, 
and Head of Department expected to develop their own risk register.

DR P NEVHUTALU
Vice-Chancellor

Our students are our key 

stakeholders: they spend 

three to five years of their 

formative life at CPUT under 

our tutelage. Management 

considers student life and 

governance an important area 

for strategic intervention, 

to ensure a vibrant CPUT 

student experience. Aspects 

for attention include: student 

life and governance, sports 

development, residences, 

recreation, and student 

services.
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The DHET’s Implementation Manual for Reporting by Public Higher Education 
Institutions notes that the University’s performance assessment report should refer 
to “the key performance indicators and targets as stated in the Annual Performance 
Plan” (Government Gazette, No 37726, 9 June 2014). However, as the first Annual 
Performance Plan submitted to DHET was for the 2015 year, this performance 
assessment will review CPUT’s in relation to its Student Enrolment Plan 2014-2019 
and its Short-Term Plan 2014-2015.

CPUT’s student headcount enrolment in 2014 was slightly lower than the previous two 
years, at 33 198. This is 583 students, or 1.9%, lower than the 2014 enrolment target of 
33 781. (The 2014 numbers quoted in this section are derived from unaudited HEMIS data. 
The final figures, to be submitted to DHET by the end of July 2015, may differ slightly.) 

The Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) enrolments are slightly below target, at 24 770. The Degree 
Credit Success Rate (or FTE Pass Rate) has shown a slow upward trend, reaching 78,4% 
against the target of 79%. The number of graduates continued to grow in 2014, reaching 
8 254 and exceeding the target by nearly 700 graduates.

The following table summarises these key numbers for the 2014 year, with the data for the 
previous two years and the 2014 targets set in the Student Enrolment Plan 2014 – 2019:

Towards the end of 2013, the incoming Vice-Chancellor, Dr Prins Nevhutalu, convened a 
strategic planning workshop at which six resolutions were adopted. The resolutions relate 
to improving pass rates and throughput rates through a focus on the first-year experience, 
improving the qualifications of academic staff, increasing research publication units, increasing 
the number of rated researchers, increasing the number of community-based or innovative 
projects, and attending to to environmental sustainability.

These resolutions were incorporated in the University’s Short-Term Plan 2014 – 2015. The 
following tables reflect the success of the Faculties in meeting the academic targets set for 2014.

Degree Credit Success Rate (FTE Pass Rate):

Three of the Faculties: Education, Engineering, Health & Wellness exceeded the target; 
Applied Sciences, Business & Management Sciences, and Informatics & Design fell short.

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT REPORT

CATEGORY ACTUAL TARGET

2012 2013 2014 2014

HEADCOUNTS 33 509 33 477 33 198 33 781

FULL-TImE EQUIVALENTS 24 848 24 903 24 770 24 846

GRADUATES 7 892 8 163 8 254 7 558

DEGREE CREDIT SUCCESS RATE 77.2% 77.8% 78.4% 79.0%

FACULTY ACTUAL TARGET

2012 2013 2014 2014

APPLIED SCIENCES 75.7% 77.7% 76.3% 78.0%

BUSINESS & mANAGEmENT SCIENCES 76.9% 75.7% 76.1% 79.0%

EDUCATION & SOCIAL SCIENCES 85.4% 90.2% 91.1% 90.0%

ENGINEERING 70.4% 70.2% 72.2% 71.0%

HEALTH & WELLNESS SCIENCES 82.1% 86.8% 88.8% 86.5%

INFORmATICS & DESIGN 77.2% 76.3% 75.4% 80.0%

CPUT TOTAL 77.2% 77.8% 78.4% 79.0%
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Throughput Rate

The Throughput Rate continues to show an upward trend, with 35,4% of the cohort of 
students who entered a qualification for the first time in 2011 completing that qualification 
within the minimum time.

Staff Qualifications (Permanent Academic Staff with Doctorates)

The number of permanent academic staff who have a Doctoral degree continues to grow 
steadily, but fell 20 short of the 2014 target, at 155

Staff Qualifications (Permanent Academic Staff with Masters)

The number of permanent academic staff with a Masters degree as their highest 
qualification also grew in 2014 to 372, which is above the target.

FACULTY 2009 Cohort 
Actual

2010 Cohort 
Actual

2011 Cohort 
Provisional

2012 Cohort 
Target

2013 Cohort 
Target

APPLIED SCIENCES 29.9% 31.3% 31.7% 27.5% 28.0%

BUSINESS & mANAGEmENT SCIENCES 37.4% 39.6% 41.7% 42.0% 45.0%

EDUCATION & SOCIAL SCIENCES 43.8% 46.9% 53.5% 45.0% 45.0%

ENGINEERING 18.7% 18.1% 18.9% 18.0% 20.0%

HEALTH & WELLNESS SCIENCES 35.9% 38.8% 38.1% 34.0% 34.5%

INFORmATICS & DESIGN 39.2% 42.0% 38.9% 41.0% 41.5%

CPUT TOTAL 33.4% 34.9% 35.4% 33.5% 34.0%

FACULTY ACTUAL TARGET

2012 2013 2014 2014

APPLIED SCIENCES 37 40 48 50

BUSINESS & mANAGEmENT SCIENCES 13 14 15 20

EDUCATION & SOCIAL SCIENCES 18 21 28 26

ENGINEERING 25 28 31 39

HEALTH & WELLNESS SCIENCES 10 11 14 15

INFORmATICS & DESIGN 14 14 16 18

OTHER 7 3 3 7

CPUT TOTAL 124 131 155 175

FACULTY ACTUAL TARGET

2012 2013 2014 2014

APPLIED SCIENCES 39 39 41 39

BUSINESS & mANAGEmENT SCIENCES 89 94 103 93

EDUCATION & SOCIAL SCIENCES 43 40 48 35

ENGINEERING 88 95 93 97

HEALTH & WELLNESS SCIENCES 20 21 21 21

INFORmATICS & DESIGN 53 56 57 54

OTHER 9 9 9 14

CPUT TOTAL 341 354 372 353
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Research Publication Units

 The research publication units for 2014 have not yet been audited and the above numbers 
(looking specifically at journal articles) are provisional. The number grew by 18% in 2014, to 
124,5. This reflects a healthy recovery from the 2013 year, but is below the 2012 year and 
below the 2014 target.

The performance of the Faculties and the University as a whole is reviewed annually by the 
Institutional Strategic Planning Committee. Detailed data will be provided to the Faculties 
during 2015 to facilitate a review of the 2014 year and to produce a Medium-Term Plan for 
the years 2016 – 2019.

FACULTY ACTUAL TARGET

2012 2013 2014 2014

APPLIED SCIENCES 33.0 20.2 25.0 43

BUSINESS & mANAGEmENT SCIENCES 34.1 14.6 25.8 40

EDUCATION & SOCIAL SCIENCES 7.4 7.7 16.1 12

ENGINEERING 19.0 20.5 23.7 35

HEALTH & WELLNESS SCIENCES 17.0 11.0 12.4 20

INFORmATICS & DESIGN 10.8 9.5 5.5 15

OTHER 25.5 22.1 16.1 25

CPUT TOTAL 146.9 105.6 124.5 190

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI DR P NEVHUTALU

Vice-Chancellor
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Vision
To be at the heart of 

technology education 
and innovation in Africa.

Mission
We will build a 

University that is highly 
efficient, sustainable 
and environmentally 

conscious

We will be known for 
the high quality of its 
teaching and learning 

and the relevance of our 
curriculum

We will strive to create 
a vibrant, enabling and 

well resourced living and 
learning environment for 

its students

We will enhance and 
develop the quality 

and effectiveness of its 
research and knowledge 

production

strategic aiMs
Sustainability and 

Efficiency; Curriculum, 
Teaching and Learning; 

Student Experience; 
and Research and 

Innovation.

Values
Ubuntu, Mutual Respect, 

Equity, Innovation, 
Accountability Excellence

and Efficiency.

1. INTRODUCTION
For governance and operations, CPUT Council and Management are guided by its Vision, 

Mission, Strategic Aims and Shared Values.

2. STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOvERNANCE
The following statement is made to assist readers of the financial statements to gain 

an understanding of the governance procedures applied by the Council of CPUT (“the 
University”):

The University embraces King III Corporate Governance principles and applies the 
principles contained in the Report.  The University is committed to the principles of 
accountability, transparency, responsibility, independence, fairness and social responsibility 
as advocated in the King III Report.  During the period under review, the Council adopted 
the Council Charter and consistently emphasized the application of the Code of Conduct 
for Council and Committee members as well as the Policy on Conflict of Interest for Council 
members.

The application of and compliance with the King III recommendation and principles is 
monitored by the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee of Council.

3. COUNCIL
The year 2014 straddles the terms of office of two Councils.  The terms of office of the 

Council, which was inaugurated in 2010, expired at the end of August 2014 after governing 
the University for a period of four years, as prescribed in the CPUT Statute. Before the expiry 
of its term of office, the Council had initiated a process of nominating new Council members in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of the new CPUT Statute gazetted in May 2010.    

The process of nomination for appointment of new Council members was driven and 
coordinated by the Registrar and managed by the Council Membership Committee specifically 
established for this purpose. Council, at its meeting held on 21 June 2014, endorsed the 
report of the Council Membership Committee on the composition of the new Council.  The 
following were the principles adopted by the Council Membership Committee in constituting 
the new Council:

i. balance continuity and new membership by retaining at least 50% of members who 
served in the previous Council (subject to availability);

ii. ensure that the skills-set of appointed members address the broad spectrum of 
competencies required by Council to properly govern the University;

iii. external members constitute no less than 60% of members;
iv. equity in terms of gender, youth, disability, and race.

The new Council was inaugurated on 5 September 2014 and convened its first meeting 
the following day on 6 September 2014. Mr Mbulelo Bikwani, the Chairperson of the previous 
Council was appointment as interim Chairperson and subsequently re-elected, through a 
democratic process, at the special meeting of the new Council held on 11 October 2014 as 
Chairperson of the new Council for a period of four years. 

Members of Council are from different professional backgrounds, ensuring that CPUT has 
the requisite expertise to run a complex institution efficiently. Council appointed members to 
various Council Committees based on his/ her area of expertise and competencies relative 
to the Terms of Reference of a particular Committee of Council, as well as the balance in 
terms of gender and equity. In areas where there is a deficiency of the requisite skills and 
competencies, Council has, through the Council Membership Committee, appointed external 
people to serve on relevant Committees without being members of Council. The internal 
membership also provides a space for the voices of employees and students to be heard in 
governance. Representivity, the core tenet of democracy, is thus practiced.  
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4.  COUNCIL AND COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL
The Council is guided by the CPUT Statute and applicable national legislation and it is 

directed by the University Strategic Plan (Vision 2020) in its governance function. Under these 
two guiding frameworks, Mr Bikwani, Chairperson of Council, helps the Council to focus on 
its mission through four quarterly ordinary Council meetings supplemented by at least two 
Council breakaways scheduled in June each year for the mid-term performance review and 
consideration of the budget for the following year. The end of the year breakaway is for final 
performance assessment and approval of the performance plan for the following year. To 
ensure that the core business of the University, which is teaching, learning and community 
engagement, is placed at the forefront of the Council agenda, Council invites all the Deans 
of Faculties to attend the Council breakaways in his/ her capacity as key drivers of the core 
business. The Council also invites Deans of Faculties, individually, to make a presentation of 
their faculty plans, achievements and challenges at each of the Council meetings.

 
The Senior Management under the leadership of the Vice-Chancellor, Dr Prins Nevhutalu, 

who was appointed as Vice-Chancellor Designate on 1 October 2013 and subsequently 
officially assumed his duties as Vice-Chancellor on 1 January 2014, oversee the everyday 
running of the University and reports and accounts to the Council on University operations. 
There is a clear separation of roles between the Chairperson of Council and Chief Executive 
Officer, the Vice-Chancellor, which is expressly indicated in the Council Charter as well as in 
the Code of Conduct for Council and members of Council.

As prescribed in the Statute, Council membership consists of 60% external members who 
are neither employees nor students of the University. The rest is made up of academic and 
non-academic representatives, Senate representatives, executive management members and 
student representatives. 

The functions of Council and the governance issues reserved for Council are outlined 
in the CPUT Statute and the Higher Education Act, 1997 (101 of 1997), as amended.  
The Committees of Council supplement the work of Council and enabled better-focused 
engagements on issues.  

The Council meets four times a year, and is advised on various issues by the following 
Committees:

• Executive Committee
• Council Membership Committee
• Audit and Risk Oversight Committee
• Finance Committee 
• Human Resources Committee
• Physical Planning Committee
• Advancement, Marketing and Communication Committee
• Search and Selection Committee for Senior Appointments
• Remuneration Committee.

External members of Council chair all these Council Committee meetings.  In constituting 
the new Committees, the Council ensured that the majority of members who serve on these 
Committees are members who are neither employee nor students of the University.  All the 
committees were fully constituted with terms of reference that are reviewed annually.  The list 
of Council and Council committee meetings, including the composition of each committee, 
length of service of each member as well as their respective attendance at those meetings is 
shown on page 5 of the Report.  
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The information below provide an outline of the roles and responsibilities of each 
Committee of Council:

4.1 The Executive Committee of Council
This Committee of Council consists of the Chairperson of Council, Deputy Chairperson 
of Council, Chairpersons of all Committees of Council and the Vice-Chancellor.  The 
mandate of the Committee is to:
i. Conduct such matters, generally deemed to be of an urgent nature, as is necessary 

between meetings of Council, and conduct such specific matters, and with such 
authority, as is delegated to it by the Council;

ii. Consider and make recommendations on any aspect of standing resolutions of the 
Council and of the Statute and Regulations of the University (existing and new), and 
on such other matters referred to it by the Council or the Vice-Chancellor;

iii. Review and set agendas (annual work plan) for Council meetings and for annual 
Council planning sessions in consultation with executive management;

iv. Propose the Council annual business plan, including setting annual objectives and 
targets in consultation with executive management for submission to Council for 
approval;

v. Identify priority issues consistent with the business plan and Council resolutions;
vi. Receive and review on a quarterly basis progress against agreed institutional 

objectives and targets;
vii. Review with executive management any corporate legal action (other than normal 

operational legal action), any significant litigation, claim or contingency which 
could have a material effect on the going concern of the University, and bring such 
matters to the immediate attention of the Council;

viii. Plan and develop the Vice-Chancellor’s annual contract based on the mutually 
agreed goals approved by the Council in the Vice-Chancellor’s annual objectives 
and the expectations set out in the Vice-Chancellor’s job description;

ix. Review the performance of the Vice-Chancellor on behalf of the Council. The final 
results of the evaluation shall be documented by the Chair and acknowledged by 
the Vice-Chancellor and the Council.

4.2 Physical Planning Committee
This Committee decided on matters relating to the planning and execution of 
infrastructural developments. The Committee considered a number infrastructure 
development projects, including the purchase of the Cape Suites Hotel, adjacent to the 
University, for student accommodation and for a small business venture.

The Committee considered the wider institutional infrastructural development plan 
and the development of a campus master plan.  The Committee submitted firm 
recommendations on improvement of student residences through proper resourcing and 
addressing the backlog in maintenance of infrastructure and buildings. The Committee 
also considered a number of environmentally friendly initiatives by the University, 
particularly by academic departments, such as energy saving initiatives.

4.3 Finance Committee
This Committee recommended for approval the institution’s Annual Budget and further 
monitored the implementation of Capital and Operational Budgets.  It further ensured 
that acceptable accounting systems were adhered to through the design and use of 
appropriate policies.

The second important function of the Committee is to consider the University 
investments portfolio.  The Committee has made it mandatory to receive progress 
reports from the Investment Consulting firm at each of its four scheduled meetings 
per year.  The Committee recommended to Council the reallocation of the short-term, 
medium and long-term buckets to various investment and asset managers.

4.4 Audit and Risk Oversight Committee
The Audit Committee and Risk Oversight Committee is chaired by an independent 
member of Council who is neither an employee nor a student of the University. The 
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Committee has a minimum of five Council members.  Council, through the Council 
Membership Committee, appointed three independent external members with the 
requisite skills, experience and qualifications to serve on the Audit and Risk Oversight 
Committees of Council.  The Committee has the following specific responsibilities:

a)		 Internal	Audit
 The Committee is responsible for overseeing the internal audit, and in particular, the 

Committee must: 
i. Be responsible for the oversight of the appointment, performance assessment 

and/ or dismissal of the internal audit service provider;
ii. Review and approve the annual internal audit plan and audit charter;   
iii. Receive feedback on the outcomes of internal audits that have been performed;
iv. Be informed on the risk management and corporate governance practices as 

assessed by the internal audit; 
v. Ensure that the internal audit service is subject to an independent quality 

assurance review every five years and complies with the Institute of Internal 
Auditors’ International Professional Practices’ Framework;

vi. Ensure that there is a formal process of follow-up of significant findings and that 
Internal Audit reports on non-implementation of agreed management actions or 
delays in implementing remedial actions;

vii. Review and resolve significant differences between management and internal 
audit;

viii. Obtain assurance on the independence of the internal audit service;
ix. Review the internal audit service budget on an annual basis;
x. Recommend the appointment of internal and external auditors to Council and 

subsequently to the Auditor-General’s Office for confirmation of the appointment.

b)	 External	Audit
The Committee is responsible for recommending the appointment of the external
auditor and to oversee the external audit process and in this regard, the Committee
must:
i. Oversee the external auditor for appointment process by management as 

aligned with the practical implementation of the Public Audit Act;
ii. Approve the terms of engagement and remuneration for the external audit 

engagement;
iii. Monitor and report on the independence of the external auditor in the annual 

financial statements;
iv. Define a policy for non-audit services provided by the external auditor;
v. Approve the contracts for non-audit services to be rendered by the external 

auditor;
vi. Ensure that there is a process for the audit committee to be informed of any 

Reportable Irregularities (as identified in the Auditing Profession Act, 2005) 
identified and reported by the external auditor; 

vii. Review the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process.

c)	 Risk	Management	Oversight	and	Internal	Controls
The Committee is an integral component of the risk management process and
specifically the Committee must:
i. Oversee the development and annual review of a policy and plan for risk 

management to recommend for approval to Council;
ii. Monitor implementation of the policy and plan for risk management taking place 

by means of risk management systems and processes;
iii. Make recommendations to Council concerning the levels of tolerance and 

appetite and monitoring that risks are managed within the levels of tolerance and 
appetite as approved by Council;

iv.  Oversee that the risk management plan is widely disseminated throughout the 
University and integrated in the day-to-day activities of CPUT;

v. Ensure that risk management assessments are performed on a continuous 
basis;

vi. Ensure that frameworks and methodologies are implemented to increase the 

Risk Management 
Oversight and Internal 
Controls Committee 
is an integral 
component of the risk 
management process.
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possibility of anticipating unpredictable risks;
vii. Ensure that management considers and implements appropriate risk responses;
viii. Ensure that continuous risk monitoring by management takes place;
ix. Liaise closely with the internal auditors and management to exchange 

information relevant to risk;
x. Express the Committee’s formal opinion to Council on the effectiveness of the 

system and process of risk management;
xi. Review reporting concerning risk management that is to be included in the 

annual report for it being timely, comprehensive and relevant;
xii. Oversee financial reporting risks, internal financial controls, fraud risks as it 

relates to financial reporting and general IT risks; 
xiii. Ensure that a combined assurance model is applied to provide a co-ordinated 

approach to all assurance activities to address all the significant risks facing 
CPUT and to monitor the relationship between the various internal & external 
assurance providers.

d)	 IT	Governance
i. The Committee must ensure that the IT risks are adequately addressed and 

receive appropriate assurance on controls and to consider the impact of IT in 
relation to financial reporting and on significant operational activities; 

ii. The risks that CPUT faces by virtue of its use of IT, as well as the associated 
controls used to mitigate those risks, should be assessed and clearly placed in 
an organisational-wide risk management framework. This framework should be 
periodically reviewed and a discipline of continuous auditing must be considered 
to provide assurance that greater coverage and efficiency will be provided. 

e)	 Fraud	and	Litigation
i. The Committee receives reports on matters of fraud and the results of forensic 

investigations into cases of fraud. It will also consider management’s actions in 
dealing with these cases of fraud and receive assurance from management with 
regard to the compliance with relevant legislation regarding the incidents of fraud 
and actions to recover monies and assets; 

ii. The Committee will also receive feedback on CPUT’s fraud risk profile;
iii. Management will also provide feedback on areas of litigation that pose a risk to 

CPUT in terms of financial impact and/or reputational consequences.

f)	 Compliance	with	Laws	and	Regulations
i. Management will provide AROC with regular updates on CPUT’s compliance 

with laws and regulations; 
ii. Independent assurance will be provided by the internal and external auditors 

based on their annual audit coverage plans.

 The Committee worked closely with the Finance Committee to jointly recommend 
the Financial Statements and the Auditors’ reports.  Its monitoring responsibility 
was mainly executed through the work of Internal and External Auditors made 
up of practitioners from independent and accredited auditing companies.  The 
Internal and External Auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee and 
attend all the meetings of the Committee, which are held at least four times a year.  
Relevant members of management, including the Vice-Chancellor also attend all the 
meetings of the Committee as observers.  The Office of the Auditor-General has a 
representative who also attends the Committee meetings.

 The Committee considered the reports of Internal Auditors as per the approved 
Annual Internal Audit Plan and submitted firm recommendations to Council for 
effectiveness of the University’s internal control and procedures for identification, 
assessment and reporting of risks.

 The Committee was instrumental, together with senior management, in the 
institutional workshop to develop a new Risk Register that would be monitored by 
the Committee and reviewed annually by Executive Management.  
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4.5 Human Resources Committee
This Committee concerned itself with matters relating to staffing and working conditions. 
It monitored and evaluated the implementation of the HR strategy, policies, practices 
and systems that guide institutional employment practices in line with national labour 
relations laws. The HR Committee considered and recommended to Council the 
approval of the Interim HR structure to turn around the performance and service delivery 
of the HR Department in order to realise the strategic aims of the University.
 
The HR Committee considered and recommended to Council the adjustment of salaries 
of certain levels of staff within the University based on the PriceWaterhouse Market 
Analysis as well as harmonisation of salaries across the University. 

4.6 Membership Committee
This Committee was established to deal with all matters relating to the membership of 
Council and its Committees.  It played a critical and important role by giving guidance to 
Council with regard to vacancies on Committees and appointment of external people, 
who are not necessarily members of Council, with the requisite knowledge, skills and 
expertise to serve on the relevant Council Committees in order to adequately and 
sufficiently fulfill their mandate. The Committee monitored the attendance of meetings of 
Council and Council Committees and made recommendations to Council on corrective 
measures to be taken where there are concerns.  The Committee further monitored the 
workload of members and advised Council on means of achieving as far as practicable 
and feasible, an even workload for all Council members.  
 
The Committee was instrumental and played a key role in managing the constitution of 
the new Council and committees of Council, including the determination of the criteria 
for the appointment and the role of the chairperson of Council and implementation of the 
policy on appointment of Council members.

4.7 Advancement, Marketing and Communication Committee 
This Committee was established to deal with matters relating to the alignment of 
Advancement, Marketing and Communication Strategies of the University.  The 
Committee was also mandated by Council to consider the naming of University buildings 
as part of its terms of reference.  The Committee provided advice on communication 
and marketing strategies as well as improvement of the University brand and image. 
 
The Committee was however disbanded by the Council and its functions were 
delegated to the Vice-Chancellor who will report to Council via the Executive Committee 
of Council on such matters.

4.8 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established by Council to:
i. Oversee the setting and administering of remuneration at senior management levels 

in the University;
ii. Oversee the establishment and implementation of a remuneration policy that 

will promote the achievement of institutional strategic objectives and encourage 
individual performance at senior management levels;

iii. Make recommendations to the Council on all senior management remuneration 
levels and annual increments in accordance with institutional affordability;

iv. Review the outcomes of the implementation of the remuneration policy for whether 
the set objectives are being achieved;

The Membership 
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v. Ensure the development and implementation of a performance management system 
for senior management, and to ensure that the principles of this system are applied 
annually.

vi. Consider the results of the evaluation of the performance of the Vice-Chancellor and 
other senior managers in determining remuneration.

vii. Select an appropriate comparative group of higher education institutions when 
comparing remuneration levels for senior management.

viii. Make recommendations to Council on the payment of honoraria and other incidental 
expenses to external members of Council.

ix. Oversee the preparation and recommending to the Council of the remuneration 
report, to be included in the annual report, for whether it:
a) is accurate, complete and transparent; 
b) provides a clear explanation of how the remuneration policy has been 

implemented, including use of appropriate benchmarks; and
c) provides full disclosure of each individual executive managers and external 

Council member’s remuneration.
x. Oversee the annual review of the remuneration policy.
 
The Committee recommended to Council the rolling out of the performance 
management system for senior management levels and determined for Council approval 
the salary packages.  The Committee also dealt with a policy on remuneration of Senior 
Management as well as the harmonisation of conditions of service and benefits.  Both 
matters would be finalised during the next reporting year. 

4.9 Search and selection Committee for Senior Appointments
The Committee was established to deal with appointments of Senior Management, 
which is the function of Council.  Council reconfigured the composition of the Committee 
to ensure inclusivity and representativity.  It is comprised of the Chairperson of Council, 
Deputy Chairperson of Council, Chairperson of the HR Committee, two external 
members of Council, one representative from Senate, one representative from the 
Institutional Forum, one representative from the SRC, the Vice-Chancellor and two 
members of management as full members, and representatives from each labour union 
as observers. Recommendations were made on the appointment of Senior Management 
to Council, after consultation with Senate and the Institutional Forum.  The Committee 
concluded and recommended the appointment of the DVC Knowledge and Information 
Technology Services.  

5. STATEMENT OF CONFLICT MANAGEMENT
Council had established a Dispute Management and Resolution Committee to identify 

and deal with early warning signals for potential conflict and threats to the governance, 
management and operations of the University as well as to manage and resolve disputes 
arising within the University in a constructive, transparent, fair and effective way for all 
involved.  All matters referred to the Committee for consideration must have gone through 
the internal due processes and channels and should be group-specific matters, that is, not 
individual cases. The decision or resolutions of the Committee are final and are tabled at 
Council for information in a summary form.

There were no disputes or matters referred to the Committee during the year under 
review, which may be as a result of systems and processes that deal with matters internally.

At the beginning of the year under review, the student protest around the issues of 
financial exclusions was resolved by the Chairperson of Council and the Vice-Chancellor.   
There were no academic days lost since the protest happened during the registration period.  
There was also no reported damage to property and no additional costs to the University were 
incurred as a result of the student protest. 

The new Council endorsed the recommendation to disband the committee and accepted 
the recommendation to source external independent mediators or arbitrators, through a 
Council approved process whenever there was a need to resolve any dispute or manage 
conflict.
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6. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCIL AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
In September 2011, Council approved the revised Code of Conduct for Council and 

members of Council to guide itself in its workings as well as the conduct of individual Council 
members as they carry out his/ her duties. 

The purpose of the Code is not intended to inhibit the actions of a member of Council, 
but to ensure that where there is a conflict between any such actions and the best interests of 
the University, the interests of the University will take precedence. The purpose of this Code is 
to provide a member of Council with a set of principles as to what is regarded as appropriate 
conduct by a Council member in performing his/ her functions and duties.

This Code should be seen as a means of ensuring self-regulation by a member of Council 
and as an instrument for taking action with regard to inappropriate conduct on the part of a 
member of Council.

In exercising his/ her powers and performing their functions, Council members must at 
all times:

i. Serve the interests of the University and its staff, students and the public at large with 
the highest degree of integrity, objectivity, equity, fairness and ethically as befitting 
persons appointed to such office;

ii. Enhance the public image of the University as well as interpret the community to the 
University;  

iii. Support the Vice-Chancellor in his or her fulfillment of objectives and policies of the 
Council.

The following are some of the fundamental principles covered in the Code:

6.1 The principle of democratic governance
A member of Council must act in a manner, which is respectful of and in accordance 
with the principle of democratic governance. Council should also create an environment 
that encourages the participation of all members of Council.

6.2 The principle of accountability
Members of Council are directly accountable for the performance of his/ her functions 
and duties and indirectly, through Council, to the staff and students of the University and 
to the public at large.  Council is accountable and responsible for the performance and 
affairs of the University.

6.3 The principle of transparency
Council accepts that it is accountable to those it serves. It is important to inform its 
Stakeholders of its decisions timely. A member of Council is expected to perform his/ 
her functions and duties in a manner that reflects the highest ethical conduct, which 
encompasses integrity, honesty and openness. Decisions made should be objective and 
without undue influences.

6.4 The principle of respect for the rights of others
A member of Council must respect the rights of others.

6.5 The principle of objectivity
A member of Council must perform his/ her functions and duties fairly and not allow 
prejudice, bias or the influence of others to override his/ her objectivity. Any actual or 
potential conflict of interest must be avoided, but must also be seen to be avoided.

6.6 The principle of cooperative governance
Council commits itself to the notion of cooperative governance, which is defined as 
“a social contract in which diverse parties agree to suspend particular interests in the 
interests of reconstruction and development.” Council must work with other University 
structures and in doing so accept the spirit of academic freedom.
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A Member of Council is 
collectively responsible 

for resolutions of Council 
and must abide by such 

resolutions. 

A Member representing 
Council in another 

University structure 
must represent 

resolutions of Council 
in that structure in the 
best possible manner.

6.7 The principle of collective responsibility
A member of Council is collectively responsible for resolutions of Council and must abide 
by such resolutions. A member representing Council in another University structure must 
represent resolutions of Council in that structure in the best possible manner.

6.8 The principle of fiduciary responsibility
A member is appointed to Council to serve both the interests of the University and the 
public. On acceptance of the office, a member of Council becomes a trustee for the 
benefit of the University and the public they serve, which gives rise to an obligation on 
his/her part to fulfill his/ her responsibilities solely with the purpose of promoting the best 
interests of the  University and the public. 

Fiduciary duties of a member of Council entail, inter alia, the following:
1.3.8.1 The duty to act:

• in the best interests of the University by exercising reasonable care, skill and 
diligence in the conduct of his/ her responsibilities and;

• legally, honestly and within his/ her powers.
1.3.8.2 A duty to refrain from misusing information.
1.3.8.3 A duty not to act in a manner, which creates a conflict between duty and 

personal interest.
1.3.8.4 A member of Council who acquires special knowledge or information by virtue 

of a confidential or fiduciary relationship with another is not free to exploit 
that knowledge or information for his/ her own personal benefit. The broader 
principle is inherent in the nature of the fiduciary relationship that prohibits a 
member of Council from extracting secret profits from his/ her position of trust.

6.9 The principle of independence and integrity
A member of Council undertakes at all times to apply his/ her mind to the matters before 
him/ her in an open and independent manner with integrity and without undue influence, 
fear or favour.

6.10 The principle of confidentiality
A member undertakes to honour at all times the trust and confidence bestowed upon 
him/ her. He/ she undertakes not to disclose inappropriately and without authority 
deliberations or decisions of Council in a manner that will be detrimental to the 
University.

As per previous Council decision, it is the responsibility of the Chairperson of Council 
and the Vice-Chancellor to communicate to the University Community, matters of 
Council, including decisions taken after each meeting.

6.11 The principle of respect for the privacy of the personal affairs of members of Council
Council respects the privacy of the personal affairs of a member of Council. 
Notwithstanding above-mentioned, a member of Council should at all times conduct 
him/ herself in a manner which will not be prejudicial to the best interests of the 
University.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST: POLICY, PRINCIPLES AND RULES APPLICATION 
 TO COUNCIL MEMBERS

Council has approved a Conflict of Interest Policy that applied to all Council and Council 
Committee members and regulates the declaration of Conflict of Interest by Council members 
concerning potential and real conflicts of interest in the conduct of the affairs of the University.

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI MR N NTSABABA

Registrar
MR N NTSABABA
Registrar
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CPUT must use its resources responsibly if it is to ensure the sustainability of the 
University for future generations of students and staff.

The University’s key resources are its staff, its financial resources, its infrastructure, and its 
management and leadership.

Suitably qualified academic staff members are a critical factor, if CPUT is to continue 
to offer a quality service to students. The minimum requirement for a lecturer’s position is a 
Masters degree, while a Doctorate is preferred.

The University has requested support for the establishment of five research chairs, which 
will contribute to the training and development of the next generation of academics.

Council has approved support for 50 Khula candidates, to be identified from young people 
with the interest and capacity to become academics, particularly women and black students.

A rotation system has been introduced for academic Heads of Department, with 
appropriate support and training for the Heads to be able to discharge their mandate.

CPUT is financially sound, with over R1 billion in savings. Such savings can be used in 
future to support strategic initiatives.

Management has identified major cost drivers with a view to managing spiralling costs. 
Among the main drivers are municipal rates, security, and transport. 

Student debt remains a threat to sustainability. Management has put measures in place 
to halt the growth of the debt, but further efforts will be required in future to find a resolution to 
the problem.

Demand for CPUT programmes remains high. The number of enrolments in 2014, at 33 161, 
was consistent with the previous two years; but fell 620 short of the enrolment target. 

Infrastructural expansion continues, in support of the consolidation of programmes on 
particular campuses. Exciting developments began in 2014, including two new Electrical 
Engineering buildings, and SARETEC (South African Renewable Energy Technology Centre) 
on the Bellville campus,as well as a residence on the Cape Town campus.

A cohesive management team, with leadership skills and a common vision for the 
institution, is important for the sustainability and a full team of senior managers in place.

COUNCIL STATEMENT ON SUSTAINABILITY

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI

The University’s key 
resources are its staff, 
its financial resources, 
its infrastructure, and 
its management and 
leadership. Suitably 
qualified academic 
staff members are a 
critical factor, if CPUT 
is to continue to offer 
a quality service to 
students. 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

X Present A Apology

BACKGROUND
All members of the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (AROC) are independent and not 

employed by CPUT. Members of the AROC have the combined qualifications and business 
experience which are appropriate and relevant to the work of the committee. Both the internal 
auditors and external auditors have unrestricted access to the AROC.

Meetings are held at least 4 times per annum and are attended by the external and 
internal auditors and appropriate members of the Executive Management of CPUT. The 
AROC operates in accordance with written terms of reference and an internal audit charter, 
confirmed by Council. Meetings of the AROC are minuted and in between committee meetings, 
a written progress review is done with relevant HODs to monitor implementation. The timely 
implementation of internal audit reports, management letter findings and AROC meeting 
recommendations is still lacking and remains an ongoing challenge.

The AROC needs a strong internal audit function/ department in addition to the 
outsourced service from SNG to provide a support role and handle ‘matters arising’ and 
operational issues. The investigation of such a strategy was initiated by the Vice-Chancellor’s 
office during 2014 and is still to be finalised.

Arising out of each AROC meeting is a Chairperson’s report to Council indicating matters 
requiring Council attention, either for noting or for approval. 

AROC composition and meeting attendance

ExTERNAL AUDIT
KPMG was appointed in 2013 to fulfill the external audit function at CPUT. Their 

appointment is renewed annually before commencement of the audit by obtaining approval 
from the Auditor General in terms of the Public Audit Act.

• Reviewed KPMG audit planning documentation for the audit of CPUT for the year ending 
31 December 2013 (‘2013 Audit’);

• Monitored timetable of audit activity to ensure that we meet deadline dates for finalisation 
of 2013 Annual Financial Statements and submission to DHET;

• Reviewed draft Annual Financial Statements and Annual Reports at AROC.  Joint meeting 
of Finance and Audit committees on 6 June 2014 to consider the Annual Financial 
Statements and Annual Reports for recommendation to and approval by Council.

KPMG was appointed 
in 2013 to fulfill the 
external audit function at 
CPUT. Their appointment 
is renewed annually 
before commencement 
of the audit by obtaining 
approval from the 
Auditor General in terms 
of the Public Audit Act.

MEMbErS DATES OF MEETINgS % PEr
MEMbEr

30 Jan
Special

21 Feb
Special

21 Feb 16 May 15 Aug 17 Oct

Mr O Bailey x x x x x x 100

Ms R Benjamin-Swales Prior to appointment x 100

Mr R Bredenkamp Prior to appointment x 100

Ms N Dhevcharran x x x x A x 80

Mr G Ferry x x x x x Term expired 100

Ms R Lebethe x x x x x x 100

Mr M Lumka A x x x x Term expired 83

Mr S Mbatha x x x x x Term expired 100

Ms B Mbomvu Prior to appointment x 100

Ms N Mphuthi x x x x x x 100
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Risk Grade Number of 
findings 
(2014)

Number of 
findings 
(2013)

Significant 
deficiency

19 40% 21 38%

Control 
deficiency

10 20% 21 38%

Other matter 20 40% 13 24%

TOTAL 49 100% 55 100%

• August 2014 AROC review of KPMG Management Comments Letter (MCL) ‘2013 audit’ 
findings.

• October 2014 meeting with KPMG to review audit plan, strategy and budget for the audit 
of CPUT for the year ending 31 December 2014. 

FINAL MANAGEMENT LETTER POINTS (MLPS) – AUDIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2014

The audited MLPs were submitted in May 2015 by KPMG. External auditors’ 
recommendations have been discussed with relevant departments and the management 
responses received by KPMG have been incorporated in their full report.

The AROC has ensured that appropriate management attention was obtained, to ensure 
that items raised in the management letter, are addressed.  AROC requires written progress 
reports at each quarterly AROC meeting.

INTERNAL AUDIT
SizweNtsalubaGobodo (SNG) was appointed by CPUT to provide an outsourced internal 

audit service to the University since January 2013.  SNG prepared an Internal Audit Plan for 
the year ending 31 December 2014, for consideration and approval by the Audit and Risk 
Oversight Committee (AROC) and Council. The plan was informed by the results of a risk 
workshop held in March 2014, as well as by discussions with Executive Management and the 
external auditors. 

Once the internal audit fieldwork is completed, draft reports (which include findings 
and recommendations) are submitted to the relevant management personnel for comment, 
and recording of agreed actions and timeframes by which the respective issue would be 
addressed. Thereafter, reports are finalised through discussion with the Executive Director: 
Finance and/ or the AROC Chairperson.

 
Finalised reports are distributed to the relevant department head and to the Executive 

Director: Finance. The respective reports are tabled and presented at the AROC quarterly 
meetings for discussion. A register of the status of follow-up internal audit findings is 
maintained by the Internal Auditors and submitted to the Executive Director Finance. Progress 
in respect of these findings is reported to AROC periodically. 

The following internal audits were completed in 2014 and fully reported to AROC during 
2014 by SNG.

 

*The internal audit work was performed in Quarter 4 of 2014, in accordance with the 2014 
Internal Audit Plan. The final reports were tabled at the first subsequent AROC meeting, which 
was held on 20 February 2015.

Summary of findings – 31 December 2014
The table below shows the findings per 
risk grade as compared to the prior year’s 
external audit findings.

INTERNAL AUDIT AREA REPORTED OVERALL CONCLUSION 
OF ENVIRONmENT AS 
PER SNG RATINGS

2014 Internal audits

Fleet management 15 August 2014 Weak

Online Registration 15 August 2014 Adequate

Asset management GAP analysis 17 October 2014 Gaps identified

Restaurant School - Granger Bay * 20 February 2015 Good

Residences * 20 February 2015 Weak

IT governance review * 20 February 2015 Good
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FOLLOW UP FINDINGS
The following follow up audits were completed in 2014 and fully reported to AROC during 

2014 by SNG:

* The internal audit work was performed in Quarter 4 of 2014, in accordance with the 
2014 Internal Audit Plan. The final reports were tabled at the first subsequent AROC meeting, 
which was held on 20 February 2015.

CONCLUSION
The AROC reports that it complied with its terms of reference and is satisfied that CPUT 

has continued to maintain and manage internal control systems effectively in a manner that 
ensures the achievement of institutional objectives and operational goals. This was obtained 
by means of a risk management process, combined assurance approach, as well as the 
identification of corrective actions and enhancements to internal processes and controls.

The Audit & Risk Oversight Committee therefore recommended the 2014 Annual Report 
to Council for approval.

Follow up Findings
In general, the 
University’s performance 
in respect of the 
resolution of findings 
previously reported has 
been unsatisfactory 
as only some of the 
findings have been 
fully addressed. AROC 
monitors that action 
plans are developed to 
resolve any finding and 
any unresolved findings 
remains on the AROC 
agenda until it is fully 
resolved.

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI

MR K PATEL
Chairperson
Audit	&	Risk	Oversight	Committee	(AROC)

The Audit & Risk Oversight Committee therefore recommended the 2014 Annual Report 

MR K PATEL
Chairperson
Audit & Risk Oversight Committee

2013 FOLLOW UPS

Procurement 17 October 2014

Student debtors 17 October 2014

Compliance 17 October 2014

Transformation 20 February 2015 *

Financial Statements 20 February 2015 *

2012 FOLLOW UPS

Corporate Governance 17 October 2014

Short Courses 20 February 2015 *

Student Residence 20 February 2015 *

Procurement 17 October 2014

Analysis of Vendor master file data 17 October 2014

Student debtors 17 October 2014

2011 FOLLOW UPS

Financial Discipline 17 October 2014

Facilities management 20 February 2015 *

Student Affairs 20 February 2015 *

Western Cape College of Nursing mentor/ Lecturer Claim Payments 16 May 2014

2010 FOLLOW UPS

Human Resources and Payroll   17 October 2014

Enrolment 17 October 2014

Short Courses 20 February 2015 *

Research Contract 20 February 2015 *

2009 FOLLOW UPS

Procurement 17 October 2014

Human Resources and Payroll   17 October 2014

Fixed Assets 21 February 2014 *

Student Residences 20 February 2015 *

Granger Bay 17 October 2014*
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REPORT ON RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

Twelve	high	level	risks	were	identified,	aligned	to	strategic	
goals,	accepted	by	CPUT	and	assigned	to	risk	owners.	

RESPONSIBILITY FOR RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial and non-financial risk reside under two committees at CPUT. The oversight 

for financial risk resides with the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (AROC) which reports 
to Council. The non-financial risks reside with the Quality Assurance and Risk Management 
Committee (QARM) a joint committee of Senate and Council, approved in 2012. AROC has 
oversight over all risks in CPUT. 

QARM meets quarterly and comprises the Vice Chancellor (Chairperson),  the 
Registrar, representatives from Council, Senate and the Student Representative Council, 
Executive Management of CPUT, Deans, Executive Directors, the Director and Manager of 
Quality Management and the Directors of MIS, Fundani CHED and Legal Services.

The Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee of Council has 
unrestricted access to the Chairperson of Council, Council and to the Vice-Chancellor.

There was approval in 2014 to create an office for risk management and the 
appointment of a Risk Officer is expected shortly. Going forward, this person will be 
responsible for the management of the risk register at CPUT.  The Terms of Reference of 
the QARM committee now include this post, as well as that of the Adviser to the Vice-
Chancellor. The Council members are members of AROC as well, and are external to CPUT.

The committee oversees the development and management of the risk framework and 
receives progress reports from Management, who are responsible for developing action 
plans and managing risk, within their area of responsibility. The reporting of the QARM 
committee is to AROC, Senate and Council and when necessary, QARM serves as the 
approval body for external reporting to the Council on Higher Education and the DHET, on 
issues concerning quality and risk.

RISK ASSESSMENT
CPUT’s risk register was initially developed in 2008 by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

It was updated in 2011 by Deloitte, approved by Council in 2012 and integrated with the 
Institutional Quality Improvement Plan (IQIP). Progress was reported on by line function and 
monitored by the Quality Management Directorate. Validation was conducted by the internal 
auditors. 

The 2012 risk framework has subsequently been renewed through a series 
of collaborative workshops held with internal and external stakeholders, the first of 
which was in March 2014. The workshops were conducted by the internal auditors, 
SizweNtsalubaGobodo.  The identified risks were clarified and prioritised at a final session 
in November 2014, with Senior and Executive Managers. The final framework was received 
by CPUT on 11 December 2014. It was presented to AROC and Council for approval in the 
first quarter 2015 and resides with the Vice-Chancellor.
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The management of this framework and the development of action plans featured at 
the first quarterly meeting of QARM in 2015.

CPUT’S RISK PROFILE
Twelve high level risks were identified, aligned to strategic goals, accepted by CPUT 

and assigned to risk owners. The inherent risks identified in terms of impact and probability 
were as follows: 

NEW RISK REF # RANKING RISK NAmE/ DESCRIPTION STRATEGIC AIm

SR1 1 Lack of proper security and access control (campus wide). The Student 
Experience

SR2 2 Inconsistent residence management – inadequate residence. The Student 
Experience

SR3 3 The instability of the IT infrastructure may adversely affect a number of areas, including 
the academic programmes (e-learning and class tests), research initiatives as well as the 
administrative operations of CPUT. 

Sustainability and 
Efficiency 
(IT Operations)

SR4 4 Lack of residence based awareness programme – staff & students
a) Role of students in residence
b) Role of staff in residence
c) Residence rules e.g noise, consideration for neighbours, study environment, cleanliness.

The Student 
Experience

SR5 5 The risk that inadequate IT Governance including IT security and business continuity 
planning processes may not support CPUT's business initiatives as a University of 
Technology.

Sustainability and 
Efficiency 
(IT Governance)

SR6 6 Inadequate infrastructure (T&L, socialisation, inadequate learning spaces etc.) and  
maintenance plan.                       

The Student 
Experience

SR7 7 Ineffective co-ordination between the academic and support units of the University. Sustainability and 
Efficiency

SR8 8 Inefficient selection and admissions processes. The Curriculum, 
Teaching  and Learning

SR9 9 Inadequate  student accountability.  The Student 
Experience

SR10 10 Failure to collaborate and integrate consistent academic processes and standardisation 
across all campuses relating to the first  year experience. More collaboration between 
student services and academic.

The Student 
Experience

SR11 11 Inability to maintain financial sustainability due to:
- inadequate annual fee increases;
- poor cost management;
- lack of focus on debt collection and repayment processes; and
- external market conditions;
resulting in potential depletion of financial reserves and adversely affecting the future 
financial sustainability of CPUT.

Financial  
Sustainability

SR12 12 The risk of CPUT's multicampus environment and poor internal processes may adversely 
impacting CPUT's ability to ensure the 'same student experience', fair distribution of 
resources and sound control environment.  This refers to the lack of consistency in CPUT's 
multicampus environment relating to student experience.

Student Experience
(Campus structure)



The development of suitable action plans to mitigate the high level risks by managers is 
underway at CPUT.

In addition to the high level risk framework, a risk framework specific to Teaching and 
Learning has been developed. 

MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RISKS
Aside from the inherent management obligation that resides with each risk owner 

and manager at CPUT, the risk register is used to provide AROC with insight into areas 
to include in the internal audit plan for the following year. This is an ongoing management 
process and is supplemented by audits conducted internally to CPUT, when required. 
Management of risk is therefore integrated into the daily activities of CPUT. 

SYSTEMS OF INTERNAL CONTROL
CPUT maintains systems of internal control over financial reporting and the 

safeguarding of assets against the unauthorised acquisition, use or disposal of such assets.  

These systems provide reasonable assurance to the Council and University, regarding 
an operational environment that promotes the safeguarding of its assets and provides 
reliable information for reporting on financial and environmental issues.

The key central data systems use mature technologies such as virtualization, storage 
redundancy and managed backup applications. The control process developed over the 
past few years are maturing and providing further confidence in the validity of reporting. 

Efforts to improve efficiency, effectiveness, reliability and security are ongoing.  

The operation of internal controls is monitored by internal auditors who report findings 
and make recommendations to management and Council. Where control deficiencies are 
identified corrective actions are taken and implemented. 

The Council, operating through its Audit & Risk Oversight Committee, provides 
oversight of the financial reporting process.
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MR K PATEL
Chairperson
Audit	&	Risk	Oversight	Committee	
(AROC)

MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting	Executive	Director:	Finance

MR K PATEL
Chairperson
Audit & Risk Oversight Committee

MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting Executive Director: Finance
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Oversight Committee
 
REPORT ON INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE/ OPERATIONAL 
STRUCTURES AND CONTROLS

Each employee of 
CPUT is responsible 
for the execution of 

risk management 
activities in their daily 

activities. There is room, 
however, to improve the 

formalisation of risk 
management activities 

in terms of King III 
requirements such as 
Combined Assurance.

INTRODUCTION
CPUT maintains systems of internal control over financial reporting and the safeguarding 

of assets against the unauthorised acquisition, use or disposal of such assets. Such 
systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance to the management and Council 
regarding an operational environment that promotes the safeguarding of a public higher 
education institution’s assets and the preparation and communication of reliable financial 
and other information.

This includes documented organisational structures setting out the division of 
responsibilities, as well as established policies and procedures that is communicated 
throughout the organisation to foster a strong ethical climate and the careful selection, 
training and development of its people.

CPUT applies modern information systems such as virtualization, storage redundancy 
and managed backup applications in key central data centres. The development and 
implementation of these information systems is performed in accordance with defined and 
documented standards to achieve efficiency, effectiveness, reliability and security. Accepted 
standards are applied to protect privacy and ensure control over all data, including 
disaster recovery and “back up” procedures. Password controls are strictly maintained 
with users required to change their passwords frequently. There are regular reviews to 
ensure that there are no clashes in user access rights and that the basic internal control 
concept of division of duties is maintained. Where, for capacity reasons, an occasional 
clash does occur, sufficient manual controls are in place to ensure that these clashes are 
mitigated. Systems are designed to promote ease of access for all users and the systems 
are sufficiently integrated to minimise duplication of effort and ensure minimum manual 
intervention and reconciliation procedures. The development, maintenance and operation of 
all systems are under the control of competently trained staff.

In utilising electronic technology to conduct transactions with staff and third parties, 
control aspects receive close scrutiny and procedures are designed and implemented to 
minimize the risk of fraud or error. The processes adopted to effect proper controls have 
also been developed and are maturing. The institution is continuously striving to improve on 
its operations so as to achieve the necessary efficiency, effectiveness, reliability and security.

Internal auditors monitor the operation of internal control systems and report findings 
and recommendations to management, the Audit & Risk Oversight Committee and the 
Council. Corrective actions are taken to address control deficiencies and other opportunities 
for improving systems when identified. The Council, operating through its Audit & Risk 
Oversight Committee, provides oversight of the financial reporting process.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of internal control, 
including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. 
Accordingly, even an effective internal control system can provide only reasonable 
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and the safeguarding of assets. 
Furthermore, the effectiveness of an internal control system can change according to 
circumstances.



STATEMENT OF ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROLS
CPUT has assessed its internal controls as at 31 December 2014 in relation to the 

criteria for the effective internal control over financial reporting as described above. CPUT 
has no formal Internal Control Manual but there is a reasonable practice thereof as stated 
above. 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo (SNG) has been appointed by CPUT to provide an outsourced 
internal audit service to the University from January 2013.  

SNG prepared an Internal Audit Plan for the year ending 31 December 2014, for 
consideration and approval by the Audit and Risk Oversight Committee (AROC) and 
Council. The plan was informed by the results of a risk workshop held in March 2014, as 
well as by discussions with Executive Management and the external auditors. 

Once the internal audit fieldwork is completed, draft reports (which include findings 
and recommendations) are submitted to the relevant management personnel for comment, 
and recording of agreed actions and timeframes by which the respective issue would be 
addressed. Thereafter, reports are finalised through discussion with the Executive Director: 
Finance and/ or the AROC Chairperson. 

Finalised reports are distributed to the relevant department head and to the Executive 
Director: Finance. The respective reports are tabled and presented at the AROC quarterly 
meetings for progress discussions.

A register of the status of follow-up internal audit findings is maintained by the Internal 
Auditors and submitted to the Executive Director: Finance. Progress in respect of these 
findings is reported to AROC periodically. 

Based on this assessment, CPUT believes that as at 31 December 2014, its system of 
internal control over its operational environment, information reporting and safeguarding of 
assets against unauthorised acquisition, use or disposal of assets met those criteria.

CPUT has conducted a review of its risk assessment document and in conjunction 
with the internal auditors, SNG, developed a programme of internal audits to examine the 
systems, procedures and controls in those areas considered as high risk. 

STATEMENT BY AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee reviewed the report on internal administrative/ operational 

structures and controls in the year under review at its meeting of 29 May 2015, which 
meeting quorated and the documentation for approval by the committee was circulated with 
the meeting agenda in advance with due notice.
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meeting quorated and the documentation for approval by the committee was circulated with 
the meeting agenda in advance with due notice.

MR J STRAUSS
Director
SizweNtsalubaGobodo (SNG)



CAPE PENINSULA UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY 33

REPORT OF THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE INSTITUTIONAL FORUM

The year under review has been exciting for the Institutional Forum (IF) of CPUT. 
The robustness and effectiveness of the outgoing IF leadership who handed over the 
baton to the new leadership elected into office in June 2014 was central.

The new leadership was met with unwavering support from the Office of the Registrar to 
ensure that CPUT’s IF incrementally sustains its contribution to the University and thus 
continues to deliver on its legislated mandates. A workshop was arranged for the induction 
of new members as well as a number of university policies including Higher Education Act 
101 of 1997; CPUT’s Statute of 2010 and various legislation and relevant CPUT policies to 
progressively mobilise the transformation agenda of the university. At the same workshop 
the IF further developed an annual plan with various activities designed as measurable 
performance outcomes for the year ahead. 

A second workshop was arranged with Mr Mabizela from the Department of Higher 
Education and Training as a guest speaker.  His presentation enabled the CPUT IF 
leadership to understand the challenges facing Institutional Forums in executing their 
mandates; the importance of relationship building; the management of (and by) the IF 
with other university governance structures and stakeholders as well as the impact of its 
composition on the  performance of its core mandate. With the  government undertaking 
a study to review the IFs as the country was celebrating 20 years of freedom, the  findings 
were that the  “government is more than keen to keep Institutional Forums as vanguards 
of transformation in South African universities” said Mr Mabuzela. In this workshop the 
Chairperson of Council, Mr Bikwani, pledged his support to the IF and considers it a 
“second layer leadership of the university”.

For the first time in the history of CPUT the IF was counselled and pointed in the 
appropriate direction by having representation to the Senate Language Committee. This 
counsel by the Registrar Mr Ntsababa, resulted in 3 members of the IF serving on the 
Senate Language Committee.

The Institutional Forum of CPUT is effective and energetic in its engagements not only with 
itself but also with other stakeholders in order to substantially contribute to a university 
that is moving from “Good to Great”. The two workshops have enabled and empowered 
the IF to deliver on its mandates and it is hoped that the IF will be able to deliver on its key 
performance areas in its 2015 Annual Performance Plan.

The Institutional Forum 
of CPUT is effective 
and energetic in its 

engagements not only 
with itself but also with 

other stakeholders in 
order to substantially 

contribute to a university 
that is moving from 

“Good to Great”. 
PROF MS BINZA
Chairperson	of	the	Institutional	Forum
PROF MS BINZA
Chairperson of the Institutional
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The Senate of the CPUT convened a meeting each quarter during 2014 primarily to 
consider the following: 

• Senate Committee reports 
• Senate Executive Committee reports
• Submissions from the Faculty Boards
• Recommendations for Ad Hominem Promotions 
• Reports on success rates and throughput rates
• Policy proposals relating to the academic project 
• Admission and Re-admission Criteria

The Executive of Senate met on a monthly basis to deal with matters that required 
urgent attention such as appointments of academic staff, applications for recognition of prior 
learning, applications for exemption and recognition of subjects, approval of examiners and 
moderators, requests for mark alterations, request for changes to the academic structure and 
quality assurance self-evaluation, and programme accreditation reports. 

The minutes of the Senate Executive meetings were ratified at the quarterly meetings of 
Senate.

1. COMPOSITION OF SENATE:
1.1 Senate comprised

• Members of the Executive Management, with the Vice-Chancellor as Chairperson 
and the Registrar as Secretary of Senate

• Representatives of the academic faculties (Deans, Associate Deans, Heads of 
Department)

• Professors and Associate Professors
• Directors of academic support units
• Representatives of the academic employees
• Representatives of the non-academic employees
• Representatives of the CPUT Council
• Representatives of the Student Representative Council

1.2 Senate Committees
  The following committees of Senate met at least once per quarter throughout 

the year: Academic Planning, Library, Continuing Education, Research, Teaching and 
Learning, Higher Degrees, Co-operative Education and Service Learning, Information 
and Communications Technology, Language, and Student Administration.

In addition reports were received from the Student Services Council as well as the 
Quality Assurance and Risk Management Committee and the Hotel School Board which 
served as Joint Committees of Senate and Council.

During 2014 the Senate Ethics Committee submitted reports on its activities directly 
to Senate and a decision was taken to separate the animal and human, whereas 
the Information Literacy Committee served as a sub-committee of the Teaching and 
Learning Committee.

2.  CHANGES TO ACADEMIC STRUCTURE
2.1 The following programmes were approved by the DHET and accredited by the 

CHE, for introduction in 2014:

• The Higher Certificate in Information and Communication Technology
• The BSc in Radiography: Nuclear Medicine
• The BSc in Radiography: Diagnostic Ultrasound
• The BSc in Radiography: Diagnostic Radiography
• The Postgraduate Diploma in Higher Education in Teaching and Learning
• Diploma in Grade R Teaching.
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2.2 As a result of the merger a number of academic departments and programmes 
were duplicated on the various campuses of CPUT. The process of consolidating 
these programmes on the various campuses of CPUT is currently underway. 
In January 2014 the Horticulture and Landscape Architecture Department was 
consolidated on the Bellville Campus. The spatial design cluster of programmes 
(Architecture, Interior Design and Town and Regional Planning) was relocated to 
Media City on the Foreshore. 

2.3 The Media Department moved to the Roeland Street campus and Cape Town 
campus in January 2014 as part of the consolidation plans in FID where it was 
amalgamated with the Public Relations Management Programme.

2.4 The Agricultural and Food Sciences Department was split into two departments: 
the Department of Agriculture and the Department of Biotechnology and 
Consumer Sciences.

2.5 The Nursing and Radiography Department was split into the Nursing Science 
Department and the Radiography Department.

2.6 The Faculty of Business established a Unit for Applied Law and a Unit for Applied 
Economics.

2.7 The Department of Operations Management was created in 2014 and transferred 
from the Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering to the Business 
Faculty. 

2.8 All departments were involved with a major curriculation exercise to align their 
academic programmes with the Higher Education Qualifications Sub Framework. 
During 2015 all Category B programmes (programmes that require a change of 
name) were submitted the Council of Higher Education for approval. 

3. SIGNIFICANT DEvELOPMENTS
3.1 There was an ongoing focus in the academic sector on the development of 

academic related policies to regulate and guide the academic project at CPUT. 
During the course of the year the following policies were approved by Senate:

• Amended Policy on Ad Hominem Promotions (9 June 2014)
• Open Access Policy
• Research Data Management (RDM) Policy
• Student Academic Development and Support Policy
• Procedures for Severely Ill Students
• Policy on Short Courses (1 September 2014)
• Information Security Policy
• Access Control Policy  
• Access Control Standards

3.2 The implications of the Higher Education Qualifications Sub-Framework (HEQSF) 
for qualifications in the University of Technology sector remained a standing item 
on the agenda of meetings of the Academic Planning Committee. Progress on 
the development of HEQSF compliant programmes was closely monitored by 
this committee. A special meeting of this committee was convened to consider 
and approve Category B programmes (where curriculum changes do not exceed 
50%). All Category B programmes were submitted to the CHE by the July 2014 
deadline.
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In 2013 CPUT was 
awarded 167.51 units 

for research output 
publications in the 

report year 2012. 
This represents an 

improvement in the 
publications subsidy 

output of 141.79 units 
in the previous year. 

3.3 Quality related activity at CPUT focussed primarily on the Departmental Quality 
Improvement Plans that responded to the recommendations emanating 
from departmental programme reviews. Quarterly meetings were held with 
departmental heads and the Quality Management Directorate to monitor progress 
in addressing recommendations. 

3.4 Senate considered reports from faculties on their subject review process and 
qualifications review process, which were specifically aimed at improving success 
and throughput rates at the institution.

3.5 During 2012 the Cape Peninsula University of Technology received confirmation 
that the BTech Nursing qualification had been accredited by the South African 
Nursing Council. This opened the door for students from the Western Cape 
College of Nursing (WCCN) to register at CPUT for their nursing qualification, 
and for the WCCN to be fully incorporated into CPUT. Throughout 2014 a project 
team comprising members of the WCCN and CPUT attended to the incorporation 
process. 

3.6 The Faculty of Engineering finalised the course structure for the new BEng 
Programme in Petroleum Engineering, which was approved by the Academic 
Planning Committee for inclusion into the Faculty’s PQM.  The Programme was 
developed in cooperation with the Oil & Gas industry stakeholders and will be the 
first such qualification on offer in the country.

3.7 All the Faculties at CPUT were required to link community engagement to their 
academic programmes and convert non-curricular community projects to 
curriculum-based and credit-bearing service learning projects, as stipulated in 
the 2013 White Paper on Post-Secondary Education and Training.

3.8 CPUT’s Co-operative Education Unit hosted a SASCE Symposium on 20 
November 2014: The aim of the symposium was to finalise a WIL Framework 
document as a contribution to the process of developing a WIL policy by the 
DHET.

3.9 To enhance CPUT’s delivery of service-learning, an amount of R250 000 was 
allocated to the Service-Learning Unit from the 2014/ 15 Teaching Development 
Grant (TDG) the TDG was used for the following activities:
• Service-learning multidisciplinary project planning workshop: An amount of 

R31 550 was used for a workshop on the planning and conceptualisation of 
multidisciplinary service-learning projects;

• Sustainable housing project: an amount of R138 651 was used to buy a new 
container to serve as an on-site mobile office and storage facility for the building 
materials and equipment for the sustainable housing project;

• Manufacture of gazebo aluminium structure: an amount of R10 449 was used to 
buy materials to design and erect a gazebo aluminium structure (pop-up store) by 
Architectural Technology students; 

• Small scale food production unit: an amount of R47 723 was used to purchase the 
necessary equipment for the small scale food production project;

• Technology for service-learning project activities: an amount of R6 208 was used 
to purchase a data projector that will be used by students and staff for community 
workshops, meetings and project presentations. 

3.10 Teaching and Learning
 The Fundani Centre for Higher Education Development (CHED) was involved in the 

following initiatives in 2014:
• Obtaining funding for new cycle of Teaching Development Grants (TDG) and 

implementing the 6 Programmes;
• Award of National Collaborative Teaching Development Grants (NCTDG);
• Quality Enhancement Project (QEP);
• CPUT ‘Work Sharing’ model for academic staff;
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• Curriculum review, revision and development (focus on diplomas);
• Language development and the promotion of multilingualism;
• Academic staff development (including the implementation of the Postgraduate 

diploma in Higher Education Teaching and Learning (PGDip in HET&L);
• Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL);
• Piloting an integrated, holistic First Year Experience (FYE) at CPUT;
• Scholarly visits, awards and research outputs.

TDG: CPUT’s proposal for the three year cycle of TDGs (2014/15 – 2016/17) was accepted. 
The value of the 2014/15 TDG is R19 513 000. These funds were used for academic staff 
development (including Masters and Doctoral studies), student posts, such as Teaching 
Assistants, celebratory events, educational research and priority programmes, such as 
CPUT’s ‘First Year Experience’.

NCTDGs: CPUT was awarded four NCTDGs; 1) Prof Anthony Staak, project leader of a SATN 
collaboration, was awarded R1 015 000 for ‘Attaining Graduate Attributes in Universities of 
Technology through Strategic Teaching’; Prof Chris Winberg, project leader of a collaboration 
including: SU, UWC, CUT, UFS, UJ, Wits and UniVen) was awarded R681 000 for ‘A National 
Postgraduate Diploma in Higher Education (Teaching and Learning)’, A/Prof J. Garraway 
was awarded R1 540 000 form the DHET TDG Collaborative Research Grant for ‘The 
evaluation of tutorials, first year experience and writing for publication workshops’, Mr Sakkie 
Smit (E-learning Centre) was awarded a grant of R400 000 for appropriate technologies for 
teaching and learning and the use of an Early Warning System to identify students at risk’. In 
addition, Prof Chris Winberg is a collaborator on a UCT NCTDG on the ‘Flexible Curriculum’ 
and Dr Nosisana Mkonto is a collaboration on a UJ  NCTDG on the ‘First Year Experience’.

The QEP was launched by the CHE (Pretoria, 27 February 2014).  The following staff were 
elected to coordinate the work of the four focus area teams: 1) academic staff development 
(A/Prof James Garraway); 2) student development and support (Dr Nosisana Mkonto); 3) 
the learning environment (A/Prof Eunice Ivala); and 4) enhancing enrolment management 
(Ms Luclaire Airey).  Reports were produced for all four focus areas. The authors followed 
an inclusive process and included capacity development workshops to ensure that CPUT’s 
academic staff, non-academic staff, and students, are engaging with the quality enhancement 
process. 

The CPUT work-sharing model was developed by Prof Chris Winberg, Prof Shaun Pather 
and Mr Mike du Plessis, and accepted by ManCom on 5 November 2014 it is ready for 
implementation.

Curriculum development: The activities for Curriculum Development in 2014 included the 
following: support to Curriculum Officers, departments and faculties regarding the submission 
of the Category B Diploma qualifications (60  Category B qualifications were submitted to 
HEQC by June 2014); providing support to COs and departments regarding the various 
activities and processes required for the development of Category C qualifications, mainly 
Advanced Diplomas and Degrees; obtaining DHET PQM clearance and approval for
6 Advanced Diplomas  and one Diploma qualification in December 2014; arranging workhops 
on teaching, learning and assessment and conducting evaluation of assessments for Nursing 
and the Faculty of Business and Management Sciences; and producing a position paper on 
the standardisation of subjects within a vocational education context.

CPUT’s proposal
for the three year 
cycle of TDGs 
(2014/15 – 2016/17) 
was accepted.
The value of the 
2014/15 TDG is
R19 513 000. 

Lotto funds were received to support and promote multilingualism
at CPUT. A number of well-attended language indabas were held,
on both academic literacy and multilingual support.
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Language development and the promotion of multilingualism: Lotto funds were 
received to support and promote multilingualism at CPUT. A number of well-attended 
language indabas were held, on both academic literacy and multilingual support. Work on the 
multilingual technical glossaries has progressed.

Academic staff development: Approximately 256 academic staff benefitted from academic 
staff development workshops/ training interventions in 2014, the Teaching Development 
Programme awarded 18 certificates; the PG Dip HET&L was attended by 13 CPUT staff 
members (as well as staff from the WC region and UniVen, making a total of 40 participants); 
the CHEC ‘Quality Teaching in Higher Education’ short courses was attended by ±50 staff 
members. An international team, led by Prof Tai Peseta (University of Sydney), began a 2-year 
an evaluation of the HDHET in terms of its impact on teaching and learning at CPUT. 

Fundani’s Educational Technology Unit (ETU), in collaboration with the Centre for 
E-learning, hosted a ‘Teaching Technology Day’ at which there were 83 attendees. The 
conference included a guest presentation by Dolf Jordan (UP) on learner analytics. Ms Daniela 
Gachago, together with other academic staff at CPUT, collaborated with the District Six 
Museum to create a digital story repository of residents’ memories and experiences.

The 5th Annual Research and Innovation in Teaching and Learning Conference 
(RITAL) was held on 2 December 2014 at the Cape Town Hotel School, Granger Bay. 
The purpose of the annual conference is to provide internally funded grant holders (and 
other researchers at CPUT) an opportunity to share their research with the broader CPUT 
community. The conference was well attended with 96 CPUT staff across all faculties signed 
up for the day. The participant evaluations indicated that the conference was well received 
but more importantly that staff had learned about new teaching and learning initiatives.  The 
theme of the conference was `Reclaiming Quality: Enhancing the Scholarship of Teaching and 
Learning in Higher Education’. (See http://www.cput.ac.za/blogs/rital/)

The First Year Experience (FYE) was piloted in January 2014, with an extended orientation 
period, in which the incoming first year students were introduced to CPUT and given training 
in range of study skills. An action plan was developed and all the necessary structures and 
resources were created to take the pilot to scale in 2015.

The first discipline-specific tutor training occurred in 2014 with a total of 183 Lecturers 
and Teaching Assistants participating in the training by Fundani’s Student Learning staff. 
Fundani developed a student guide to support the extended orientation (Studying at 
University: a guide for first year students, (available at http://www.cput.ac.za/services/fundani/
studentlearning) 

Most faculties are implementing or piloting ‘Early Warning Systems’, with support from 
Fundani and the Centre for E-learning; and faculties advised and hired ‘Retention officers’ (i.e., 
senior students) who assisted lecturers in following up on students identified by the EWS as 
being at risk of failure. 

Numerous e-learning initiatives were introduced via a series of successful workshops on 
digital stories, pod-casting, screen-casting, the ‘flipped classroom’, ‘Clicker’ evaluation and 
social media for teaching and learning. Of particular note here is the groundswell of projects 
involving teaching through digital stories, the use of tablets and the ‘flipped classroom’ in 
engineering education. 

The Information Literacy Certificate programme was implemented in a number of 
departments across the institution. 

The Faculty of Engineering continued its participation in the Tuning Africa Project, an 
EU-funded initiative to develop a common system of curriculum standards across African 
universities.  The link with the Tuning Africa Project will also allow the Faculty’s programmes to 
be aligned to a future African Credit Transfer and Accumulation System.
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A proposal for the development of a Master’s Programme on Energy Efficiency in 
Southern Africa (Project PEESA), submitted under the ACP-EU Cooperation Programme 
in Higher Education (EDULINK II), was approved.  CPUT, through the Faculty of Engineering, 
is the principal African partner in a consortium comprising Southern African and German 
Universities. During 2014 staff from all engineering departments were involved in development 
of the curriculum of a Master’s based on the alignment of EU quality standards with national 
educational standards requirements. 

Funding of R105m was received from the National Skills Fund for the establishment of 
the South African Renewable Energy Technology Centre (SARETEC). Construction is currently 
underway at CPUT, Bellville Campus.  SARETEC will be offering courses for the training of 
Wind Turbine technologists.

The Chemical Engineering Department piloted the Winter School during the mid-year 
break in July 2014, starting with Chemistry 1 (since this subject is a pre-requisite to continue 
with at least 3 subjects in the second semester).  A total of 27 students participated of which 
23 passed the subject.  

The Department of Mechanical Engineering implemented an Autumn School for two 
at-risk subjects: Mechanics 1 and Mathematics 1.

“Readers are Leaders” software, an innovative programme that allows students to work 
through a graduated series of exercises designed to improve reading speed, and reading 
comprehension was installed in laboratories in the Engineering Faculty.

The Employability Improvement Program which aims at enhancing the quality of the Work 
Preparedness Program was piloted by lecturers in the Department of Industrial Engineering. The 
EIP is championed by the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) in partnership 
with the Japan International Collaboration Agency (JICA) and seeks to help Universities of 
Technology improve the employability of their students.  It is based on the Japanese principles of 
Improvement, Implementation and Innovation (3i). The TDG enabled the department of Industrial 
Engineering to roll-out this programme and conduct three workshops for students during 2014.

3.11 Research Development and Innovation
 The DHET notified CPUT in January 2015 that the institution was awarded 147.31 units 

for 2013 research publications output. This represents a decrease of 20.2 (12.1%) in the 
publications subsidy output of 167.51 units in the previous year. 

 The annual Research Day was held on 27 November 2014 with an exhibition of 91 
research posters by postgraduate students and staff. The keynote address was 
delivered by the Chief Executive Officer of the Cape Higher Education Consortium 
(CHEC), and various CPUT academics delivered papers on their areas of research. 
Awards were presented to researchers in the categories of industry funding, 
supervision, publications and posters.

 CPUT internal funding awarded in 2014
 174 researchers (staff members and postgraduate students) were supported to attend 

international and local conferences in 2014 by the Conference Committee. The overall 
amount awarded was R3 502 063.

 A total of R4 822 752 were awarded to 130 staff members and postgraduate students 
to carry out the research projects for degrees and non-degree by the University 
Research Fund. 

Funding	of	R105m	was	received	from	the	National	Skills	Fund	
for	the	establishment	of	the	South	African	Renewable	Energy	
Technology	Centre	(SARETEC).
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 THRIP funding for 2014 was R1 152 800

 A total of R22 451 732 in NRF grants was allocated to researchers at CPUT in 2014.
 This amount included the following types of funding:

• Sabbatical grants to complete doctoral degrees
• Incentive funding for rated researchers
• Thuthuka
• International science and technology agreements
• NP - support for women and young researchers
• Competitive support for unrated researchers
• NNEP
• Institution research development programme
• Knowledge interchange and collaboration
• F’sati-CPUT
• Education research in south africa
• Community engagement programme
• Development grant for KFD

 Additional information:
• A large number of research capacity building workshops was presented by the 

CPUT Research Directorate, examples including: academic writing, research writing, 
information sources, grants applications and proposal writing.

• The number of registered Master students increased from 971 in 2013 to 1 137 in 2014, 
while the number of Doctoral students increased from 179 in 2013 to 199 in 2014.
- In 2014 a total of 121 Masters and 17 doctoral students graduated.  The figures 

were 110 and 28 in 2013;
- The HDC phased in the digital system with all new students submitting HDC1.1 

forms electronically;
- Institutional training has been facilitated for students in research design, statistical 

analysis and thesis writing as part of the RTI plan;
- The annual postgraduate student conference was held on 5 November 2014 with 

29 oral presentations and 198 delegates.

4. COMPOSITION AND SIZE OF STUDENT BODY
 
 Total student enrolment during 2014    33 198

 Enrolment composition was as follows:

GENDER
Female	 17	987	 (54.2%)
Male	 15	211	 (45.8%)

RACE
Black	 19	602	 (59.1%)
Coloured	 9	031	 (27.2%)
White		 4	164	 (12.5%)
Indian	 401	 (1.2%)
		
LEvEL
Undergraduate		 31	249			 (94.1%)
Postgraduate	(M’s	and	D’s)	 1	336	 (4.0%)	
Postgraduate	other	 491	 (1.5%)
Occasional	 122	 (0.4%)

FACULTY
Business	and	Management	Sciences	 11	584			 (34.9%)	
Engineering	 8	161							 (24.6%)
Education	 3	785	 (11.4%)	
Informatics	and	Design			 3	567	 (10.7%)	
Applied	Science	 3	247	 (9.8%)
Health	and	Wellness	Sciences	 		2	854	 		(8.6%)



5. TEACHING AND LEARNING:
5.1 Limitations on access to certain courses 

• Access to CPUT programmes was again broadened with the implementation of 
Extended Curriculum Programmes (ECP). The following ECP courses were offered 
in 2014: 10 in Applied Science (285 students), 10 in Business (300), 7 in Informatics 
and Design (125), 6 in Engineering (430) and 4 in Health & Wellness (115), making a 
total of 1,255 funded ECP students:

• Step-Up Training was conducted by Fundani in departments with ECP Programmes.
• In many programmes access was limited due to infrastructural constraints such 

as limited lecture rooms and laboratories. However, funding received from the 
Department of Higher Education and Training is being used to expand physical 
facilities in SET programmes and in Education to enable student enrolment in these 
programmes to be increased in line with the CPUT Enrolment Plan.  

• RPL: 11 academic staff members participated in the RPL module of the PGDip 
HET&L; 23 RPL applicants were granted access, 23 were granted advanced 
standing and 8 were granted both. A total of 86 RPL applications were approved by 
Senate in 2014; 19 academic departments had RPL plans in place in 2014.

5.2 Levels of academic programmes and levels of study
• All departments offered programmes to the level of the four year BTech degree. 

The majority of departments offered programmes to the Masters Level. Doctorate 
programmes were only offered in selected programmes, but were offered in all 
faculties at CPUT.

• Most departments in the Health and Wellness Sciences Faculty offered four year 
professional degree programmes.

5.3 Awards and achievements
• CPUT’s service-learning unit received grants for four students to participate in an 

international summer school called ‘The Summer Academy in Leadership through 
Community Engagement’ at the University of Osnabrueck in Germany.

• The partnerships with a number of SETAs culminated in SETA funding being 
allocated to student placements in workplaces that were unable to remunerate 
students. This led to an increase in the number of students who were provided with 
workplace learning opportunities and, as a result, completed their qualifications.

• MNET internship - third year Film and Video student, Sivela Mgudu was selected 
from hundreds of applicants to be one of twelve students chosen nationwide to 
participate in the yearlong MNET internship film programme.

• 60 Hour worldwide Film Challenge - A group of third year film students and film 
alumni entered this international competition in 2014 and came second with their 
entry entitled “Red Herring”.

• Ken Oosterbroek award - Third year Photography student Jodi Windvogel came 
second in this national photography competition.

5.4 Research programmes 
 The Cape Peninsula University (CPUT), Research, Technology and Innovation (RTI) 

Blueprint is the guiding document to all our research endeavours and provide a 
roadmap. Overall the implementation of the Focus area programme, seeks to achieve 
the following benefits for CPUT.
• The increased visibility, stature and improved brand worth of CPUT as a result of the 

impact of research and innovation outputs.
• The potential attractiveness of CPUT to donors and venture capitalists as a result of 

high quality, high visibility research and innovation.
• The overall contribution of CPUT to economic growth and to the GDP of the country 

as a result of producing high quality post-graduate doctoral output, high quality 
research, and the injection of innovation output into the local economy.

• The inception of the Research focus area program will enable CPUT to concentrate 
its efforts and thus achieve improved synergies and thus research outputs and 
associated returns.
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• The appointment of top rated scientists as Research Chairs to lead flagship research 
niche areas within each Research Focus area.

• The growth of a robust cohort of postgraduate students and post-doctoral fellows 
across disciplines.

 The following are the seven focus areas that are funded by the university:

In addition research and development work was also conducted in the following
research centres and units:
• Biocatalysis and Technical Biology Research Group
• Anti-Oxidant Research Unit
• Centre for Multigrade Education
• Functional Foods Research Unit
• Substation Automation and Energy Management Centre
• Advanced Manufacturing Technology Laboratory
• Centre for Tourism Research in Africa
• Community Water and Sanitation Services

5.5 Awards:
• One hundred and twelve (112) Masters degrees and twenty two (22) Doctorate degrees 

were awarded at the graduation ceremonies in April and September 2014 compared to 
110 Masters degrees and 28 Doctorate degrees that were awarded in 2013. 

• CPUT had 30 NRF rated researchers in 2014 as compared with The Department of 
Trade and Industry awarded R3,5 million to the Department of Food Technology for 
a Chocolate Confectionary Centre of Excellence. 

• Dr S Geerts received the Young Scientist medal for the best PhD in Botany in South 
Africa. 

• CPUT was awarded a SARChI Research Chair in Innovative Small Satellite 
Technology and Applications for Africa.  Prof Norman Fitz-Coy (University of Florida) 
was approved as the candidate for the Chair and will commence his tenure in 2014. 

• Prof Tandi Matsha and her team were successful in their MRC University flagship project 
application on Diabetes and Cardiovascular Diseases in South Africa (R8,2 million). 

• Associate Professor OO Oguntibeju was awarded full professorship in 2014.
• The partnerships with the SETAs culminated in SETA funding being allocated to 

student placements in workplaces that were unable to remunerate students. This 
led to an increase in the number of students who were provided with workplace 
opportunities and, as a result, completed the qualification

• The W&R SETA Chair was awarded to CPUT.
• The Work Integrated Learning Centre, in collaboration with the Cape Higher 

Education Consortium (CHEC), was actively involved in organizing the 2014 Talloires 
Network Leaders Conference which was held from 2 – 4 December 2014 at Spier, 
Stellenbosch. The Centre also organized the pre-conference workshop of this 
Conference in collaboration with the National Research Foundation (NRF) and South 
African Higher Education Community Engagement Forum (SAHECEF) which was 
held on 30 November and 1 December 2014 at CPUT’s Bellville Campus. Delegates 
from the 2014 Talloires Network Leaders Conference visited Multidisciplinary 
Service-Learning project exhibitions and installations on the Bellville campus on       
4 December 2014.

Bio-economy and biotechnology

Space science and technology

Energy 

Climate change and environment

Human and social dynamics, including issues related to service delivery 

Economic growth and international competitiveness

Design for  sustainability
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• A major achievement for Student Learning, and the CPUT community, has been the 
publication of the FYE videos on the CPUT website.

• Dr Bernie Miller (Faculty of Engineering) was accepted on the TAU (Teaching 
Advancement at Universities) Fellowship programme. On successful completion of 
this programme she will become a TAU Fellow, and remain a member of the TAU 
Fellows network. This is a HELTASA initiative funded by the TDG. 

• CPUT HIV/AIDS unit submitted a successful application for a DHET-NSF grant for 
a project involving the integration of HIV/AIDS into the curricula of two academic 
programmes at the institution. An amount of R450 000 was approved over a three 
year period. 

• The Quality Enhancement Project, launched at CPUT on 27 March 2014, has 
culminated in the final reports for each of the QEP four focus areas submitted to the 
HEQC.

• A number of awards were presented to leading researchers at CPUT at the 
Research Day in November 2014.

5.6 Research Funding
During 2014 funding for research was received from the following sources:

1. Outside Agencies / Industry:

1.1 NRF Research Funding  R 22 451 732
1.2 THRIP R   1 152 800
1.3 NRF Bursaries R   5 145 000
1.4 SKA R      129 000
1.5 Ruth and Anita Wise                          R        50 000
1.6 Contract Research R   7 479 495 
1.7 NRF Post Doc Fellowships R      600 000
1.8 NSFAS Postgrad R   2 675 555
1.9 Investec R      150 000
1.10 Maueberger R      400 000
1.11 Webb Trust R        25 000

TOTAL OUTSIDE FUNDING R 40 258 582

2. CPUT:

2.1 University Research Fund R   4 822 752
2.2 Conference attendance  R   3 502 063
2.3 Post Doc Fellowships R   1 282 000
2.4 CPUT Bursaries R   1 924 000
  
TOTAL CPUT FUNDING R   11 530 815

5.7 Contract Research 
• Approximately 76 contracts were assessed and reviewed in 2014 by ensuring 

compliance to the IPR Act. The contract amount was R7 479 495.
• Most of the contracts are Non-Tech Transfer Agreements.
• The income from technology transfer contracts amounts to approximately: 
• This information will help to gain a better understanding of the contracts, monitory 

allocation or contract values and the actual contract period thereof.
• The Technology Transfer Office does not administer the cost centres, and do not 

keep track of costs derived from these agreements. The End-User, such as the 
project leader/ the researcher/ academic or other in charge, is in authority of these 
contracts.  
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6. FINANCIAL AID
6.1 Access
 Students with proven academic record and financial need qualify for financial assistance.

6.2 Awarded in 2014

• Nominated Bursaries R   96 939 543 (5 034 Awards)
• NSFAS R 302 961 721 (10 568 Awards)
• University Administered R     1 520 077 (178  Awards)
• Work Study Program R     5 989 224 (1 326 Awards) 

TOTAL R 407 410 565 (17 106 Awards)
 

6.3 Changes in Tuition Fees:
 During 2014 the following fee increases were introduced:

i) To increase the tuition by 8%; and
ii) To increase the residence fees by 6,5%.

7. RISKS TO THE ACADEMIC PROJECT
During 2014 CPUT commissioned SNG to run a risk assessment workshop with senior
management and head of divisions at the university. 

As a result of this workshop following academic risks were identified:
• The risk of poor calibre students from the feeding system and inadequate student 

admissions screening systems and processes in place may impact on the throughput, 
retaining academic staff, research programmes and overall reputation of CPUT.

• CPUT’s academic reputation may be adversely affected by:
o CPUT’s failure to meet the minimum accreditation standards of professional bodies
o lack of investment in staff development; and
o lack of professional staff credentials due to inappropriately qualified staff.

• The risk that the academic comparability of CPUT graduates may be compromised 
due to the quality and relevance of academic programmes not being that of 
international standards and thereby adversely affecting the employability of graduates.

• The risk that CPUT fails to meet the minimum accreditation of professional bodies 
due to poor internal quality management processes.

• Lack of effective financial models, information and tools to determine the financial viability 
of academic programmes based on demand may result in potential financial loss.

• Lack of in-service opportunities for students may adversely impact on the 
throughput of CPUT students.

• The risk that poor research equipment and infrastructure may adversely affect 
CPUT’s ability to attract the calibre of researchers it requires to deliver on the 
research objectives of the institution. 

 In addition the large number of applications for alterations of marks was identified as a 
risk to the integrity of the academic project. As a consequence the marks administration 
process has become a focus of attention.

 These risks have been included in the institutional risk register and mitigation strategies 
have been developed for each of these risks. Progress in addressing these risks was 
reported to the Audit and Risk Committee of Council on a quarterly basis.

The risks to the 
academic project 

have been included in 
the institutional risk 

register and mitigation 
strategies have been 
developed for each of 
these risks. Progress 
in addressing these 

risks was reported to 
the Audit and Risk 

Committee of Council 
on a quarterly basis.

DR P NEVHUTALU
Chairperson	of	Senate
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The Transformation, Social Cohesion 
and Diversity Charter is the blueprint for 
the process of embedding transformation, 
social cohesion and diversity engagement 
at CPUT. These three tenets can best 
be realized through equity processes 
in the employment of staff, curriculum 
development, teaching and learning, and 
governance, which are underpinned by 
democracy and transparency. The CPUT 
charter is underpinned by the following 
broad principles:

- Equity and redress
- Access, retention and success
- Non-racism and non-

discrimination
- Diversity
- Support for a conducive and 

working climate
- Gender

The institution has already rolled 
out initiatives that are aimed at forging 
unity of purpose among staff through the 
Vision, Mission Strategic Plan and Values 
in promoting a new institutional culture. 
Various initiatives will need to be pursued 
to cultivate and deepen a sense of unity 
among staff members of the various 
campuses. 

In 2014, the following initiatives were 
successfully implemented:

Performance Management:  This 
process has been implemented for Grades 
1 – 4, and the Vice-Chancellor, together 
with his executive have signed their 
performance contracts. In 2015 all Grades 
5 – 7 will be trained in performance 
management with a view to start with 
the contracting phase in 2016.  It is 
earmarked that all staff will have been 
trained on this system by the end 2016.

Culture and Climate Survey:  This  
analysis was conducted in 2014 to 
evaluate and gauge the degree to which 
the espoused values of CPUT are lived in 
the current culture and supported in the 
desired culture. It also evaluated espoused 
values which are of personal importance 
to the institution.  Feedback of the results 
is currently underway, and the values need 
continuous focus is going forward.

REPORT ON TRANSFORMATION
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The institution has 
already started with 

initiatives that are 
aimed at forging unity 

of purpose among staff 
through the Vision, 

Mission Strategic Plan 
and Values in promoting 

a new institutional 
culture. Various 

initiatives will need to 
be pursued to cultivate 

and deepen a sense 
of unity among the 

members of the various 
scattered campuses. 

Equity and Redress:  While CPUT is celebrating its 10th year anniversary, the need 
to pursue practices that ensure equity and redress for those previously disadvantaged, still 
exist. Each unit within CPUT has set clear objectives to bring about equity in the intake of 
staff and students, in relation to the institutional stated demographic ratios.

Recognition Agreement:  CPUT signed a ground breaking ‘collective recognition 
agreement’ with all three unions in 2014.  As a result the institution enjoys sound employee 
relations, which includes monthly engagements to pre-empt any labour issues that might 
ensue. Through a collective bargaining process, CPUT and the unions signed a wage 
agreement for 2015 without any labour unrest. 

Customer Services Training:  In 2014 the University rolled out a compulsory Customer 
Services Training program that is aimed at providing staff with the necessary skills to deal 
with clients (students and internal and external stakeholders). A Customer Service Working 
Group was established consisting of SDC stakeholders within CPUT to assist in driving 
this training across the university. The working group is guided by the terms of reference 
guidelines, and in 2015 it will be extended to include a customer service champion from 
each faculty and support department to assist in driving the training.

Staff Wellness:  This program was rolled out in 2014 and is focused on the emotional, 
physical, financial and social wellbeing of all CPUT staff members. The program has 
received wide buy-in during the past few months. 

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI DR P NEVHUTALU

Vice-Chancellor	
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The first ten years as a newly-formed institution have proved to be challenging from 
a financial perspective as the process of achieving harmonisation and integration across 
campuses and faculties have placed significant upward pressure on the University’s cost 
base.  The University has faced a period where its core sources of income, being state 
subsidy and tuition fees, have increased at a slower pace than its personnel costs and more 
notably other operating expenses.   

At the same time there has been an urgent need to invest in and upgrade the capital 
infrastructure of the University as part of the harmonisation process, which places additional 
cash flow demands on the institution.  

As a consequence, the University had for three continuous years (2007 to 2009) been 
incurring significant losses on recurrent operations (i.e. excluding non-recurrent items such as 
realized gains on disposal of investments) and has not been generating sufficient cash flows 
to meet its operational needs without divesting from its investment portfolio.  

This situation was not financially sustainable and during the past five years, the 
University has reviewed its budgeting process, operational capital expenditure and cash flow 
requirements.  As from the 2010 financial year, the University identified that it must generate 
a surplus on recurrent operations of at least R30 million to R50 million to be able to generate 
sufficient funds to maintain both the day to day operational needs of the institution as well as 
adequately fund the capital infrastructure  and other strategic initiatives.  

To this end, the University has since 2010 ensured that its budget process is aligned to its 
strategic planning process.  Resources are allocated in such a manner to promote and ensure 
the attainment of the strategic goals and objectives of the institution.  

The institution clearly distinguishes between Restricted Funds and Unrestricted (Council 
Controlled) funds. Restricted funds entrusted to CPUT are only used in line with the budgets 
approved by the funders of the resources, e.g. NRF etc.  

We are therefore pleased to be able to report that for the financial year ending 31 December 
2014, the University achieved an overall net surplus of R161,4 million (2013: surplus of      
R293,6 million). If the non-recurrent income and expenses are eliminated, the institution would 
reflect a recurrent surplus of R123,9 million (2013: recurrent surplus of R69,9 million).

It should be pointed out that the 2013 overall net surplus is substantially higher than 
2014 due to the realised gains on the sale of investments of R240 million, compared to            
R35,4 million in 2014.  This was the result of the appointment of additional investment 
managers during 2013 to reduce the concentration of risk in one investment manager.  To 
give effect to this, the one investment manager had to liquidate a substantial amount of 
investments during 2013 to enable us to transfer the cash to the newly appointed investment 
managers.

As a continuation of its turnaround strategy CPUT has budgeted to make a recurrent 
surplus of R34,5 million in 2014 (R14,2 million in 2013). However, in 2015 a more conservative 
budget was set with a recurrent surplus of only R4,4 million. It should be noted that the 
University budgeted for a recurring surplus of R34,5 million for 2014. The actual result of 
R123,9 million comfortably exceeds that.

Key highlights from the financial results for the year ending 31 December 2014 
were as follows:

1. Other operating expenses increased by 10,8% compared to increases of 9,8% in 
2013.  The key component of the turnaround strategy is to try to limit the increase in 
the operating expenses to 11% per annum.

2. The student residences reported a net recurrent surplus of R6,5 million for 2014 

The University
ensures that its budget 

process is aligned to 
its strategic planning 

process.  Resources 
are allocated in such a 

manner to promote and 
ensure the attainment 

of the strategic goals 
and objectives of the 

institution.  
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while in 2013 a net loss on student residences was reported as R12,8 million. This 
turnaround is as a result of the implementation of a turnaround strategy which 
resulted in the harmonisation and re-pricing of residences over a three-year period, 
which commenced in 2012 and culminated in 2014. 

3. State appropriations – subsidies and grants have increased by 6,7% to R948 million 
(2013 – R888 million) as a result of an increase in student numbers.  The general purpose 
subsidy from the DHET increased by 4,8% to R872 million (2013: R832 million).  

4. Tuition and other fee income increased by 11,7% to R698 million (2013: R625 million).  
The increase arose from a 8% annual increase in tuition fees and a 6.5% increase 
in residence fees combined with a decrease in student numbers (from 33 464 in 
2013 to 33 161 in 2014) and a marginal increase in residence beds, as well as a 
harmonisation of residence fees between similar categories of residences.  Income 
from short course fees increased from R23 million in 2013 to R36,6 million in 2014.  

5. Private gifts and donations increased by 1,9% to R115 million (2013: R112,9 million).  
This increase is primarily in respect of donations for bursaries.  Our fundraising efforts 
have not yet yielded the desired results but there are continuous efforts from the 
Advancement Office in this regard.

6. Interest and dividends received were R79,4 million (2013: R67,2 million).  Interest 
rates were fairly flat over the past two years, but the slight increase in the available for 
sale investments have assisted in the marginal increase in investment income. 

7. Depreciation of assets have increased from R55,9 million in 2013 to R56,4 million in 
2014, as a result of newly purchased assets during the year.

8. Total payroll expenses have increased by 10,3% to R1,07 billion (2013: R968,2 
million).  The increase in the recurrent payroll expense over and above the 6,5% 
general increase has resulted from the creation of new posts, combined with changes 
in the mix of staff.  Furthermore, a number of posts have been re-graded and revised 
salaries were paid to those staff members who were affected by the re-grading.

9. We want to point out the implementation of IAS 19 during 2013 and the change of 
the accounting policy with regards to the recognition of actuarial losses and gains 
on past employment liabilities, resulted in the re-measurement of the pension fund 
obligation and the post-retirement medical aid obligation and has been disclosed in 
the financial statements.

The key items to highlight in respect of the statement of financial position as at  
31 December 2014 are as follows:

1.  The net book value of property, plant and equipment has increased by R391,8 million 
to R1,656 billion (2013: R1,264 billion).  Additions to land and buildings and leasehold 
improvements were R405,4 million in 2014 which include the purchase of sectional title 
units at Cape Suites to the value of R132,7 million. The remaining additions balance 
relate to the following building projects: HDI Electrical Engineering, Sandenburgh 
Residence Extension, Health & Wellness and Applied Sciences. The moveables 
additions of R49,6 million include R29 million in respect of furniture and equipment 
attributable to the furnishing of new buildings while R18 million is attributable to the 
purchase of computer equipment to replace devices that reached the end of their 
economic useful lives and attempt to continuously provide students with the latest 
technology. The University also purchased new vehicles to the tune of R2,3 million to 
replace the old fleet.

2.  The market value of investments has increased by R139 million to R1, 583 billion 
(2013: R1,444 billion).  It is pleasing to report that we did not have to withdraw funds 
from our investment managers during the year to fund recurring operations.
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3.   The net student fees outstanding (after provisions) at year end amount to 
R116,4 million (2013: R84,4 million).  The student bad debt expense for the 
year (i.e. the movement in the provision and actual write-offs in the year) was 
R42,4 million (2013: R38 million). During 2014, R27,9 million of debt 

 older than five years and deemed irrecoverable, had been written off 
 (2013: R38,8 million).  There has been a deterioration in the outstanding 

student debt balance due to reduced payment levels from the previous 
year.  This situation has been cushioned by the increases in CPUT’s NSFAS 
allocation for 2014 as well as donations for bursaries. The current economic 
climate has made it difficult for our students to reduce the outstanding debt. 
New debt collection agencies were appointed by the university to collect on 
long outstanding debt.  The institution has also implemented a new debit 
order process to encourage students and those responsible for student 
accounts to settle their accounts promptly.

4. Accounts receivable and prepayments decreased from R153,8 million in 
2013 to R53,5 million in 2014.  This can largely be attributed to a significant 
decrease in the amount due from NSFAS at year end (R8,5 million) as 
compared to the same time in 2013 (R113,6 million).  NSFAS has been 
settling our claims more promptly during 2014. This has also impacted 
positively on the cash and cash equivalents which increased to R149,4 
million in 2014 from R114 million in 2013.  

5.  Total interest bearing borrowings have increased from R252,9 million at the 
end of 2013 to R381,7 million at the end of 2014.  This is mainly attributable 
to the new commercial property finance loan of R150 million registered 
in respect of the Cape Suites purchase (refer to note 9 to the financial 
statements). 

 6. The University has been closely monitoring its cash flow requirements 
throughout 2014 and has compiled detailed cash flow projections for 2015 to 
confirm that the institution has sufficient funds to meet its obligations in terms 
of both its normal operations and the major capital commitments in terms of 
the DHET Infrastructure programme.  The slow infrastructure spending has 
also resulted in an improvement in our cashflows. 

7.  It should be noted that in terms of the statement of financial position, current 
assets of R326 million (2013: R359 million) exceeded current liabilities of 
R244 million (2013: R264 million) by R81,1 million. However, R71 million 
(2013: R72 million) of these liabilities is in respect of leave pay and therefore 
does not represent a cash liability unless the staff who represent this leave 
provision, resign or retire from the institution within the next 12 months.   
Furthermore, the University’s investment portfolio is reflected as a non-current 
asset but can be accessed at short notice if required.

8.   The turnaround strategy has been successfully implemented, and the 
University has returned to a positive cashflow position and being self-funding 
(i.e. without the need to utilise the investment portfolio), other than the 
financing of our infrastructure program.

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Current 
ratio 1,33:1 1,36:1 1,19:1 0,59:1 0,65:1

Quick ratio 1,30: 1 1,33:1 1,16:1 0,57:1 0,62:1

Cash ratio 0,61: 1 0,43:1 0,74:1 0,03:1 0,03:1

Net loss on 
Residences 
(million)

R6,5 (R12,8) (R18,3) (R40,6) (R34,1)

Salaries 
as % of 
recurring 
income

53.0% 54,3% 53,5% 54,0% 55,9%

Other 
current 
operating 
expenses 
as % of 
recurring 
income

36,7% 37,4% 36,0% 35,5% 37,8%

State 
subsidies 
as % of 
recurring 
income 

47,0% 49,8% 50,6% 52,5% 53,2%

Tuition and 
other fee 
income 
as % of 
recurring 
income 

34,7% 35,0% 34,6% 32,7% 31,7%

Private 
gifts & 
donations 
as % of 
recurring 
income

5,7%   6,3%  6,6% 6,7% 7,1%

A selected list of financial ratios and extracts from the 
financials for the past five years follows below:

PROF J VOLMINK                                   
Chairperson:	Finance	Committee				

MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting	Executive	Director:	Finance
MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting Executive Director:

PROF J VOLMINK                                   
Chairperson: Finance Committee
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The Council is accountable for the integrity and fair presentation of the annual consolidated 
financial statements of the Cape Peninsula University of Technology.

The annual consolidated financial statements, presented on pages 55 to 90 of this Annual 
Report, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the requirements of the Minister of Higher Education and Training as prescribed by 
the Higher Education Act, 1997 (Act No.101 of 1997 as amended), and include amounts based 
on judgments and estimates made by management. The Council is also responsible for the 
University’s system of internal financial control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the annual consolidated financial statements. The 
Council also prepared other information as required to be included in this Annual Report and is 
responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The “going concern” basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.  Nothing 
has come to the attention of Council to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning 
of the system, procedures and controls has occurred during the year under review. The Council 
also has no reason to believe that CPUT is not a “going concern” in the foreseeable future, 
based on forecasts and available cash resources.  The viability of the Cape Peninsula University 
of Technology is supported by the content of the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent accounting firm, KPMG Inc., 
who were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes 
of meetings of the Council and all its committees.  The Council believes that all representations 
made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements on pages 55 to 90 were approved by the Council of the 
Cape Peninsula University of Technology on 20 June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MR M BIKWANI
Chairperson	of	Council
MR M BIKWANI

MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting	Executive	Director:	Finance

DR P NEVHUTALU
Vice-Chancellor	

MS M GEDULD-JEFTHA
Acting Executive Director: Finance
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2014

	 	 	 2014	 	 	 2013
	 	 Note		 R	 	 	 R

ASSETS

Non-current	assets	 	 	 3	238	324	528	 2	707	498	236

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 2	 1	655	721	710	 1	263	923	173

Available-for-sale	investments	 	 3	 1	582	595	934	 1	443	567	442

Non-current	receivables	 	 4	 6	884	 7	621

Current	assets	 	 	 326	036	565	 359	243	963

Inventory	 	 5	 6	710	620	 6	914	792

Accounts	receivable	and	prepayments	 	 6	 53	518	399	 153	880	029

Student	fees	receivable	 	 7	 116	404	463	 84	418	888

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 8	 149	403	083	 114	030	254

Total	assets	 	 	 3	564	361	093	 3	066	742	199

FUNDS	AND	LIABILITIES

Accumulated	Funds	 	 	 2	000	216	194	 1	785	487	799

Council	controlled	unrestricted	funds	 	 	 1	433	180	142	 	1	382	287	173

Specifically	restricted	funds	 	 	 212	058	257	 106	547	746

Available-for-sale	reserve	 	 	 354	977	795	 296	652	880

Non-current	liabilities	 	 	 	1	319	212	053		 	1	016	529	830

Interest-bearing	borrowings	 	 9	 352	595	521	 229	863	421

Post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	 	 11.2	 399	548	381	 360	839	821

Pension	fund	obligation	 	 11.3	 13	565	362	 20	102	000

Government	grants	–	deferred	income	 	 17.2	–	17.4	 553	502	789	 405	724	588

Current	liabilities	 	 	 244	932	846	 264	724	570

Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 12	 135	461	575		 162	133	902

Employee	leave	liability	 	 11.1	 71	200	770		 72	341	563

Current	portion	of	interest-bearing	borrowings	 	 9	 29	120	501	 23	119	105

Government	grants	–	deferred	income	 	 17.2	–	17.4		 9	150	000		 7	130	000

Total	funds	and	liabilities	 	 	 3	564	361	093	 3	066	742	199
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2014

	 	 	 	 2014	 	 	 2013
	 	 Council	 Specifically	 	 Student	&	staff
	 	 Controlled	 Funded	Activities	 	 Accommodation
	 Note	 Unrestricted	 Restricted	 SUB-TOTAL	 Restricted	 TOTAL	 TOTAL
	 	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R

TOTAL	INCOME	 	 1	553	747	901	 326	913	141	 1	880	661	042	 176	257	262	 2	056	918	304	 2	027	013	733

RECURRENT	REVENUE	 	 1	514	624	984	 324	145	887	 1	838	770	871	 176	266	176	 2	015	037	047	 1	783	492	906

State	appropriations	–	subsidies	and	grants	 13	 890	550	348	 57	512	393	 948	062	741	 -	 948	062	741	 888	762	369

Tuition	and	residence	fees	 	 498	253	037	 29	494	604	 527	747	641	 170	659	012	 698	406	653	 625	054	735

Income	from	contracts:	 	 8	366	185	 56	074	066	 64	440	251	 3	743	000	 68	183	251	 39	162	087

			for	research	 	 2	985	310	 23	598	182	 26	583	492	 -	 26	583	492	 22	607	403

			for	other	activities	 	 5	380	875		 32	475	884		 37	856	759	 	3	743	000		 41	599	759		 16	554	684

Rendering	of	services	 	 36	998	028		 68	928	720		 105	926	748		 -		 105	926	748		 50	467	130

Private	gifts	and	donations	 	 5	145	460		 109	907	665		 115	053	125		 -		 115	053	125		 112	865	076

Sub-total	 	 1	439	313	058		 321	917	448		 1	761	230	506		 174	402	012		 1	935	632	518		 1	716	311	397

Interest	income	and	dividends	 14	 75	311	926		 2	228	439		 77	540	365		 1	864	164		 79	404	529		 67	181	509

NON-RECURRENT	INCOME	 	 39	122	917		 2	767	254		 41	890	171		 (8	914)		 41	881	257		 243	520	827

(Loss)/	profit	on	scrapping/	disposal	of	PPE	 	 (6	668	938)		 (1	955)		 (6	670	893)		 (8	914)		 (6	679	807)		 (7	350	466)

Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments	 3	 35	415	002		 -		 35	415	002		 -		 35	415	002		 240	295	685

Other	non-recurrent	income	 	 10	376	853		 2	769	209		 13	146	062		 -		 13	146	062		 10	575	608

TOTAL	EXPENDITURE	 	 1	504	330	541	 	221	402	630		 1	725	733	171	 169	760	335		 1	895	493	506		 1	733	383	978

RECURRENT	EXPENDITURE	 	 1	499	946	632	 221	402	630		 1	721	349	262	 169	760	335	 1	891	109	597	 1	713	551	552

Personnel	 18	 994	081	510		 57	369	372		 1	051	450	882		 16	115	000		 1	067	565	882		 968	247	186

			Academic	professional	 	 513	117	362		 28	972	971		 542	090	333		 189	867		 542	280	200		 509	465	374

			Other	personnel	 	 480	964	148		 28	396	401		 509	360	549		 15	925	133		 525	285	682		 458	781	812

Other	operating	expenses	 15	 457	549	962		 157	591	238		 615	141	200		 123	436	199		 738	577	399		 666	331	126

Depreciation	 2	 46	371	155		 6	442	020		 52	813	175		 3	616	562		 56	429	737		 55	866	261

Sub-total	 	 1	498	002	627		 221	402	630		 1	719	405	257		 143	167	761		 1	862	573	018		 1	690	444	573

Finance	costs	 16	 1	944	005		 -		 1	944	005	 26	592	574		 28	536	579		 23	106	979

NON-RECURRENT	EXPENDITURE	 	 4	383	909	 -	 4	383	909	 -	 4	383	909		 19	832	426

Impairment	of	investments	 3	 4	383	909		 -		 4	383	909		 -		 4	383	909		 9	145	769

Other	 10.1	 -		 -		 -	 -	 -		 10	686	657

NET	SURPLUS/(LOSS)	FOR	THE	YEAR	 	 49	417	360		 105	510	511		 154	927	871		 6	496	927		 161	424	798		 293	629	755

OTHER	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	 	 53	303	597		 -		 53	303	597		 -		 53	303	597		 (37	769	432)

Items	which	are	subsequently	reclassifiable:
Fair	value	gains	on	available-for-sale	investments	 3	 93	739	917		 -		 93	739	917		 -		 93	739	917		 168	385	693

Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments	 3	 (35	415	002)		 -		 (35	415	002)		 -		 (35	415	002)		 (240	295	685)

Items	which	will	never	be	reclassified	to	surplus/	(loss):
Remeasurements	of	the	pension	fund	obligation	 	 4	992	193		 -		 4	992	193		 -		 4	992	193		 9	048	000

Remeasurements	of	the	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	 	 (10	013	511)		 -		 (10	013	511)		 -		 (10	013	511)		 25	092	560

TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	 	 102	720	957		 105	510	511		 208	231	468		 6	496	927		 214	728	395		 255	860	323

NET	RECURRENT	SURPLUS/	(LOSS)	 	 14	678	352		 102	743	257		 117	421	609		 6	505	841		 123	927	450		 69	941	354
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2013

	 	 	 	 2013
	 	 Council	 Specifically	 	 Student	&	staff
	 	 Controlled	 Funded	Activities	 	 Accommodation
	 Note	 Unrestricted	 Restricted	 SUB-TOTAL	 Restricted	 TOTAL
	 	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R

TOTAL	INCOME	 	 1	672	023	242		 207	927	683		 1	879	950	925		 147	062	808	 2	027	013	733

RECURRENT	REVENUE	 	 1	434	141	168	 202	288	930		 1	636	430	098	 147	062	808	 1	783	492	906

State	appropriations	–	subsidies	and	grants		 13		 844	402	002		 44	360	367		 888	762	369		 -		 888	762	369

Tuition	and	residence	fees		 	 456	209	041		 21	876	836	 	478	085	877		 146	968	858		 625	054	735

Income	from	contracts:		 	 12	005	837		 27	135	540		 39	141	377		 20	710		 39	162	087

for	research		 	 1	955	465		 20	651	938		 22	607	403		 -		 22	607	403

for	other	activities		 	 10	050	372		 6	483	602		 16	533	974		 20	710		 16	554	684

Rendering	of	services		 	 43	634	389		 6	832	741		 50	467	130		 -		 50	467	130

Private	gifts	and	donations		 	 11	597	476		 101	267	600		 112	865	076		 -		 112	865	076

Sub-total		 	 1	367	848	745		 201	473	084		 1	569	321	829		 146	989	568		 1	716	311	397

Interest	income	and	dividends		 14		 66	292	423		 815	846		 67	108	269		 73	240		 67	181	509

NON-RECURRENT	INCOME		 	 237	882	074		 5	638	753		 243	520	827		 -		 243	520	827

Profit	on	scrapping/	disposal	of	PPE		 	 (7	340	204)	 	(10	262)	 	(7	350	466)		 -		 (7	350	466)

Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments		 3		 240	295	685		 -	 	240	295	685	 	-		 240	295	685

Other	non-recurrent	income		 	 4	926	593		 5	649	015		 10	575	608		 -	 	10	575	608

TOTAL	EXPENDITURE		 	 1	401	757	279		 171	763	420		 1	573	520	699	 159	863	279		 1	733	383	978

RECURRENT	EXPENDITURE		 	 1	392	611	510	 171	763	420	 1	564	347930	 149	176	622	 1	713	551	552

Personnel		 18		 920	049	443		 34	046	661		 954	096	104		 14	151	082		 968	247	186

Academic	professional		 	 492	174	764		 17	124	057		 509	298	821		 166	553		 509	465	374

Other	personnel		 	 427	874	679		 16	922	604		 444	797	283		 13	984	529		 458	781	812

Other	operating	expenses		 15		 420	911	859		 133	042	803		 553	954	662		 112	376	464	 666	331	126

Depreciation		 2		 49	273	023		 4	673	956		 53	946	979		 1	919	282		 55	866	261

Sub-total		 	 1	390	234	325		 171	763	420		 1	561	997	745		 128	446	828		 1	690	444	573

Finance	costs		 16		 2	377	185		 -		 2	377	185		 20	729	794		 23	106	979

NON-RECURRENT	EXPENDITURE		 	 9	145	769		 -		 9	145	769		 10	686	657		 19	832	426

Impairment	of	investments		 3		 9	145	769		 -		 9	145	769	 	-		 9	145	769

Other		 10,1		 -		 -	 -	 10	686	657	 10	686	657

NET	SURPLUS/	(LOSS)	FOR	THE	YEAR		 	 270	265	963		 36	164	263		 306	430	226		 (12	800	471)		 293	629	755

OTHER	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME		 	 (37	769	432)	 	-	 	(37	769	432)		 -		 (37	769	432)

Items	which	are	subsequently	reclassifiable	to	surplus/	(loss):
Fair	value	gains	on	available-for-sale	investments		 3		 168	385	693		 -		 168	385	693		 -		 168	385	693

Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments		 3	 	(240	295	685)		 -	 	(240	295	685)		 -	 	(240	295	685)

Items	which	will	never	be	reclassified	to	surplus/	(loss):
Remeasurements	of	the	pension	fund	obligation		 	 9	048	000		 -	 	9	048	000	 	-	 	9	048	000

Remeasurements	of	the	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation		 	 25	092	560		 -		 25	092	560	 	-		 25	092	560

TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME		 	 232	496	531		 36	164	263		 268	660	794		 (12	800	471)		 255	860	323

NET	RECURRENT	SURPLUS/	(LOSS)		 	 41	529	658		 30	525	510		 72	055	168	 	(2	113	814)		 69	941	354
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

	 	 	 Council		 Specifically		 Student	and		 Available		 TOTAL
	 	 	 Controlled		 Restricted		 Staff		 for	Sale
	 	 	 Unrestricted	 Funds		 Accommodation		 Reserve
	 	 	 Funds		 	 Funds
	 	 		 R	 R		 R		 R		 R

Balance	at	31	December	2012	 	 	 	1	090	681	121			 70	383	483	 	-		 		368	562	872			 	1	529	627	476	

Total	comprehensive	income		 	 	 		304	406	523			 36	164	263		 (12	800	471)		 (71	909	992)		 		255	860	323	

Net	surplus/	(loss)	for	the	year		 	 	 	270	265	963		 36	164	263	 	(12	800	471)	 	-		 	293	629	755	

Remeasurements	of	the	pension	fund	obligation		 	 	 9	048	000		 -		 -		 -	 	9	048	000

Remeasurements	of	the	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation		 	 	 25	092	560		 -	 	-	 	-	 	25	092	560

Losses	on	available-for-sale	investments		 	 	 -		 -	 	-	 	(71	909	992)		 (71	909	992)

Transfers	–	(debits)/	credits		 	 	 (12	800	471)		 -		 12	800	471	 	-	 	-

Balance	at	31	December	2013		 	 	 	1	382	287	173			 		106	547	746			 -		 		296	652	880		 	1	785	487	799	

Total	comprehensive	income		 	 	 44	396	042		 105	510	511		 6	496	927		 58	324	915		 	214	728	395	
Net	surplus	for	the	year		 	 	 49	417	360		 105	510	511		 6	496	927		 -		 	161	424	798	
Remeasurements	of	the	pension	fund	obligation		 	 	 4	992	193	 	-		 -		 -		 4	992	193
Remeasurements	of	the	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation		 	 	 (10	013	511)		 -	 	-	 	-		 (10	013	511)
Gains	on	available-for-sale	investments	 	 	 	-	 	-		 -		 58	324	915		 58	324	915

Transfers	–	credits/(debits)		 	 	 6	496	927		 -	 	(6	496	927)		 -		 -

Balance	at	31	December	2014		 	 	 	1	433	180	142			 		212	058	257			 -		 		354	977	795			 	2	000	216	194	
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

	 	 2014	 2013
	 	 	
	 Note		 R	 R

CASH	FLOw	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES

Cash	receipts	from	government		 	 775	653	404		 791	361	592

Cash	receipts	from	students	and	other	customers		 	 1	066	648	344		 700	826	584

Cash	paid	to	employees	and	suppliers		 	 (1	658	946	351)		 (1	496	258	505)

CASH	GENERATED	FROM/(UTILISED	IN)	OPERATIONS	 	 183	355	397	 (4	070	329)

Dividends	received		 14		 18	429	827		 17	328	058

Interest	income		 14		 60	974	702		 49	853	451

Finance	costs		 	 (28	658	494)	 	(22	705	029)

NET	CASH	INFLOw	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES		 	 234	101	432		 40	406	151

CASH	FLOw	FROM	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES

Purchase	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 (455	047	111)		 	(129	594	106)

Proceeds	from	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 139	030		 597	013

Purchase	of	investments		 3		 (162	192	479)		 	(813	597	584)

Proceeds	from	disposals:	investments		 3		 112	519	995		 773	586	048

CASH	UTILISED	IN	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES		 	 (504	580	565)		 	(169	008	629)

CASH	FROM	FINANCING	ACTIVITIES

Proceeds/	(repayment)	of	loans		 	 128	790	362		 (24	650	732)

Infrastructure	grants	received	 17.2	–	17.4		 177	061	600		 92	535	000

CASH	GENERATED	FROM	FINANCING	ACTIVITIES		 	 305	851	962		 67	884	268

INCREASE	IN	CASH	AND	CASH	EqUIVALENTS		 	 35	372	829		 (60	718	210)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year		 	 114	030	254		 174	748	464

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	year		 8		 149	403	083		 114	030	254
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

	 	 2014	 2013
	 	 	
	 Note		 R	 R

RECONCILIATION	OF	NET	SURPLUS	TO	CASH	GENERATED	FROM	OPERATIONS

Net	surplus		 	 161	424	798		 	293	629	755	

Adjusted	for:

Depreciation	on	property,	plant	and	equipment		 2		 56	429	737		 55	866	261

Government	grants	released	to	income		 17.2	–	17.4		 (27	263	399)		 (9	817	555)

Decrease	in	employee	leave	liability		 11.1	 	(1	140	793)		 (9	787	017)

Increase/	(decrease)	in	employee	benefits		 11.2	–	11.3		 32	171	922		 (5	268	305)

Loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 6	679	807		 7	350	466

Interest	income		 14		 (60	974	702)		 	(49	853	451)

Dividends	received		 14		 (18	429	827)		 	(17	328	058)

Finance	costs		 16		 28	536	579		 23	106	979

Impairment	of	investments		 	 4	383	909		 9	145	769

Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments	 	 	(35	415	002)		 	(240	295	685)

Remeasurement	of	the	pension	fund	obligation	 	 4	992	193		 9	048	000

Remeasurement	of	the	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	 	 (10	013	511)		 25	092	560

	 	 141	381	711		 90	889	719

CHANGES	IN	wORkING	CAPITAL

Accounts	receivables,	student	fees,	non-current	receivables	and	prepayments			 68	376	793		 	(137	675	207)

Inventories		 	 204	172		 (496	712)

Accounts	payable,	accrued	liabilities	and	student	deposits		 	 (26	607	279)		 43	211	871

CASH	GENERATED	FROM/	(UTILISED	IN)	OPERATIONS		 	 183	355	397		 (4	070	329)
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1	 Basis	of	preparation	and	
accounting	policies

1.1	 general	information	and	Basis	of	
preparation
The Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology was established on 1 
January 2005 with the merger of
the former Peninsula and Cape 
Technikons and is domiciled in South 
Africa. The University’s registered 
office is at the Administration Building, 
Symphony Road, Bellville South, 7530.

The annual financial statements of 
the University for the year ended 31 
December 2014 were authorised for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of 
Council on 20 June 2015.

The principal activities of the University 
relate to teaching, research and the 
providing of residential accommodation 
to students.

statement	of	compliance
The financial statements of the Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology  
have been prepared in accordance with 
and comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and, in 
the manner required by the Minister of 
Higher Education and Training in terms 
of S41 of the Higher Education Act 101 
1997 (as amended).

Basis	of	preparation
The accounting policies set out below 
are consistent with those applied in 
the previous year except as stated 
below. The financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern 
and historical cost basis, except where 
stated otherwise (refer accounting 
policies). The financial statements are 
presented in Rands and all amounts 
rounded to the nearest Rand.

change	in	accounting	policies	
The following IFRS standards 
and statements applicable to the 
University’s activities have been revised 
or amended and are applicable in the 
current year.  
• IAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities (effective     
1 January 2014)  

• IAS 36: Recoverable amount 
disclosures for Non-financial Assets 
(effective 1 January 2014)

• IAS 39: Notivation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting 
(effective 1 January 2014) 

• IFRIC 21: Levies (effective 1 January 
2014)    
  

The following Standards and 
Interpretations have been issued but 
are not yet effective. They have not 
been early adopted by the University.

• IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative (effective  
1 January 2016) 

• IAS  27: Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements (effective        
1 January 2016)

• IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation (effective              
1 January 2016)

• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
(effective 1 January 2018)

• IFRS 10: Investment entities 
exemption (effective 1 January 2016)

• IFRS 11: Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interest in Joint 
Operations (effective 1 January 
2016)  

• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts (effective 1 January 2016)

• IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts 
with customers (effective 1 January 
2017)  

• IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale of 
Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint         
Venture (effective 1 January 2016) 
 

The application of these standards is 
expected to have no impact on the 
reported numbers of the University, but 
will lead to additional disclosure.  
  
defined	Benefit	plans:	employee
contributions	(amendments	to	
ias	19) 
The amendments introduce relief that 
will reduce the complexity and burden 
of accounting for certain contributions 
from employees or third parties. Such 
contributions are eligible for practical 
expedient if they are:
• set out in the formal terms of the  

plan;
• linked to service; and
• independent of the number of years 

of service    
   

When contributions are eligible for 
the practical expedient, a company 
is permitted (but not required) to 
recognise them as a reduction of the 
service cost in the period in which the 
related service is rendered. The Group 
has a defined benefit plan that requires 
employees to contribute to the plan, 
if the Group chooses to apply this 
amendment, the Group will recognise 
the contributions as reduction of the 
service costs in the period in which 
the related service is rendered. The 
amendments apply retrospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2015 with early adoption 
permitted.     
    
ifrs	9	financial	instruments
On 24 July 2014, the IASB issued 
the final IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
Standard, which replaces earlier 
versions of IFRS 9 and completes 
the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.    
   
The standard will have a significant 
impact on the University, which will 
include changes in the measurement 
bases of the University’s financial 
assets to amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
or fair value through profit or loss. Even 
though these measurement categories 
are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for 
classification into these categories are 
significantly different. In addition, the 
IFRS 9 impairment model has been 
changed from an “incurred loss” model 
from IAS 39 to an “expected credit loss” 
model, which is expected to increase 
the provision for bad debts recognised 
in the University.

The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018 with retrospective application, 
early adoption is permitted.  
    

1.2	 significant	accounting	judgements	
and	estimates  
Judgements
In the process of applying the 
University’s accounting policies, 
management has made certain 
judgements apart from those involving 
estimations, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements 
as discussed below.  Management 
assesses the University’s assets and 
liabilities based on the criteria at the 
reporting date to reach the appropriate 
conclusions in this regard.  
  
estimation	uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning 
the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities as well as the release of 
income with respect to these assets, 
within the next financial year are
set out below.

 

investments    
The University classifies certain assets 
as available-for-sale and recognises 
movements in their fair value in other 
comprehensive income.  When the fair 
value declines, management makes 
assumptions about the decline in value 
to determine whether it is an impairment 
that should be recognised in income 
and expenses.  An investment is 
considered impaired if either; the fair 
value at year end is more than 30% 
below original cost; or the fair value is 
below cost for a period of greater than 
12 months.  At 31 December 2014 
impairment losses of R4 383 909 (2013: 
R9 145 769) have been recognised 
for available-for-sale investments.  
The carrying value of investments at          
31 December 2014 was  R1 582 595 
934 (2013: R1 443 567 442) refer Note 
3.    
 
depreciation    
At each reporting date management 
reviews the assets within property, plant 
and equipment to assess whether the 
useful lives and residual values applied 
to each asset category are appropriate.  
With the exception of motor vehicles 
residual values have generally 
been assumed to be nil as it is the 
University’s intention to fully consume 
assets through use.  In determining 
the expected useful lives of individual 
assets management has considered the 
University’s historical patterns of usage 
as well as future expected usage.  The 
estimates for the expected useful lives 
of buildings have been based upon 
the nature and use of the buildings 
concerned and the type of construction 
and materials used in construction.  The 
carrying value of property, plant and 
equipment at 31 December 2014 was 
R1 655 721 710 (2013: R1 263 923 
173).  Refer to Note 2 for further detail.
  
post-retirement	medical	aid	benefit	
obligation   
The University’s future obligation in 
respect of post-retirement medical aid 
contributions is actuarially valued based 
on the projected unit credit method. 
For the purpose of the valuation at 
31 December 2014 key assumptions 
were made in respect of the discount 
rate, expected inflation on medical aid 
contributions, actual return on plan 
assets, expected age of retirements and 
mortality rates. More details on these 
assumptions are provided in Note 11.2.     
 
The carrying value of the post retirement 
medical aid obligations at 31 December 
2014 is a liability of R399 548 381 
(2013: R360 839 821).

pension	fund	obligation
The University provides for its 
obligations relating to guaranteed 
benefits in respect of certain 
employees who are members of the 
National Tertiary Retirement Fund.  
The University’s future obligation 
in respect of this pension fund 
obligation is actuarially valued based 
on the projected unit credit method. 
For the purpose of the valuation at                  
31 December 2014 key assumptions 
were made in respect of the discount 
rate, expected salary and pension fund 
increases, expected return on plan 
assets, expected age of retirements and 
mortality rates. More details on these 
assumptions are provided in Note 11.3.   
  
The carrying value of the obligation as at 
31 December 2014 was
R13 565 362 (2013: R20 102 000).  
 
student	fees	receivable  
Management estimates the amounts 
that it expects to recover from 
outstanding balances based upon the 
age profile of the debts outstanding, 
payment trends experienced in both the 
current and prior years, and the levels 
of student registration and payments 
received from outstanding students post 
year end.  A provision for impairment is 
raised based on these estimates. The 
carrying value of student fees receivable 
at 31 December 2014 was
R116 404 463 (2013: R84 418 888) 
refer Note 7.   
 

1.3	 segment	information	  
Segmentation provided in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
of these financial statements is in terms 
of the guidelines prescribed by the 
Department of Higher Education and 
Training (DHET) and is not required in 
terms of IFRS 8.  
 

 A segment is a recognised component 
of the University that is engaged in 
providing products or services that are 
subject to risks and returns different 
from those of other segments. 
 
The operating businesses are managed 
separately but fall under the oversight 
of the Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology executive leadership.   
    
council	controlled  
The Council controlled segment 
predominantly represents the teaching 
component of the Cape Peninsula 
University of Technology. Decision 
making rights relating to income earned 
in this segment rests with Council.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2014

specifically	funded	activities	
restricted
The specifically funded activities 
restricted consist mainly of research 
activity and bursary donations. Here 
decision making rights over income 
earned and related expenses rest 
with researchers. Council retains an 
oversight role in regard to ensuring that 
expenditure is in accordance with the 
mandate received from funders.  
    
student	and	staff	housing 
Student and staff housing relates 
to the provision of accommodation 
to students. The availability of this 
accommodation being a strategic 
initiative aimed at ensuring that students 
adopt the Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology as their preferred place of 
study.    
  
statement	of	changes	in	funds
The total comprehensive income 
generated in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income segments is 
further allocated into additional funds 
within the Statement of Changes in 
Funds.  Council controlled funds are 
allocated between unrestricted funds 
and designated funds, whereby the 
Council sets aside specific funds 
for designated purposes. Transfers 
between these funds are an internal 
allocation by the University and have no 
effect on income and expenses. 
 
1.3.1	 accumulated	funds	

council	controlled	unrestricted	
funds	reserve

 This reserve predominantly 
represents the cumulative 
net surplus of the teaching 
component of the Cape Peninsula 
University of Technology. The net 
(loss)/ surplus for the year for the 
student and staff accommodation 
is included here.    
 

 specifically	restricted	funds	
reserve

 This reserve comprises the 
cumulative net surplus of 
specifically funded activities.  
  

 available-for-sale	reserve
 This reserve comprises the 

cumulative net change in the 
fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets until the assets 
are derecognised or impaired. 
   

1.4	 foreign	currency	translation  
The financial statements are presented 
in Rands, which is the University’s 
functional and presentation currency.  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies 
are initially recorded in the exchange 
currency rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction.    
 

Monetary	assets	and	liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date. All 
differences are taken to net surplus or 
loss in the year in which they arise.  
 
Non-monetary items carried at cost are 
translated using the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction, whilst assets 
carried at fair value are translated at 
the exchange rate when the fair value 
was determined. When a gain or loss 
on a non-monetary item is recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income, 
any exchange component of that gain 
or loss shall be recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income. 
Conversely, when a gain or loss on 
a non-monetary item is recognised 
directly in net surplus or loss, any 
exchange component of that gain or 
loss shall be recognised directly in net 
surplus or loss.  
 

1.5		 revenue	recognition	 	  
Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received, or receivable 
excluding discounts, rebates and VAT. 
Revenue is recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the University and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. 
The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:   
 
state	appropriations	–	subsidies	and	
grants	 	 	
government	grants	relating	to	
revenue	   
State subsidy and grants for general 
purposes are recognised in surplus or 
loss as revenue in the financial year 
in which they become receivable. 
Subsidies and grants for specific 
research purposes are recognised 
in surplus or loss as revenue in 
the financial period in which they 
become receivable to the University in 
accordance with the relevant grants and 
agreements. Such subsidies and grants 
are presented separately as revenue in 
surplus or loss. Subsidies and grants 
relating to specific expenses incurred 
by the University are not offset from the 
related expenses, but are presented 
separately as revenue in surplus or 
loss.  

government	grants	relating	to	assets 
When a grant relates to an asset, the 
fair value is credited to a deferred 
income account and is released to 
income over the expected useful life 
of the relevant asset on a systematic 
basis.
 
designated	income	from	contracts,	
private	gifts	and	donations 
Revenue received for designated 
specific purposes arises from contracts, 

private gifts and donations. Such 
revenue is recognised in the financial 
period in which they become receivable 
to the University in accordance with 
the conditions attached to the relevant 
agreement.    

Income from contracts for research 
activity is recognised over the duration 
of the associated research activity as 
determined with reference to the stage 
of completion. 

Stage of completion is determined on 
a cost or time- apportionment basis.  
Revenue from contracts for other 
activities is recognised when such 
activities occur.  
 
Private gifts and donations, whether 
of cash or assets, are recognised as 
revenue in the period they are received 
or receivable only when the University 
obtains control of these funds, the right 
to receive it or it is probable that the 
economic benefits comprising these 
funds will flow to the University and the 
amount of the private gifts and donations 
can be measured reliably. 

Private gifts and grants with restrictions 
or conditions attached are recognised 
as income if the restrictions and 
conditions are under the entity’s 
purview and it is probable that these 
restrictions and conditions would be 
met. Alternatively, these funds are 
recognised as deferred income until the 
above criteria are fulfilled or when the 
restrictions or conditions expire. 

Income is recognised at the fair value 
of the private gifts and donations 
received or receivable. Private gifts 
and donations in the form of services 
are measured at the fair value of the 
services received or the fair value of 
the asset enhancement resulting from 
the services. Fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. 
 
tuition	and	residence	fees 
Tuition and residence fees charged are 
applicable to one academic and financial 
year and are recognised in  revenue 
in the period to which they relate on a 
stage of completion basis determined on 
a time-apportionment basis.  
    
interest	income  
Revenue is recognised as interest 
accrues (using the effective interest 
method that is the rate that discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset).  
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dividends    
Dividends are recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established. 
 

	 rendering	of	services  
Various academic departments render 
a range of services to industry. Revenue 
from rendering of these services is 
recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion, determined on a cost 
or time-apportionment basis, as 
appropriate of the services involved. 

1.6	 retirement	benefits	  
defined	contribution	retirement	plan	 
Employer contributions to the Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology 
Retirement Fund (previously known as
the Cape Technikon Retirement Fund) 
are recognised as expenses as the 
related service is provided. 
 
defined	contribution	and	defined	
benefit	retirement	plan	   
Employer contributions to the National 
Tertiary Retirement Fund (NTRF) are 
recognised as expenses as the related 
service is provided.  
 
Whilst the retirement scheme essentially 
operates as a defined contribution plan, 
the institution has an obligation to fund 
an actuarially calculated deficit that 
arose in the previous State Administered 
Pension Fund with respect to certain 
employees. Those members who 
transferred from the State Administered 
Pension fund to the NTRF are entitled 
to guaranteed benefits upon retirement.  
The defined benefit retirement plan is 
also funded and the defined benefit 
obligation is reduced by the fair value 
of the plan assets. The net obligation 
is calculated separately for each 
plan by estimating the amount of the 
future benefit that the employees have 
earned in the current and prior periods, 
discounting that amount and deducting 
the fair vaue of any plan assets.   
     
The costs incurred in respect of these 
pension fund obligations are charged as 
an expense, as the employee renders 
the service.  The present value of the 
pension fund obligation is actuarially 
determined annually using the projected 
unit credit method in accordance with 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits.  The liability 
is recognised at the reporting date.

When the calculation results in a 
potential asset, the recognised asset 
is limited to the present value of 
economic benefits available in the form 
of any future refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the 
plan. To calculate the present value of 
the economic benefits, consideration 
is given to any applicable minimum 
funding requirements.  
    
Remeasurements of the net defined 
benefit liability, which comprise actuarial 

gains and losses, the return on  
plan assets (excluding interest) and 
the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, 
excluding interest), are immediately 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI). The institution determines 
the net interest expense/(income) on 
the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 
for the period by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the annual period to the then net 
defined benefit liability/(asset) during the 
period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense 
and other expenses related to defined 
benefit plans are recognised in surplus 
or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are 
changed or when a plan is curtailed, 
the resulting change in benefit that 
relates to past service or the gain 
or loss on curtailment is recognised 
immediately in surplus or loss. The 
institution recognises gains or losses on 
the settlement of a defined benefit plan 
when the settlement occurs. 

post-retirement	medical	aid	
obligations
The Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology has an obligation to provide 
certain post retirement medical aid 
benefits to its eligible employees and 
pensioners.  The University is required 
to provide a defined amount of
the medical aid contribution due.  One 
of the University’s plans is funded with a 
plan asset.

Other staff members elected to take 
out individual retirement annuities 
which will be used to fund their medical 
aid obligation upon retirement. The 
institution provides these staff members 
with a monthly allowance to enable 
them to fund these individual retirement 
annuities.   
 
The costs of providing post-retirement 
medical aid benefits are determined 
using the projected unit credit 
method.   

When the calculation results in a 
potential asset, the recognised asset 
is limited to the present value of 
economic benefits available in the form 
of any future refunds from the plan or 
reductions in future contributions to the 
plan. To calculate the present value of 
the economic benefits, consideration 
is given to any applicable minimum 
funding requirements. The net obligation 
is calculated separately for each 
plan by estimating the amount of the 
future benefit that the employees have 
earned in the current and prior periods, 
discounting that amount and deducting 
the fair value of any plan assets. 
 
Remeasurements of the net defined 

benefit liability, which comprise actuarial 
gains and losses, the return on  
plan assets (excluding interest) and 
the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, 
excluding interest), are immediately 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income (OCI). The institution determines 
the net interest expense/(income) on 
the net defined benefit liability/ (asset) 
for the period by applying the discount 
rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning 
of the annual period to the then net 
defined benefit liability/(asset) during the 
period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense 
and other expenses related to defined 
benefit plans are recognised in surplus 
or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are 
changed or when a plan is curtailed, 
the resulting change in benefit that 
relates to past service or the gain 
or loss on curtailment is recognised 
immediately in surplus or loss. The 
institution recognises gains or losses on 
the settlement of a defined benefit plan 
when the settlement occurs. 
 
1.7	 Borrowing	costs   
Borrowing costs are accrued based on 
the effective interest rate. Borrowing 
costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or 
production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get 
ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of that 
asset. All other borrowing costs are 
recognised as an expense.

1.8	 research	costs  
Research costs are expensed as 
incurred and is included in other 
operating expenses.

1.9	 property,	plant	and	equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are 
initially recognised when it is probable 
that future economic benefits will
flow to the University and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. Property, 
plant and equipment are initially 
measured at cost.  The cost of an asset 
comprises the purchase price and any 
costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to operate as intended 
by management.

Subsequently, property plant and 
equipment is measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and net of 
any accumulated impairment losses. 
Subsequent costs are included in 
the asset’s carrying amount or are 
recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to 
the University and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.  Maintenance 
and repairs, which do not meet these 
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criteria, are recognised in surplus or loss 
as incurred. Donated items of property, 
plant and equipment are initially 
recognised at fair value of the asset 
received. Land is not depreciated as it is 
deemed to have an indefinite life. 

Property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis 
estimated to write each asset down 
to its estimated residual value over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets 
which range as follows: 

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date. 
 
If significant parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different 
useful lives then they are 
accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation commences when an 
asset is available for use, i.e. when 
it is in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by 
management.  Depreciation ceases at 
the earlier date that the asset is either 
classified as held for sale or the asset is 
derecognised.  

An item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) 
is included in surplus or loss in the year 
the asset is derecognised.  
 

1.10	 impairment	of	non-financial	assets
The University assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the University makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount. 
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. Value in use 
is the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset 
or cash generating unit. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount and impaired 
losses recognised in surplus or loss. 

An assessment is made at each 
reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount 
is estimated. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there 
has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. If that is the case 
the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal 
is recognised in net surplus.

After such a reversal the depreciation 
charge is adjusted in future periods to 
allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on 
a systematic basis over its remaining 
useful life.

1.11	 financial	assets	and	liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are initially 
recognised on the statement of financial 
position when the University becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.  The trade date method 
of accounting has been adopted for 
“regular way” purchase or sale of 
financial assets.  The trade date is the 
date that an enterprise commits to 
purchase or sell an asset.  A “regular 
way” contract is a contract for the 
purchase or sale of financial assets that 
require delivery of the assets within the 
time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the market 
place concerned.  

Financial assets are classified as either 
loans and receivables or available-for-
sale financial assets, as appropriate. 
The University determines the 
classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition and, where allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
designation at each financial year-
end. 

Financial assets and liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value including 
transaction costs.  Subsequent to 
initial recognition the measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities depends 
upon the classification of instrument as 
follows: 

loans	and	receivables  
Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets comprise student fees, NSFAS, 
trade, government, other and accounts 
receivable in terms of contracts and 
loans to employees.  These assets are 

initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in 
net surplus or loss when the loans 
and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process.  
 
available-for-sale	financial	assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are 
those non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available-for-
sale or are not classified in any of the 
three preceding categories. Such 
assets are comprised of investments 
in listed equity shares, quoted interest 
bearing corporate and government 
bonds, quoted unit trusts and money 
market deposits. After initial recognition 
available-for-sale financial assets are 
measured at fair value with gains or 
losses being recognised as other 
comprehensive income in the available-
for-sale reserve until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired at which time 
the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in other comprehensive income 
is included in income and expenses. The 
fair value of investments that are actively 
traded in organised financial markets 
is determined by reference to quoted 
market prices at the close of business on 
the reporting date.  

cash	and	cash	equivalents	
Cash and cash equivalents are initially 
measured at fair value.  They are 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. Cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash on hand, short-term 
deposits and balances at banks, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts for purposes 
of the Statement of Cash Flows.  
  
financial	liabilities  
Financial liabilities are comprised of 
trade payables and accrued expenses, 
student creditors and deposits, other 
payables and interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings.   
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
rate method.  Gains and losses are 
recognised in net surplus or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.  
  
Students with credit balances and 
upfront deposits by current and 
prospective students are treated as 
current liabilities until the amount is 
settled as due.  Student creditors 
and deposits are initially measured at 
fair value being the amount received. 
They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in net surplus or loss 

	 USEFUL	LIFE
Land	 Indefinite
Buildings	 5	to	200	years
Leasehold	Improvements	 Lease	period
Motor	vehicles	 5	to	20	years
Furniture	and	equipment	 1	to	20	years
Computer	equipment	 3	to	12	years
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when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the amortisation 
process.    

Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings 
are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The 
interest expense is recognised using 
the effective interest rate method.  
Gains and losses are recognised in net 
surplus or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amount reported on the 
statement of financial position when 
there is a currently legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention  to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities on a net 
basis.

1.12	 derecognition	of	financial	assets	and	
liabilities

	 financial	assets   
A financial asset (or, where applicable 
a part of a financial asset or part of 
a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from 

the asset have expired;
• the University retains the right to 

receive cash flows from the asset, 
but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement, or

• the University has transferred its 
rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset and either 
(a)  has transferred substantially 

all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or 

(b)  has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the 
asset. 

    

financial	liabilities  
A financial liability is derecognised 
when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or  
expires.

Where an existing financial liability is 
replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability, and 
the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in net surplus 
or loss.
  

1.13	 impairment	of	financial	assets
 The University assesses at each 

reporting date whether a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.  A financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred if, there 
is objective evidence of impairment 
as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after initial recognition 
of the asset (a “loss event”) and that 
loss event has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset and can be reliably 
estimated.  Evidence of impairment 
may include indications that debtors 
or a group of debtors are experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default 
or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they 
will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and where observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future 
cashflows, such as changes in arrears 
or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.     
 
assets	carried	at	amortised	cost 
If there is objective evidence that 
an impairment loss on loans and 
receivables carried at amortised cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit 
losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the original effective 
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition). The 
carrying amount of the asset shall be 
reduced either directly or through use 
of an allowance account. The amount 
of the loss shall be recognised in net 
surplus or loss.

   

The University first assesses whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant, and individually 
or collectively for financial assets that 
are not individually significant. If it is 
determined that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, the asset is included 
in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and that 
group of financial assets is collectively 
assessed for impairment. Assets that 
are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is 
or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of 
impairment. If, in a subsequent period, 
the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed. Any subsequent 
reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in net surplus or loss, to 
the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortised 
cost at the reversal date.  
 
available-for-sale	financial	
assets 
Where there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired, the 
cumulative loss is removed from other 
comprehensive income and recognised 
in net surplus or loss. The cumulative 
loss is the difference between the 
acquisition cost less any impairment 
losses previously recognised. In the 
case of equity investments classified 
as available-for-sale, objective 
evidence would include a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment below cost. ‘Significant’ is 
evaluated against the original cost of the 
investment and ‘prolonged’ against the 
period in which the fair value has been 
below its original cost.  

If, in a subsequent period, the fair 
value of a debt instrument classified 
as available for sale increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to 
an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in net surplus 
or loss, the impairment loss shall 
be reversed, with the amount of the 
reversal recognised in net surplus 
or loss.    
   
Impairment losses on equity 
investments are not reversed through 
net surplus or loss, increases in their fair 
value after impairment are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive 
income. 
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1.14	 inventories    
Inventories are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is the replacement cost 
of the inventories. Cost is determined 
on the weighted average method.  The 
cost of inventories comprises of all 
costs of purchase,costs of conversion 
and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and 
condition.   
 

 Jewellery is loaned to the University 
for use by students. The jewellery is 
accounted for as inventory and is valued 
at its market value on the date it is 
received. It is subsequently remeasured 
to fair value at the end of each year 
with fair value changes recognised 
directly in comprehensive income. A 
corresponding liability is raised and is 
included in accounts payable.   
   

1.15	 provisions	   
Provisions are recognised when the 
University has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  

 The expense relating to any provision 
net of any reimbursement is presented 
in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in 
the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money.   
  

1.16	 expenditure	recognition	  
Expenditure is recognised as incurred 
on an accrual basis.  
 

1.17	 leases   
The determination of whether an 
arrangement is, or contains a lease 
is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date 
of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use 
of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset. A reassessment is made after 
inception of the lease only if one of the 
following applies:  
 
(a) There is a change in contractual 

terms, other than a renewal or 
extension of the arrangement;

(b) A renewal option is exercised or 
extension granted, unless the term of 
the renewal or extension was initially 
included in the lease term;

(c) There is a change in the 
determination of whether fulfilment 
is dependant on a specified asset; 
or 

(d) There is a substantial change to the 
asset.   
 

 Where a reassessment is made, 
lease accounting shall commence or 
cease from the date when the change 
in circumstances gave rise to the 
reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) 
and at the date of renewal or extension 
period for scenario (b).  
 

 Leases of property, plant and equipment 
where the University assumes 
substantially all the benefits and risk 
of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised 
at the lower of the fair value of the asset 
at inception date or the present value of 
the minimum lease payments.  
 

 Each minimum lease payment is 
allocated between liability and finance 
charges to achieve a constant rate 
on the finance balance outstanding. 
The corresponding rental obligations, 
net of finance charges, are included 
in interest-bearing borrowings. 
The interest element of the finance 
charges is charged to the statement 
of comprehensive income over the 
lease period. The property, plant and 
equipment acquired under finance 
leasing contracts are depreciated over 
the shorter of the useful life of the 
assets or the lease term, only if there 
is no reasonable certainty that the 
University will obtain ownership at the 
end of the lease term.   
 

 Leases of assets under which all 
the risks and benefits of ownership 
are effectively retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases.  
Payments made under operating 
leases are charged as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.  Any contingent rental 
expenses are accounted for as incurred. 
Any difference that arises between the 
straight line basis and contractual cash 
flows is recognised as an operating 
lease obligation or asset.  
 

 When an operating lease is terminated 
before the lease period has expired, any 
payment required to be made to the 
lessor by way of penalty is recognised 
as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.   
 

1.18	 other	employee	related	liabilities  
short-term	employee	benefits  
The University’s staff members in the 
case of death, who belong to the Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology 
Retirement Fund (CPUTRF) qualify for 
spouse’s insurance cover amounting to 
twice the staff members’ annual salary, 
whilst the National Tertiary Retirement 

 Fund (NTRF) members qualify for 
insurance cover of thrice their annual 
salary and spouse’s cover of twice 
the members’ annual salary. This is in 
respect of married/co-habiting staff, 
whilst single staff members have life 
cover of 5 times their annual salary in 
respect of the NTRF.  
 

 other	long-term	employee	benefits
 Certain staff members of the two 

heritage institutions (Cape and 
Peninsula Technikons) qualify for certain 
post-retirement medical aid benefits 
(refer Note 11.2) and pension fund 
benefits (refer Note 11.3). In some 
cases the institution will contribute either 
50%, 66,67% or 100% of the medical 
aid contributions to an approved 
scheme upon retirement, whilst in the 
case of other qualifying members the 
University is paying a monthly
allowance to those staff members to 
enable them to purchase a retirement 
annuity which they could utilise upon
retirement towards their medical aid 
contributions. The cost pertaining to 
these benefits is expensed during the
period. With regards to staff members 
of the NTRF who qualify for defined 
benefits upon retirement, the University 
pays the shortfall as calculated by 
the actuaries, into the members’ fund 
during the year of retirement. The 
related cost is expensed during that 
period.   
 
post-employment	benefits 
Qualifying staff members who were 
employed at the University prior to        
1 January 2005, accrue leave at a rate
of 12 days per annum and are entitled 
to encash those 12 days on an annual 
basis. 

The accumulative leave is limited to 120 
days. Upon termination of employment, 
the unutilised portion of this 
accumulative leave is paid to the staff 
member at the rate of pay prevailing at 
the termination date.
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																2013	 Land	and	 Leasehold	 Furniture	and	 Computer	 Motor	 TOTAL
	 buildings	 improvements	 equipment	 equipment	 Vehicles
	 R		 R		 R		 R		 R		 R

COST

Cost	1	January	2013	 	1	180	465	230			 25	128	560		 259	266	554		 	131	804	546			 	12	910	723			 	1	609	575	613	

Additions		 84	526	308		 -		 22	805	615		 	21	372	164			 890	019		 129	594	106

Disposals/	Scrapping		 	 	 (8	641	362)		 	(6	521	897)		 -		 (15	163	259)

Reclassification		 -		 -		 7	686	462		 	(7	686	462)		 -		 -

Cost	31	December	2013		 	1	264	991	538			 25	128	560		 281	117	269	 		138	968	351			 	13	800	742			 	1	724	006	460	

ACCUMULATED	DEPRECIATION

Balance	1	January	2013		 	164	786	460			 8	288	845		 145	120	790		 	86	980	533			 	6	256	178			 411	432	806

Depreciation	charge		 17	329	058		 817	763		 16	060	049		 	20	515	777			 	1	143	614			 55	866	261

Disposals/	Scrapping		 -		 -		 (2	127	813)	 		(5	022	984)	 	(64	983)		 (7	215	780)

Reclassification		 (2	744	878)		 2	744	878		 -		 -	 	-		 -

Balance	31	December	2013	 		179	370	640			 11	851	486		 159	053	026		 	102	473	326			 	7	334	809			 460	083	287

Carrying	value	31	December	2013	 	1	085	620	898			 13	277	074		 122	064	243		 	36	495	025			 	6	465	933			 	1	263	923	173	

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2		 property,	plant	and	equipMent

																2014	 Land	and	 Leasehold	 Furniture	and	 Computer	 Motor	 TOTAL
	 buildings	 improvements	 equipment	 equipment	 Vehicles
	 R		 R		 R		 R		 R		 R

COST

Cost	1	January	2014	 	1	264	991	538			 25	128	560		 281	117	269		 	138	968	351			 	13	800	742			 	1	724	006	460	

Additions	 		405	438	022			 -		 29	343	119		 	17	954	794			 	2	311	176			 455	047	111

Disposals/	Scrapping		 (2	285	631)		 -		 (3	494	610)		 (938	167)		 	(2	777	787)		 (9	496	195)

Cost	31	December	2014		 	1	668	143	929			 25	128	560		 306	965	778		 	155	984	978			 	13	334	131			 	2	169	557	376	

ACCUMULATED	DEPRECIATION

Balance	1	January	2014		 	179	370	640			 11	851	486		 159	053	026		 	102	473	326			 	7	334	809			 460	083	287

Depreciation	charge		 20	427	138		 293	969	 20	125	475	 		14	129	742			 	1	453	413			 56	429	737

Disposals/	Scrapping		 (623	103)		 -	 	(870	614)		 (727	215)		 (456	426)	 	(2	677	358)

Balance	31	December	2014		 	199	174	675			 12	145	455		 178	307	887		 	115	875	853			 	8	331	796			 513	835	666

Carrying	value	31	December	2014	 	1	468	969	254			 12	983	105	 	128	657	891		 	40	109	125			 	5	002	335			 	1	655	721	710	

2		 property,	plant	and	equipMent

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2013
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2		 property,	plant	and	
equipMent
A register of land and buildings is 
available for inspection at the business 
address. The University is not permitted 
to dispose of, or otherwise alienate, its 
land and buildings without the approval 
of the Minister of Education. 
 
The balance for land and buildings 
includes R54 773 032 (2013: R54 773 
032) in respect of land.  There were no 
additions to the land balances in the 
current year.   
 
total	land   
The University purchased land on 
Caledon Street for R30 893 152 in 
November 2009 and entered into a 
lease agreeement with developers 
to build a residence on this land and 
once completed the University would 
commence lease payments over a 15 
year period after which ownership of the 
buildings will revert to the University.
The building was completed in February 
2011 and monthly lease payments 
commenced on 1 March 2011. The 

monthly lease payments escalate at 8% 
per annum over the life of the lease. 
From an accounting perspective the 
lease is treated as a finance lease and 
the buildings are valued based on the 
present value of future lease payments. 
The future lease payments have been 
discounted using an interest rate of 
9,5%.  As a result the University has 
raised an asset of R148 132 748 and 
a matching lease liability was raised at 
the commencement of the lease (refer 
Note 9).

CPUT in terms of its approval process 
obtained approval from both its Council 
as well as the Minister of Higher 
Education and Training to purchase the 
property referred to as the Welgelegen 
Sectional Title Scheme for a total 
purchase price of R143,5 million (100% 
ownership). 

In February 2014, CPUT entered into 
a Sale agreement to purchase all 
the sectional title units at Cape Suites 
and on 12 June 2014, the University 
purchased all the sectional title 

units (bar eight) for an amount of 
R132,7 million.

Other land and buildings additions 
relate to the HDI Electrical Engineering, 
Sandenburgh Residence Extension, 
Health and Wellness, and Applied 
Sciences building projects.

The Cape Peninsula University of 
Technology’s accumulated leasehold 
improvements of R12 031 165 (2013: 
R12 325 133) consist of improvements 
to the buildings and residences at the 
Mowbray and Wellington campuses 
which are currently owned by the 
Western Cape Education Department 
and are in the process of being 
transferred into Cape Peninsula 
University of Technology ownership.

Accumulated leasehold improvements 
of R951 940 (2013: R 951 940) consist 
of improvements to the Thomas 
Patullo building as well as buildings 
and residences leased from Tygerberg 
Hospital and the Western Cape College 
of Nursing in Athlone.

All investments are classified as 
available-for-sale investments. 
Investments are comprised of 
investments in equities and interest 
bearing bonds which are all listed on 
recognised markets.  In addition, funds 
are held in a variety of money market 
deposit accounts.  Consequently, 
there are no fixed maturity dates 
or significant terms and conditions 
attached to the investments.

The University pledged a portion of the 
investment portfolio managed by Oasis 
Asset Management as security against 
a loan facility with Standard Bank of SA 
Ltd. This loan facility was fully repaid on 
30 September 2014.

The University has pledged a maximum 
of R100 000 000 of the investment 
portfolio managed by Pan African 
Asset Management as security against 

a new loan facility of R150 000 000 
with the Development Bank of 
Southern Africa. As at 31 December 
2014 the outstanding balance of this 
loan facility was R92 771 736 (2013: 
R109 639 325).

The market value of this investment 
portfolio at 31 December 2014 is 
R217 300 815 (2013: R200 898 683).

3		 availaBle-for-sale	investMents																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Opening balance		  1 443 567 442   	1	244	315	982	
Additions  162 192 479   	813	597	584	
Disposals (77 104 993)  	(533	290	363)
Realised	gains	on	sale	of	investments  (35 415 002)  	(240	295	685)
Impairment	of	investments	 (4 383 909)  (9	145	769)
Fair	value	movement	in	investments	  93 739 917   	168	385	693	

Closing balance   1 582 595 934   	1	443	567	442	

Investments	comprise	of	the	following:
Equities	–	local		 	545	282	574			 	494	329	089	
Equities	–	foreign	  235 511 417   	209	451	132	
Unit	trusts	–	local  327 696 462   	301	249	398	
Interest	bearing	bonds	–	local   344 013 207   	308	025	512	
Interest	bearing	bonds	–	foreign  -  11	171	479
Money	market	deposits	–	local	  118 661 956   	119	334	199	
Money	market	deposits	–	foreign	 11 430 318  6	633

Total available-for-sale investments   1 582 595 934   	1	443	567	442	
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The current receivables relating to these balances are shown in note 6. Non-current receivables are on repayment terms of 3 to 4 years 
and are interest bearing at the official interest rate as revised by SARS from time to time,with the exception of computer loans, which are 
interest free. All of the loan amounts are unsecured. The carring value of loans to employees does not differ significantly from fair value.

 
The effective interest rates were as follows: 

Accounts receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms with the exception of loans to employees.  Loans to 
employees bear interest at the rates as specified in note 4.

No inventory was written off during the year (2013: R126 850).  Jewellery held as inventory is on loan to the University and the amount of 
R922 627 is included in other payables (refer Note 12).

4		 non-current	receivaBles

6		 accounts	receivaBle	and	prepayMents

5.	 inventory

																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Loans	to	employees	–	other	 6 884		 7	621

Total 6 884  7	621

																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Prepayments		 7 045 108  5	064	760
Loans	to	employees	–	other	 10 234  9	474
Loans	to	employees	–	computers 10 443  164	279
VAT/PAYE	receivable	 3 753 014  3	371	573
National	Student	Financial	Aid	Scheme	(NSFAS)	 8 558 432  113	565	720
Other	government	receivables	 9 746 825  14	399	088
Other	receivables	 7 476 310  10	540	089
Trade	receivables	 28 901 504  13	587	992
Less:	Provision	for	doubtful	debts	–	trade	receivables	  (11 983 471)  (6	822	946)

 53 518 399  	153	880	029	

																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Consumables		 5 948 841		 5	715	442
Jewellery		 1 077 569		 1	101	425
Food	&	beverage		 134 210		 97	925

Total	 6 710 620  6	914	792

Loans	to	employees	–	car	scheme		 6.75% 6.0%
Loans	to	employees	–	other	 6.75%  6.0%
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	 age	analysis	of	accounts	receivaBle

	 age	analysis	of	student	fees	receivaBle

																	 CURRENT	 30	DAYS	 60	DAYS	 90	DAYS+		 TOTAL	
	 R		 R	 R	 R	 R

2014  18 690 178   -  186 310  23 843 789  42 720 277
2013		 	131	793	518			 3	114		 44	342		 13	602	722		 145	443	696

																	 CURRENT	YEAR	 PRIOR	YEAR	 OLDER	YEARS	 TOTAL	
	 R		 R	 R	 R

31 December 2014  108 212 626    68 878 839   165 562 268  342 653 733
31	December	2013 	95	042	908			 	55	558	339			 145	535	041		 296	136	288	

The age analysis below is based on the balances per Note 6, but excluding prepayments and VAT/PAYE receivable. The age analysis is 
based on the date of invoice or the date the receivable was raised in the accounts depending on the nature of the transaction, such as 
claims from government.  Any balances older than 30 days are considered past due but not impaired, except for balances to the value of 
R11 983 471 (2013: R6 822 946) which had been provided for at year-end. 

The table below provides the age analysis of student fees receivable (before provisions) as at 31 December 2014. Due to the nature of  its 
operations, the University only tracks outstanding fees on an academic year basis. All outstanding balances are past due.

Movements in the provision for impairment of accounts receivable were as follows:	 Collectively		 	
	 Impaired
	 R

At	31	December	2012		 (5	107	846)
Charged	 	(2	232	016)
Utilised	 	516	916
At	31	December	2013		 (6	822	946)
Charged	 	(5	477	846)
Utilised		 317	321

At 31 December 2014  (11 983 471)

Annual fees fall due and are payable in monthly installments from February to November at a rate of 10% of the fees. Semester fees 
fall due and are payable in monthly installments at a rate of 20% of the fees from February to June for first semester and from July to 
November for second semester students respectively.  Any amounts outstanding in respect of annual and semester fees after these dates 
are subject to interest at prime plus 3% as and when a monthly instalment is past due.      
   
The debtors book of the University is subject to collective impairment with the exception of R116 404 463 (2013: R84 418 888) which is 
past due by less than one year but not impaired. This relates to student fees from currently registered students which are considered fully 
receivable.

7		 student	fees	receivaBle																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Student	debtors	    342 653 733  		 	296	136	288	
Less:	Provision	for	doubtful	debts		  (226 249 270)		 	(211	717	400)

Closing balances	 116 404 463  84	418	888
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Movements in the provision for impairment of student fees receivable were as follows:

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates, whilst short-term deposits earn interest at a fixed rate.  
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is R149 403 083 (2013: R114 030 254).  The University has a R40 million borrowing facility in 
respect of which all conditions precedent had been met at year end.  At 31 December 2014 the University had not drawn on its borrowing 
facilities (2013: Nil). 

The University held R70 000 000 (2013: R40 000 000) in short term bank deposits at year end. The effective interest rate of all short-term 
deposits held throughout the period was 6,25% (2013: 5.25%).        
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following:

8	 cash	and	cash	equivalents

9	 	interest-Bearing	Borrowings

																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Cash	at	bank	and	on	hand		 79 403 083  74	030	254
Short-term	deposits		 70 000 000  40	000	000

Total	  149 403 083   	114	030	254	

																	
	 R		 R

Current  29 120 501  23	119	105
State	loans	  381 877  346	262
Finance	leases  1 129 770  -
Financial	institution	loans	 *  27 608 854  22	772	843

Non-current    352 595 521   	229	863	421	
State	loans	  2 553 175  2	935	052
Finance	leases	   132 969 997   	134	156	633		
Financial	institution	loans	 *   217 072 349   92	771	736

   381 716 022   	252	982	526	

Cash	and	bank	balances  79 403 083  74	030	254
Short-term	deposits 70 000 000  40	000	000
 
Total  149 403 083   	114	030	254	

state	subsidised	loans	
these	loans	all	have	fixed	interest	rates	ranging	from	9,50%	to	13,22%	and	varying	repayment	terms.	they	are	unsecured	and
subsidised	to	the	extent	of	85%	for	both	interest	and	capital	repayments.

	 Collectively		 	
	 Impaired
	 R

At	31	December	2012		 	212	400	000	
Charged		 38	138	337
Utilised	 (38	820	937)
At	31	December	2013		 	211	717	400	
Charged		 42	466	708
Utilised		 	(27	934	838)

At 31 December 2014   226 249 270 

7		 student	fees	receivaBle	(continued)
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finance	leases

The University commenced a 15 year lease to own arrangement in respect of the Caledon Street residence in February 2011 (refer Note 
2). The lease is treated as a finance lease and the liability is valued based on the present value of future lease payments which have been 
discounted using an interest rate of 9,5%. Contingent rental to the value of R12 701 614 was expensed through surplus/(loss) in the 
period.
   
At the commencement of the lease, a liabilty of R128 912 748 was raised and for accounting purposes interest will accrue on the balance 
at 9,5% over the life of the lease. As at 31 December 2014, the lease liability is R134 099 767 (2013: R134 156 633) and the interest 
charged in respect of the liabilty in 2014 is R12 644 748 (2013: R12 610 119).      
           
The leased premises shall be used as a student residence, provided that such use does not contravene any town planning conditions 
applicable in respect of the property and for no other purpose without the prior consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed.

financial	institutions	loans

standard	Bank
This loan was terminated and fully repaid by 30 September 2014. The outstanding balance at 31 December 2014 is hence nil   
(2013: R5 905 254). The loan bore interest at 2,564% below the Prime lending rate.

development	Bank	of	southern	africa
A loan facility of R150 000 000 was agreed with the Development Bank of Southern Africa during 2009 and as at 31 December 2014 the 
balance outstanding on the facility was R92 771 736 (2013: R109 639 325).  The loan bears interest at a variable rate based on the  
6 month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,75%.  The loan is for a 10 year period and payments are made twice a year at the end of March 
and September.  The first two payments in 2010 were in respect of interest and thereafter there will be 18 equal payments including 
interest and capital.  The University has pledged certain investments as security against this loan facility refer to Note 3.

first	national	Bank            
A commercial property finance loan of R150 000 000 in respect of Cape Suites was registered at the Deeds Office on 28 October 2014. 
The mortgage bond is for a 10 year period and semi-annual payments of R10 721 974 is due on 1 May and 1 November each year. 
The bond bears interest at prime rate less 1,9% compounded monthly. The Cape Suites residence is pledged as security against this 
mortgage bond. 

* Market data was not available for the determination of the credit rating for these loans. Flexing of the credit spread was performed to  
determine whether a change in interest rate would have a material effect on the financial statements. It was determined that a decrease 
of 100 basis points would result in the fair value being lower than the carrying value by R12 034 785 (2013: R2 088 429).

	 finance	lease	liaBilities	-	MiniMuM	lease	payMents	:

9	 	interest-Bearing	Borrowings	(continued)

	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Not	later	than	1	Year  13 715 468  12	701	614
Later	than	1	Year	and	not	later	than	5	years  66 723 008  61	789	010
After	5	years	 152 687 704  171	337	170
 233 126 180  245	827	794 

Future	finance	charges	on	finance	leases  (99 026 413)  (111	671	161)

Present	value	of	finance	lease	liabilities  134 099 767 134	156	633

The present value of finance lease liabilities may be analysed as follows:
Not	later	than	1	Year		 1 129 770	 	-
Later	than	1	Year	and	not	later	than	5	years		 19 443 157  13	019	603
After	5	years		 113 526 840  121	137	030

 134 099 767  134	156	633
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At the end of December 2011, the University raised a provision of R14 million in respect of four specific lease terminations. During 2012, 
R5 million relating to three of the four were settled against this amount, leaving a remaining balance of R9 million.  Additional costs of  
R10 686 657 over and above the provision of R9 million raised were incurred when settlement was reached.  No further provisions have 
been raised during 2014.

10	 provisions

11	 Other	emplOyee	benefits

11.1	 employee	leave	liability

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual accumulative leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
reporting date. As the University does not have the unconditional right to defer settlement of this liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date, the liability is classified as being current.

11.2		post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation

The University operates defined benefit medical aid schemes for the benefit of permanent employees. Prior to the formation of the 
merged institution both former Technikons had separate contractual obligations to provide post retirement medical benefits to qualifying 
employees. The obligation in respect of the former Peninsula Technikon is funded by a plan asset whereas the obligation in respect of the 
former Cape Technikon is unfunded. Both obligations are actuarially valued and accounted for separately as the University does not have 
the legal right to offset the plan assets in respect of the former Peninsula Technikon scheme against the liabilities that arise on the former 
Cape Technikon scheme. 

An explanation of each individual scheme and a reconciliation of the movement in the obligation in the scheme is set out separately below.  

former	peninsula	technikon	scheme
In terms of employment contracts, post-retirement medical benefits are provided to certain employees who commenced employment at 
the former Peninsula Technikon prior to 1 January 1999 by subsidising the medical aid contributions of retired employees.

The University’s future obligation in respect of this post-retirement medical aid contributions is actuarially valued annually by independent, 
professional qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  The last valuation was performed as at 31 December 2014 and the 
principal actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were as follows:

former	peninsula	technikon	scheme    
With effect 1 May 2003, a group annuity policy was created, which meets the definition of a plan asset in terms of IAS19. The fair value of 
the plan asset at 31 December 2014 of R74 354 998 (2013: R70 626 722) has therefore been set off against the funding obligation. 
       

10.1	 leave

																	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year		 -		 9	000	000
Provision	–	termination	of	leases		 -		 10	686	657
Amounts	utilised		 -	 (19	686	657)

Other provisions – balance at the end of the year		 -	 -

Discount	rate		 8.09%		 8.23%
Return	on	plan	assets		 8.09%		 8.23%
Medical	inflation		 7.09%		 7.10%
Retirement	age		 63  		 63
%	married	on	retirement		 90% 	 90%
Mortality	–	active	(rated	down	3	years	for	females)		 SA 85-90		 SA	85-90
Mortality	–	pension	(rated	down	2	years)		 PA(90)		 PA(90)

Leave	provision	–	balance	at	the	beginning	of	the	year		 72 341 563		 73	128	580
Additional	provisions		 11 739 704		 12	030	062
Amounts	utilised		 (12 880 497) 	 (12	817	079)

Leave provision – balance at the end of the year 71 200 770		 72	341	563

2014	 2013
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	 MoveMent	in	net	post-retireMent	Medical	oBligation

	 plan	assets
Assets are invested with AIG which has been set aside to fund the University’s post-employment health care liability. This plan asset consists 
of cash and equity investments held in the following proportions at the valuation date:  

																	 Post-retirement	medical	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 Net	Post-retirement	medical
	 obligation		 	 obligation
	 R		 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
	 2014	 2013		 2014	 	2013		 2014		 2013
	 	 	 	

Balance	at	1	January  108 156 572  107 018 482  (70 626 722)  (69 679 378)  37 529 850  37 339 104
Included	in	profit	and	loss
Current	service	costs  1 182 497  1	414	330  -  -  1 182 497  1	414	330
Interest	cost/(income)  8 743 950  7	528	153  (5 654 889)  (5 168 112)  3 089 061 	 2	360	041
 9 926 447  8	942	483	 (5 654 889)  (5 168 112)  4 271 558 	 3	774	371

Remeasurements loss/(gain):
-	Actuarial	loss/(gain)	arising	from:
•	 Basis	changes:	(increase)/
	 decrease	in	net	discount	rate		 1 771 535  (7	905	223)  -  -  1 771 535  (7	905	223)
•	 Medical	inflation	higher
		 than	assumed	 3 900 829		 5	617	648		 -		 -		 3	900	829		 5	617	648
•	 Changes	to	membership
	 profile	different	from	assumed (5 617 248) (2	256	250)	 -  -  (5 617 248)  (2	256	250)
•	 Change	to	use	accurate	spousal	ages	 (93 431) 	-  -  -  ( 93 431)  -
•	 Actuarial	(loss)/gain	plan
	 assets	excluding	interest	income	  -  -  (1 998 814)  960	200  (1 998 814)  960	200
	 	 (38 315)  (4	543	825)  (1 998 814)  960	200  (2 037 129) 	(3	583	625)

Other
Contributions	paid	by	the	employer		  -		 	-		  -		 	-		  -		 -	
Benefits	paid		 (3 925 428) 	 (3	260	568)  3 925 428  3	260	568  -  -
  (3 925 428) 	(3	260	568) 3 925 428  3	260	568  -  -

Balance at 31 December 114 119 276 108	156	572 (74 354 997)	 (70	626	722) 39 764 279  37	529	850

Represented by:
Net	Post	retirement-medical	obligation:	Former	Peninsula	Technikon     39 764 279  37	529	850

included	in	other	comprehensive	income	(oci)

																 2014	 2013	
	 R	 R

Equities
-	Argon		 29 728 922		 26	420	490
Cash
-	AIG		 44 626 075		 44	206	232

Total assets	 74 354 997		 70	626	722

11.2		post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	(continued)
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	 sensitivity	analysis

2014		 1%	increase		 Valuation	basis		 1%	decrease
	 R	 R	 R

1% increase and decrease in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation on the liability  128 900 000  114 119 276  101 706 000
1% increase and decrease in the discount rate  101 445 000  114 119 276  129 503 000
1% increase and decrease in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation on Employer’s
service and interest cost 11 341 600 9 926 447 8 749 500

One year age reduction in the assumed rates of post-retirement mortality  118 480 000  114 119 276    - 
One year decrease in the assumed average retirement age  116 180 000  114 119 276  -
An absolute reduction of 10% in the continuation rates at retirement  108 460 000  114 119 276  -

2013
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	assumed	rate	of	health	care	cost	inflation	on	the	liability		 122	412	000		 108	156	572		 96	194	000
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	assumed	rate	of	health	care	cost	inflation	on	Employer’s	 95	964	000	 108	156	572	 122	965	000
service	and	interest	cost	 10	374	200		 8	942	483		 	7	769	000	

One	year	age	reduction	in	the	assumed	rates	of	post-retirement	mortality		 112	202	000		 108	156	572		 -
One	year	decrease	in	the	assumed	average	retirement	age		 110	498	000		 108	156	572			 -
An	absolute	reduction	of	10%	in	the	continuation	rates	at	retirement		 102	469	000		 108	156	572		 	-

Therefore,	a	1%	increase	in	the	health	care	cost	inflation	assumption	would	result	in	a	13,0%	(2013:13,2%)	increase	in	the	accrued	liability.
Similarly,	a	1%	decrease	in	the	health	care	cost	inflation	assumption	would	result	in	a	10,9%	(2013:11,1%)	decrease	in	the	accrued	liability.

Contributions	to	the	plan	for	2015	are	expected	to	amount	to	R4	439	556.

forMer	cape	technikon	scheMe	
The former Cape Technikon operated a post-retirement medical benefit scheme for retired and certain employees who joined the institution 
prior to 1 January 2003. 
      
The University’s future obligation in respect of this post-retirement medical aid contributions is actuarially valued annually by independent, 
professional qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  The last valuation was performed as at 31 December 2014 and the 
principal actuarial assumptions used in the valuations were as follows: 

																 2014	 2013

Discount	rate		 8.21%		 8.33%
Medical	inflation		 7.21%		 7.22%
Retirement	age		 64		 64
%	married	on	retirement		 90%	 	90%
Mortality	–	active	(rated	down	3	years	for	females)		 SA 85-90		 SA	85-90
Mortality	–	pension	(rated	down	2	years)		 PA(90)		 PA(90)

11.2		post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	(continued)
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	 MoveMent	in	net	post-retireMent	Medical	oBligation

																	 Post-retirement	medical	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 Net	Post-retirement	medical
	 obligation		 	 obligation
	 R		 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
	 2014		 2013		 2014	 	2013		 2014		 2013

Balance	at	1	January  323 309 970  322	396	020  -  - 323 309 970  322	396	020
Included	in	profit	and	loss
Current	service	costs  7 078 610  7	675	512  -  -  7 078 610  7	675	512
Interest	cost/	(income)  26 565 549  22	892	517  -  -	 26 565 549  22	892	517
 33 644 159  30	568	029	 -  -	 33 644 159  30	568	029

included	in	other	comprehensive	income	(oci)

	 sensitivity	analysis	 1%	increase		 Valuation	basis		 1%	decrease
	 R	 R	 R

2014	
1% increase and decrease in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation on the liability  418 524 000  359 784 101  311 944 000
1% increase and decrease in the discount rate  311 296 000  359 784 101  420 479 000
1% increase and decrease in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation on Employer’s
service and interest cost 39 790 000  33 644 159  28 708 000

One year age reduction in the assumed rates of post-retirement mortality  377 341 000  359 784 101  -
One year decrease in the assumed average retirement age  365 456 000  359 784 101  -
An absolute reduction of 10% in the continuation rates at retirement  341 075 000  359 784 101  -

2013
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	assumed	rate	of	health	care	cost	inflation	on	the	liability		 376	594	000		 323	309	970		 279	990	000
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	discount	rate	 279	457	000		 323	303	970		 378	287	000
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	assumed	rate	of	health	care	cost	inflation	on	Employer’s
service	and	interest	cost	 36	529	000		 30	568	029		 25	828	000

One	year	age	reduction	in	the	assumed	rates	of	post-retirement	mortality		 338	840	000		 323	303	970		 -
One	year	decrease	in	the	assumed	average	retirement	age		 328	454	000	 	323	303	970		 -
An	absolute	reduction	of	10%	in	the	continuation	rates	at	retirement		 306	710	000		 323	303	970		 -

Therefore,	a	1%	increase	in	the	health	care	cost	inflation	assumption	would	result	in	a	16,3%	(2013:16,5%)	increase	in	the	accrued	liability.
Similarly,	a	1%	decrease	in	the	health	care	cost	inflation	assumption	would	result	in	a	13,3%	(2013:13,4%)	decrease	in	the	accrued	liability.

Contributions	to	the	plan	for	2015	are	expected	to	amount	to	R10	760	184.

Remeasurements loss/(gain)
-	Actuarial	loss/	(gain)	arising	from:
•	 Basis	changes:	(increase)/
	 decrease	in	net	discount	rate		 6 261 002 	(25	990	653)	 -  -	 6 261 002  (25	990	653)
•	 Medical	inflation	higher
		 than	assumed		 8 811 716  7	613	219	 -  -  8 811 716  7	613	219
•	 Changes	to	membership
	 profile	different	from	assumed	 (1 610 923)  (3	131	501)  -  -  (1 610 923)  (3	131	501)
•	Change	to	use	accurate	spousal	ages	  (1 411 155)  -  - (1 411 155) -
	 	 12 050 640  (21	508	935)  -  -  12 050 640  (21	508	935)
Other
Contributions	paid	by	the	employer		  -		 	-		  -		 	-		  -		 -	
Benefits	paid		 (9 220 667)  (8	145	144)	 -  -  (9 220 667)  (8	145	144)
  (9 220 667)  (8	145	144)	 -  -  (9 220 667) 	(8	145	144)

Balance at 31 December 359 784 102  323	309	970	 -  -	 359 784 102  323	309	970

Represented by:
Net	Post-retirement	medical	obligation:	Former	Cape	Technikon     359 784 102  323	309	970

11.2		post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation	(continued)
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	 MoveMent	in	net	pension	fund	guarantee	liaBility

																	 Pension	Fund	Guarantee	obligation	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 Net	Pension	Fund	Guarantee
	 	 	 obligation	
	 R		 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
	 2014	 2013		 2014	 	2013		 2014		 2013

Balance	at	1	January  24 647 000  30	330	000  (4 545 000) 	 (3	855	000)	 20 102 000  26	475	000
Included	in	profit	and	loss
Current	service	costs  596 000  896	000  -  -  596 000 	 896	000
Interest	cost/	(income)  1 763 528  2	030	000	 (350 000) 	(251	000)  1 413 528  1	779	000

 2 359 528  2	926	000  (350 000)  (251	000)	 2 009 528  2	675	000

11.3	 pension	fund

11.3.1	 pension	fund	-	defined	contribution

Staff of the former Peninsula Technikon belong to the National Tertiary Retirement Fund (NTRF).  This is essentially a
defined contribution scheme, with certain pension guarantees (see 11.2.2).  
    
Staff of the former Cape Technikon belong to the Cape Peninsula University of Technology Retirement Fund (previously known as the 
Cape Technikon Retirement Fund). This is a defined contribution scheme.                      

The employer contributed an amount of R93 106 722 in the current year (2013: R84 536 260) in respect of both schemes. 

11.3.2	 pension	fund	obligation

Although the NTRF is essentially a defined contribution scheme a deficit was transferred to this fund from the original State pension 
fund in 1994 when existing members joined the NTRF.  Employees who were members of the original State fund will be paid out full 
benefits on retirement as if they had remained members of the State fund which was a defined benefit plan.  A guarantee exists with 
regard to any shortfall for the payments  to these members from Peninsula Technikon.  During 2003 Peninsula Technikon accepted 
to fund the cost when a member who is entitled to guaranteed retirement benefits retires and the value of the guaranteed retirement 
benefit is higher than the member’s fund credit. Any staff member who qualifies for the guarantee, and retires with a deficit, is 
now funded for on a pay-as-you-go basis. The actuarially calculated liability of the University in this regard at 31 December 2014 
amounted to R13 565 362 (2013: R20 102 000).

actuarial	assumptions

The	following	were	the	principal	actuarial	assumptions	at	the	reporting	date:		 2014		 2013

Discount	rate	per	annum		 7.64%		 7.70%
Salary	increase	per	annum	 6.48%		 7.10%
Expected	rate	of	return	on	assets		 7.64%		 7.70%
Pensions	increase	per	annum		 1.54%		 1.60%
Mortality	tables	–	active	staff	(rated	down	1	year	males	–	4	years	females)	 SA56-62		 SA56-62
Mortality	tables	–	pensioners	(rated	down	2	years)		 PA90		 PA90
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Remeasurements loss/(gain)
-	Actuarial	loss/(gain)	arising	from:
•	 Change	in	economic	assumptions	 1 360 973 	(2	614	000)  -  -  1 360 973 	 (2	614	000)
•	 Investment	returns	on	member
	 shares	 (3 787 538)  (7	378	000)  -  -  (3 787 538)  (7	378	000)
•	 Other	miscellaneous	items (3 882 385)  518	000  - 	-  (3 882 385) 	 518	000
•	 Salary	increases	 -  1	155	000  -  -  -  1	155	000
•	 Allocation	of	Employer	contributions	 -  (	290	000)  -  -  - 	(290	000)
•	 	Actuarial	(loss)/	gain	plan	assets
	 	excluding	 -		 -		 1 316 757		 (439	000)		 1 316 757	 	(439	000)

  (6 308 950)  (8	609	000)	 1 316 757  (439	000)	 (4 992 193) 	 (9	048	000)

Other
Contributions	paid	by	the	employer  (3 553 973) 	-  -  -  (3 553 973)  -	
Benefits	paid		 -  -  -  -  -  -

  (3 553 973)  -  - 	-  (3 553 973)  -

Balance at 31 December 17 143 605  24	647	000  (3 578 243) 	 (4	545	000)	 13 565 362  20	102	000

Represented by:
Net	Pension	Fund	Guarantee	Liability      13 565 362  20	102	000

included	in	other	comprehensive	income	(oci)

																	 Pension	Fund	Guarantee	obligation	 Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 Net	Pension	Fund	Guarantee
	 	 	 obligation	
	 R		 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
	 2014	 2013		 2014	 	2013		 2014		 2013

	 sensitivity	analysis	 1%	increase		 Valuation	basis		 1%	decrease
	 R	 R	 R

2014	
1% increase and decrease in the discount rate  13 903 000  17 143 605  20 884 000
1% increase and decrease in the inflation rate  20 257 000  17 143 605  14 458 000
Pension increase policy (70% CPI)  -  -  -
Expected retirement age (NRA 65)  14 266 000  17 143 605  -

2013
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	discount	rate		 11	710	000		 24	647	000		 43	138	000
1%	increase	and	decrease	in	the	inflation	rate	 29	588	000		 24	647	000		 20	373	000
Pension	increase	policy	(70%	CPI)		 64	332	000		 24	647	000		 -
Expected	retirement	age	(NRA	65)	 17	310	000		 24	647	000		 -

11.3.2	 pension	fund	obligation	(continued)
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12	 accounts	payaBle	and	accrued	liaBilities

13	 state	appropriations	–	suBsidies	and	grants

14	 interest	incoMe	and	dividends

Trade and other payables and accrued expenses are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

All state appropriations – subsidies and grants received by the University are accounted for as grants related to income. There are no 
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to the subsidies and grants that have been recognised above.

Refer to Note 17 for a reconcilation of payments received from the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) in respect of capital, 
infrastructure, teaching and development as well as clinical training grants and the timing of how these amounts are recognised as income.

																 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Trade	payables	and	accrued	expenses		 89 037 286  112	335	705
Student	creditors	and	deposits		 43 117 482  46	909	366
Other	payables		 3 081 304  2	210	262
Operating	lease	accrual	–	residences		 225 503  678	569

Total	 135 461 575  162	133	902

														

Subsidy	for	general	purpose		 872 294 000  832	101	000
DHET	infrastructure	grant	recognised	 7 020 000  6	416	000
DHET	capital	grant	recognised	 180 000		 180	000
Multi	campus	grant	 10 368 000  12	960	000
Foundation	programme	grant		 20 048 000  16	936	000
Clinical	training	grant		 10 742 976  735	809
Teaching	development	grant	 9 320 423  2	485	746
Research	development	grant	 12 821 000  9	606	659
Subsidy	for	interest	and	redemption	on	state	guaranteed	loans		 575 442  626	422
Other		 4 692 900  6	714	734

Total  948 062 741  888	762	370

																

Bank	interest		 17 387 109  15	968	941
Interest	income	on	loans	and	receivables		 6 608 170 	5	331	599
Income	from	available-for-sale	investments
-	Dividends		 18 429 827  17	328	058
-	Interest		 36 979 423  28	552	911

Total  79 404 529  67	181	509
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15	 other	operating	expenses																 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

The following items have been included in other operating expenses:
Repairs	and	maintenance	–	land	and	buildings		 34 474 745  26	018	524
Repairs	and	maintenance	–	moveable	assets		 10 017 348  13	794	935
Software	licenses	and	consumables		 19 121 644  21	650	493
General	services	outsourced		 110 156 333  104	589	451
Catering	services	outsourced		 87 498  90	940
Fixed	property	rentals		 54 433 942  45	958	279
Equipment	rentals		 7 387 550  8	713	469
Bursaries		 115 828 992  117	062	666

Auditors’ remuneration		 7 079 595  1	124	010
Statutory	audit	of	Annual	Financial	Statements		 3 550 024  1	092	713
-	Current	year		 2 451 000  1	092	713
-	Prior	year	under	accrual		 1 099 024  -

Other audit services		 3 529 571  31	297
-	Current	year		 2 002 795  31	297
-	Prior	year	under	accrual		 1 526 776		 -

17	 deferred	incoMe
infrastructure	and	Merger	income     
The deferred income balance is comprised of R16 200 000 (2013: R16 380 000) which relates to funding received from the Department of 
Higher Education and Training (DHET)  in respect of Merger cost claims for the period 2004-2007, as well as R124 650 000 (2013: R127 
600 000) in respect of Phase 1 and R167 564 000 (2013: R167 634 000) in respect of Phase 2 of the DHET’s Infrastructure programme.
     
The DHET approved a capital infrastructure grant of R153 million for CPUT in Phase 1 of its capital infrastructure programme. The first 
tranche of R30 million was received in March 2007, whilst the second and third tranches of R48 and R75 million respectively were received 
in March and November 2008. In addition, the DHET has approved a further R175,9 million for CPUT in Phase 2 of the infrastructure 
programme. The first tranche of R32,7 million was received in December 2010, whilst the second and third tranches of R34,4 and R20,0  
million respectively were received in January and February 2011 and the balance of R88,8 million in January 2012. 
 
In December 2012, DHET approved a further R388,8 million for Phase 3 of CPUT’s infrastructure programme of which R150 million of 
the funding must be provided by CPUT. The first tranche of R79,616 million was received in January 2013, whilst the second and third 
tranches of R79,615 and R79,616 million respectively were received in March and September 2014.    
teaching	development	grant     
The deferred income balance comprises of R11 987 037 (2013: R15 308 860) which relates to funding from DHET. The aim of these funds 
is to provide financial support to improve the graduation rate and therefore increase the annual student success rate.  The allocation for 
2014 was R7 063 600 (2013: R12 919 000).    
clinical	training	grant     
The deferred income balance comprises of R7 407 752 (2013: R6 315 728) which relates to funding from DHET. The aim of these 
funds is to provide clinical training to health professionals. The allocation of R7 005 800 and allocations of R3 470 000 and R3 678 000 
respectively were received in June 2011 and January 2012.

16	 finance	costs																

-	state	loans		 330 729  365	539
-	finance	leases		 12 644 748  12	610	119
-	financial	institution	loans		 11 222 376  10	125	652
-	bank	borrowings	and	other		 4 338 726  5	669

Total	 28 536 579  23	106	979

17.1	 government	grants	released	to	income	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Income	recognised	–	capital	items	(linked	to	depreciation	charge)		 7 200 000  6	596	000
	
Total	 7 200 000  6	596	000
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17.2	 government	grants	–	infrastructure	and	merger	cost	claims:																 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Opening	balance	–	deferred	income	 391 230 000	 	318	210	000
Amount	raised	–	infrastructure	grant	received		 159 231 000  79	616	000
Released	to	income		 (7 200 000)  (6	596	000)

Closing balance – Infrastructure and Merger cost claims  543 261 000  391	230	000

17.3	 government	grants	-	teaching	development	grant:

Opening	balance		 15 308 860  4	875	606
Amount	raised	–	grant	received		 5 998 600  12	919	000
Released	to	income		 (9 320 423)  (2	485	746)

Closing balance – Teaching development grant  11 987 037  15	308	860

17.4	 government	grants	-	clinical	training	grant:

Opening	balance		 6 315 728  7	051	537
Amount	raised	–	grant	received		 11 832 000  -
Released	to	income	  (10 742 976)  (	735	809)

Closing balance – Clinical training grant		 7 404 752  6	315	728

Current	balance		 9 150 000  7	130	000
Non-current	balance		 553 502 789  405	724	588
	
Total – Deferred Income	 562 652 789  412	854	588

18	 personnel	costs

	 Academic	Professional	 Other	Personnel	 Total
	 R		 R		 R
Year	ended	31	December	2013
Wages	and	salaries		 433	367	454		 401	296	010		 834	663	464
Movement	in	pension	fund	obligation		 1	391	000		 1	284	000		 2	675	000
Movement	in	leave	pay	provision		 8	661	644		 3	368	418		 12	030	062
Retirement	fund	–	defined	contribution		 48	185	668		 36	350	592	 	84	536	260
Movement	in	post-retirement	medical	aid	obligation		 17	859	608		 16	482	792		 34	342	400

Total	Personnel	costs		 509	465	374		 458	781	812		 968	247	186

	 Academic Professional Other Personnel Total
 R  R  R
Year ended 31 December 2014
Wages and salaries  461 133 128  461 661 086  922 794 214
Movement in pension fund obligation  1 044 955  964 573  2 009 528
Movement in leave pay provision  8 452 587  3 287 117  11 739 704
Retirement fund – defined contribution  53 070 830  40 035 889  93 106 719
Movement in post-retirement medical aid obligation  18 578 700  19 337 017  37 915 717

Total Personnel costs  542 280 200  525 285 682  1 067 565 882

Average number of persons employed during the year		 2014		 2013
Full	time		 	 2 618		 2	277
Part-time	 	  1 180		 1	059

Total   3 798		 3	336

17	 deferred	incoMe	(continued)



CAPE PENINSULA UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY 83

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2014

19						financial	risk	ManageMent	oBJectives	and	policies
      
 The University’s principal financial instruments comprise investments, accounts receivable, student fees receivable, staff loans, cash 

and short-term deposits, interest bearing borrowings, accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

 The University manages a substantial portfolio of investments with a long term view to growing the portfolio in order to provide financial 
stability and support for new initiatives for the University.

 The main purpose of the interest bearing loans and borrowings is to raise finance for the University’s operations. The University has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts and student fees receivable and accounts payable, which arise directly 
from its operations.

 The main risks arising from the University’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  Council, through its 
Finance Committee reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Market	risk

The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk 
comprises three types of risk: price, currency and interest rate risks. The University’s exposure to market risk relates primarily to its 
investments and loans.

 The University’s investments are managed by selected portfolio managers who operate under defined mandates, which are designed to 
limit the exposure of the University. The investment decisions made and performances of these managers are closely monitored by the 
Finance Committee. This Committee comprises members of the University’s Council and executive management members with specific 
expertise relating to investments.

interest	rate	risk
           
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
The University’s interest-bearing borrowings are a combination of fixed and floating rates of interest.  The University has a number of 
receivables (ie student fees and loans to employees) where interest rates charged are linked to the prime rate.  

The total fixed rate financial instruments amount to R2 935 052 (2013: R3 281 314) and the variable rate financial instruments amount 
to R2 227 191 334 (2013: R1 891 725 417). 
       
The University holds a substantial amount of interest bearing investments and interest earning bank deposits.  Interest risks relating to 
the University’s investments are managed by selected portfolio managers. 
    
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the University’s financial assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate risk to a 
reasonable change in market values, with all other variables constant. The effect of these are considered on a net basis.

price	risk
The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than 
those arising from interest rate and currency risks). The University is exposed to price risk in respect of its investment portfolio. The 
University manages this risk through investing in a wide variety of assets.

interest	rate	change	(Bp)
																 Impact	of	interest	rate	changes	on	Net	surplus	and	Accumulated	funds

 +200 BP  +100 BP  -100 BP  -200 BP

	 R	 R	 R	 R	
At 31 December 2014

Net	financial	assets		 (5 758 609)  (2 879 305)  2 879 305  5 758 609
At	31	December	2013	

Net	financial	assets	 (3 512 945)  (1 756 472)  1 756 472  3 512 945
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foreign	currency	risk
The University is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that it has accounts receivable and payable balances denominatedin 
foreign currencies. The amount of such balances is negligible at year-end.

credit	risk
The risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 
         
The University trades only with recognised, credit worthy third parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the University’s exposure to bad debts, with the exception of student fee receivables is not significant, and 
there is no significant concentration of credit risk at year end.  The maximum exposure is the carrying amount reflected in Notes 4,6 
and 7 (excluding prepayments).          
          
With respect to student fee receivables the University has policies with respect to not allowing students with outstanding balances to 
either graduate or to register for the new financial year. However, Council allows academically performing students certain leeway via 
financial appeals process. All credit risks associated with student receivables is adequately provided for.  The outstanding fees balance 
at year end is as follows amongst the student body:     

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the University, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-
for-sale financial assets, the University’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments.  The University only places cash and cash deposits with major financial institutions with 
good credit ratings. 
       
The University considers financial assets which are neither past due nor impaired to be fully recoverable. 

Market	variance																 Impact	of	these	variances	on	Funds	Employed

 +10%  +5%  -5%  -10%

At 31 December 2014	 R	 R	 R	 R	

Equities	–	local		 54 528 257  27 264 129  (27 264 129)  (54 528 257)
Equities	–	foreign		 23 551 142  11 775 571  (11 775 571)  (23 551 142)
Unit	trusts	–	local		 32 769 646  16 384 823  (16 384 823)  (32 769 646)
Interest	bearing	bonds	–	local		 34 401 321  17 200 660  (17 200 660)  (34 401 321)

At	31	December	2013
Equities	–	local		 49	432	909		 24	716	454		 (24	716	454)		 (49	432	909)
Equities	–	foreign		 20	945	113		 10	472	557	 	(10	472	557)		 (20	945	113)
Unit	trusts	–	local		 30	124	940		 15	062	470		 (15	062	470)		 (30	124	940)
Interest	bearing	bonds	–	local		 30	802	551		 15	401	276	 	(15	401	276)		 (30	802	551)
Interest	bearing	bonds	–	foreign		 1	117	148		 558	574		 (558	574)		 (1	117	148)

	 	
	 	 R	 	 R
Range	of	Balances	 Number	of	Students	 Outstanding	 Number	of	Students		 Outstanding
	 	 balance	at	 	 balance	at
	 	 31	December	 	 31	December	

Up	to	R10	000		 24 035 	 93 968 491		 31	938		 115	185	066
R10	001	to	R30	000		 10 498		 135 663 185		 10	167		 102	149	768
R30	001	to	R50	000		 2 178	 81 850 271		 1	644		 60	300	428
>R50	000		 496		 31 171 786		 292		 18	501	026

	 37 207		 342 653 733		 44	041		 296	136	288

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the University’s financial assets that are subject to price risk to a reasonable change 
in market values, with all other variables constant.

2014 2013
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The University uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either (i.e. as prices) or
 indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

	 Level		1		 Level	2		 Level	3		 Total
	 R	 R	 R	 R	

As at 31 December 2014
Financial assets

Available-for-sale investments 1 582 595 934  -  -  1 582 595 934

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings -  -  3 747 345  3 747 345

Total  1 582 595 934  -  3 747 345  1 586 343 279

As	at	31	December	2013
Financial	assets

Available-for-sale	investments		 1	443	567	442	 	-	 	-		 1	443	567	442

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing	borrowings	 -		 -		 4	232	751		 4	232	751

Total 	 1	443	567	442		 -		 4	232	751		 1	447	800	193

fair	values            
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the University’s financial instruments.

The fair value of interest bearing borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing market 
interest rates. It should be noted that the fair value of fixed rate borrowings is impacted by the fact that these loans are subsidised by 
the State (refer note 9). 
        
The fair value of short-term financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying values.    

The fair value of investments is based on quoted bid-market prices at the statement of financial position date.   

The following table below reflects the fair values of financial instruments, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not 
include fair value information for financial instruments not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of 
the fair value.

19						financial	risk	ManageMent	oBJectives	and	policies	(continued)

	 Carrying	 Fair	 Carrying	 Fair
	 Value	amounts		 Value	amounts		 Value	amounts		 Value	amounts
	 2014		 2014		 2013		 2013
	 R	 R	 R	 R	

Financial assets
Available-for-sale	investments	 1 582 595 934  1 582 595 934  1	443	567	442 	 1	443	567	442
Non-current	receivables	–	loans	to	employees	 6 884  6 884  7	621 	 7	621
Accounts	receivable	(excluding	prepayments,	Vat	receivable)		 42 720 277  42 720 277  145	610	832		 145	610	832
Student	fees	receivable		 116 404 463  116 404 463  84	418	888		 84	418	888
Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 149 403 083  149 403 083  114	030	254		 114	030	2543

Financial liabilities
Interest	bearing	borrowings:		 381 716 022  382 528 315  252	982	526		 253	933	963
-	Fixed	rate	borrowings		 2 935 052  3 747 345  3	281	314		 4	232	751
-	Floating	rate	borrowings		 378 780 970  378 780 970 	 249	701	212		 249	701	212
Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	(excluding	operating	lease	accrual)	 135 236 072  135 236 072 	 161	455	333		 161	455	333
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liquidity	risk
The risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The timing and nature of the 
University’s cash inflows and outflows are such that liquidity problems are unlikely to arise. The cashflow position is monitored by 
management daily and the University has access to funds through either its holding of short-term bank deposits or the investments 
portfolio in the event that any unforeseen events occur.

capital	Management
The institution’s policy is to sustain a healthy accumulated fund balance in order to maintain donor, creditor and public confidence as 
well as sustain future development of the institution.

Specifically restricted funds are managed within the rules as agreed with the relevant funders.  Management monitors the return on 
accumulated funds. There are no externally imposed requirements for the management of the accumulated funds.

The institution monitors accumulated funds using a ratio of adjusted net debt to accumulated funds. For this purpose net debt is defined 
as total liabilities, comprising interest-bearing loans, borrowings and obligations under finance leases less cash and cash equivalents.

The institution’s objective is to keep the ratio below 2.00.  The institution’s adjusted net debt to accumulated funds ratio at                  
31 December was as follows:

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the University’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

19						financial	risk	ManageMent	oBJectives	and	policies	(continued)

Year	ended	31	December	2014
	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
Financial liabilities On demand Less than 3 - 12 1 - 5 More than TOTAL
  3 months months years 5 years
  

Interest-bearing borrowings  -  15 864 460  44 627 741  196 132 327  311 602 853  568 227 381

Trade payables and accrued expenses  -  89 037 286  -  -  -  89 037 286

Other payables and accrued liabilities  43 117 482  3 081 304  -  -  -  46 198 786

Total   43 117 482  107 983 050 44 627 741 196 132 327  311 602 853  703 463 453

Year	ended	31	December	2013
	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
Financial	liabilities	 On	demand	 Less	than	 3	-	12	 1	-	5	 More	than	 TOTAL
	 	 3	months	 months	 years	 5	years
	 	

Interest-bearing	borrowings		 -		 17	846	080		 26	673	032		 150	367	277	 	217	579	964		 412	466	353

Trade	payables	and	accrued	expenses		 -		 112	335	705	 	-		 -	 	-		 112	335	705

Other	payables	and	accrued	liabilities		 46	909	366		 2	210	262		 -	 	-		 -	 	49	119	628

Total		 46	909	366		 132	392	047		 26	673	032		 150	367	277		 217	579	964		 573	921	686

	 	 2014		 	 2013
	
Total	liabilities	 	 1 564 144 899	 	 1	281	254	400
Less:	Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 	 (149 403 083)		 	 (	114	030	254)
Net	debt		 	 1 414 741 816		 	 1	167	224	146

Accumulated Funds	  2 000 216 194		 	 1	785	487	799

Net debt to accumulated funds ratio	 	 0 ,71		 	 0,65

TYPE
	
Long-term	borrowings:	fixed	interest	rate

VALUATION	TECHNIqUE
	
Discounted	cash	flows:	The	valuation	model	
considers	the	present	value	of	expected	payments,	
discounted	using	a	risk	adjusted	discount	rate.	The	
expected	payment	is	determined	by	considering	
the	possible	scenarios	of	forecast	(prime	rate),	the	
amount	to	be	paid	under	each	scenario	and	the	
probability	of	each	scenario.	The	discounting	rate	
used	is	prime	less	2,5	%.

SIGNIFICANT	UNOBSERVABLE	INPUTS
	
The	interest	rates	used	to	calculate	cash	flows	
ranges	from	9,5%	to	13,22%.	The	discount	rate	
prime	less	2,5%	was	used	to	calculate	the
present	value	for	the	remaining	repayment	
periods.
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20	 contingent	assets,	liaBilities	and	financial	guarantees

catsville	residence	at	groote	schuur
The contingent asset in respect of the Catsville Residence was referred to arbitration and awards were made in favour of CPUT in respect of 
latent defect repairs. The directive stated that costs totaling R4 269 666 (incl. of VAT) be repaid to CPUT.  Payment of the outstanding balance 
and interest shall be effected by means of monthly payments of R100 000 with first payment commencing 1 July 2012. At reporting date, an 
amount of R1 169 666 (2013: R2 369 666) was still due to CPUT.

city	edge	residence
The University has a contingent liability relating to structural and other latent defects of the above residence. An assessment of the 
remediation costs of the latent defects were conducted by experts and CPUT’s department of Infrastructure, Development and Facilities 
Management.

CPUT’s Legal Services department met with their attorneys and instructed said attorneys to commence with the legal process against the 
developer to recover the damages.  A letter of demand for payment of R30 218 572 was issued on 28 April 2015.

The claim amount comprises the following:
- actual costs expended by CPUT on remedial and extraordinary maintenance during 2013, 2014 and 2015;
- reasonable costs of remedial work undertaken and currently in hand;
- estimated legal costs;
- a component which includes loss of income suffered by CPUT as a result of the non-availability of beds during 2014.

security	services	tender
On 25 October 2013 CPUT was served with a Notice of Motion to set aside the decisions taken by CPUT regarding the awarding of the 
above tender. The security companies were unsuccessful in their bids for the security services tender.

The application was set down in the High Court, Western Cape and judgement handed down on 8 September 2014 ordered that:
“	1.	The	application	to	review	and	set	aside	tender	CPUT	06/12	is	hereby	dismissed	with	costs;
	 2.	The	applicants	are	liable	to	pay	costs	of	the	Respondents	jointly	and	severally;
	 3.	The	payment	of	the	aforementioned	costs	shall	include	payment	associated	with	the	employment	of	two	counsel	by	each	Respondent.”

The applicants filed and served a notice for leave to appeal against the whole judgement and were granted leave to appeal to the full bench of 
the Western Cape Division in terms of the judgement handed down.

At balance sheet date it was not yet practicable to ascertain:
- an estimate of its financial effect;
- an indication of the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflow; and
- the possibility of any reimbursement.

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the University’s financial instruments which are exposed to interest rate risk with the 
following categories:

Year	ended	31	December	2014
	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
Financial instruments On demand Less than 3 - 12 1 - 5 More than TOTAL
  3 months months years 5 years
  

Cash, cash equivalents
and interest bearing bonds 262 480 314  (1 975 587)  15 394 858  153 545 359  132 438 571 561 883 515

Total 262 480 314  (1 975 587)  15 394 858  153 545 359  132 438 571 561 883 515

Year	ended	31	December	2013
	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R	 R
Financial	instruments	 On	demand	 Less	than	 3	-	12	 1	-	5	 More	than	 TOTAL
	 	 3	months	 months	 years	 5	years
	 	

Cash,	cash	equivalents
and	interest	bearing	bonds		 233	073	493		 21	526	517		 26	456	947		 143	709	766		 103	908	300		 528	675	023

Total		 233	073	493		 21	526	517		 26	456	947		 143	709	766		 103	908	300		 528	675	023

19						financial	risk	ManageMent	oBJectives	and	policies	(continued)
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financial	guarantees	
The University provides guarantees in respect of housing loans for University staff. These amounts are set out in the table below.

21	 coMMitMents

21.1	 capital	commitments
Capital commitments as listed below relates to amounts formally designated for the acquisition , construction and improvement of buiding 
projects.

It is intended that the University will fund these commitments from internal resources, investments and loans.

21.2	 operating	lease	commitments

The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Operating lease commitments relate to rental of buildings, photocopy and PABX equipment. The amounts disclosed above are the minimum 
lease payments. Escalation clauses are either based on CPIX or are between 6% and 8%. Whilst options to renew exist on some leases, no 
decision has been taken at balance sheet date in this regard.

The expenses reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of operating leases are as follows:

Amounts	allocated	for	capital	expenditure	at	reporting	date,	but	not	contracted		 174	733	551		 180	987	000
Expenditure	contracted	for	at	year	end,	but	not	yet	incurrred		 179	096	816		 335	596	361

 353 830 367  516	583	361

Equipment
Within	1	year		 9 884 904		 8	845	490
2	to	5	years		 3 001 154		 9	898	671
after	5	years	 -  - 
 

 12 886 058	 18	744	161

Property
Within	1	year		 4 289 717	 41	592	493
2	to	5	years		 -		 4	289	717
after	5	years	 -		 -	
	

	 4 289 717		 45	882	210

Equipment 7 387 550  8	713	469
Property 54 433 942 45	958	279

 
 61 821 492  54	671	748

	 2014		 2013
	
Housing	loan	guarantees:	University	Staff	 	864 366   882	157

	 	864 366   882	157

20	 contingent	assets,	liaBilities	and	financial	guarantees	(continued)
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All of the above remuneration amounts are in respect of short-term employee benefits in terms of IAS 24 except for:  
 

1.   Included in Basic Cost of Employment is an amount of  R2 716 600 (2013: R2 505 339) in respect of the 
      Employer’s Contribution to Retirement Funds and Group Life Schemes.
2.   These amounts are in respect of post retirement medical aid. Some members receive an allowance in respect of  Post Retirement 

Medical Aid Contributions, whilst for others the Institution provides for the liability and the contributions are paid over on retirement 
to the Medical Aid Schemes.

3.   Other payments represent relocation costs to Dr AP Nevhutalu.
• Note 1: Vice-Chancellor, Prof LV Mazwi-Tanga retired at 31 December 2013. 
• Note 2: Vice-Chancellor, Dr AP Nevhutalu assumed full duties on 1 January 2014. He was previously employed in the position 

of Vice-Chancellor Designate from 1 October 2013 to 31 December 2013.
• Note 3: DVC: Operations, Mr JR Bhana resigned 31 January 2013.
• Note 4: DVC: Knowledge, Information and Technology, Prof LCH Fourie assumed duty on 1 June 2014.
• Note 5: Acting Executive Director: Finance, Dr D Tromp assumed duty on 13 July 2014 during Mr V van der Linde’s leave of 

absence.
• Note 6: Chief Director: Infrastructure and Facilities Management, Mr S Mpambane resigned effective 25 September 2014.
• Note 7: Acting Chief Director: Infrastructure and Facilities Management, Mr J Critien assumed duty on 1 October 2014.
• Note 8 : Acting Chief Director: Human Resources, Ms J Fish employed from 1 January 2013 to 31 January 2014.
• Note 9 : Executive Director: Human Resources, Mr MN Mabuza assumed duty from 1 January 2014.   

          
* Balances per the table are the remuneration received during the period as indicated.

22	 reMuneration	of	key	ManageMent

The following disclosure, as required by the Minister of Higher Education and Training, relates to compensation paid to members of the 
University’s executive management team. Remuneration employment to the University. Compensation paid for other services performed 
within the University is reflected separately.

gross	remuneration

Name Office held Basic cost of 
employment

1

Leave
Encashment

Post Retirement
Medical Aid

2

Total Primary
Services

Other

3

Total
Remuneration

2014

Total
Remuneration

2013

R R R R R R R

Mazwi-Tanga LV (Note 1) Vice-Chancellor	 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	3	411	785	

Nevhutalu AP (Note 2) Vice-Chancellor		 2	430	402	 	-			 	-			 	2	430	402	 	-			 	2	430	402	 699	277

Staak AP Deputy	Vice-Chancellor:	Academic 1	926	184	 	82	046	 	32	280	 	2	040	510	 	-			 	2	040	510	 	1	946	917

Bhana JR (Note 3) Deputy	Vice-Chancellor:	
Operations 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	-			 	231	994

Nhlapo NS           DVC:Research,Technology	
Innovation	&	Partnerships 1	901	465	 	-			 	-			 	1	901	465	 	-			 	1	901	465	 	1	857	192

Fourie LCH (Note 4) DVC:Knowledge,	Information	and	
Technology 1	052	148	 	-			 	-			 	1	052	148	 	-			 	1	052	148	 	-

Motale MC            Dean	of	Students 1	583	864	 	-			 	-			 	1	583	864	 	-			 	1	583	864	 	1	484	905

Van der Linde VW Executive	Director:	Finance 1	558	280	 	-			 	21	804	 	1	580	084	 	-			 	1	580	084	 	1	584	699

Tromp D ( Note 5) Acting	Executive	Director:	Finance 707	025	 	-			 	-			 	707	025	 	-			 	707	025	 -

Fatoki OS              Dean:	Applied	Sciences 1	314	193	 	-			 	-			 	1	314	193	 	-			 	1	314	193	 	1	230	521

Gihwala D Dean:	Health	and	Wellness	
Sciences 1	303	358	 	57	611	 	-			 	1	360	969	 	3	000	 	1	363	969	 	1	238	774

Cronje J                 Dean:	Informatics	and	Design 1	323	244	 	-			 	-			 	1	323	244	 	-			 	1	323	244	 	1	235	957

Mda TV                 Dean:	Education	and	Social	
Sciences 1	278	425	 	-			 	-			 	1	278	425	 	-			 	1	278	425	 	1	205	905

Mahomed N         Dean:	Engineering	 1	317	184	 	-			 	-			 	1	317	184	 	-			 	1	317	184	 	1	236	456

Binza MS               Dean:	Business	 1	293	365	 	-			 	-			 	1	293	365	 	-			 	1	293	365	 	1	210	531

Ntsababa NN Registrar		 1	565	777	 	-			 	-			 	1	565	777	 	-			 	1	565	777	 	1	479	420

Mpambane S (Note 6) Chief	Director:	Infrastructure	&	
Facilities	Management 968	056	 	-			 	-			 	968	056	 	-			 	968	056	 	1	231	915

Critien JWR (Note 7)
Acting	Chief	Director:	
Infrastructure	&	Facilities	
Management

328	938	 	-			 	-			 	328	938	 	-			 	328	938 -

Fish J (Note 8) Acting	Chief	Director:	Human	
Resources 223	463	 	-			 	-			 	223	463	 	-			 	223	463	 	800	269

Mabuza MN (Note 9) Executive	Director:	Human	
Resources 1	538	140	 	-			 	-			 	1	538	140	 	94	796	 	1	632	936	 	-

TOTAL	2014 23 613 511  139 657  54 084  23 807 252  97 796  23 905 048  22 086 517

TOTAL	2013 20	832	412	 	1	066	956	 	54	084	 	21	953	452	 	133	065	 	22	086	517	 	-
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	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

Short-term	employee	benefits		 21 282 370  18	764	403
Post-employee	pension	and	medical	benefits		 2 622 678  2	418	076

	 23 905 048  21	182	479

Termination	benefits		 -  904	038

Total	compensation	paid	to	key	management	personnel		 23 905 048  22	086	517

	 2014	 2013
	 R		 R

1. UAV – SysCo (Pty) Ltd 	
•			loan	owing	from		 118 000  118	000

2. DHET 	
•		loans	owing	(to)		 (2 935 052)  (3	281	314)
•		various	subsidies	and	grants	received		 943 369 841  882	047	636

Disclosure is made of the following lump sum payments in excess of R249 999 as required by the Minister: 

remuneration	of	council	Members	     
Reimbursement for travelling expenses and stipends of  R467 500 (2013: R379 250)  were paid to members of Council for attendance
at meetings of Council and its Sub-Committees. Council members receive a stipend of R1 500, Chairpersons of subcommittes R1 750,
and the Chairperson of Council R2 000 per meeting.         

       
The following table represents the disclosure required in terms of IAS 24 in respect of compensation of key management.

Loans to employees as per Note 4 & 6 include loans to key management of Nil (2013: R4 111).

23		 related	party	transactions

The related party relationships of the Cape Peninsula University of Technology in terms of IAS 24 are as follows:
- Key management personnel, which comprises members of both Council and the University executive management team (refer 

note 22).
- National Government (refer notes 13 and 17).
- UAV - SysCo (Pty)Ltd (100% held subsidiary of CPUT)

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of its Council (being drawn from public and private sector
organisations) it is likely that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of Council may have an interest, these
are conducted at arms length, and in accordance with the University’s procurement procedures.

During the current year the University did not purchase any goods and services from companies in which a Council 
member or senior management has a major interest.

The following are significant related party balances and transactions as listed below:

There are various terms and conditions in respect of subsidies and grants, and are available upon request.

24		 events	after	the	reporting	date
As at reporting date Management is not aware of any events which require an adjustment or disclosure in these financial statements.

22	 reMuneration	of	key	ManageMent	(continued)

Year Name Office Held Reason Amount
R

2014 - - - -

2013 LV	Mazwi-Tanga Vice-Chancellor Leave	payment	on	retirement			 904	038
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